

Mammalian pheromones – new opportunities for improved predator control in New Zealand

B. Kay Clapperton, Elaine C. Murphy and Hussam A. A. Razzaq

Cover: Stoat in boulders in the Tasman River bed, Mackenzie Basin. Photo: John Dowding. Science for Conservation is a scientific monograph series presenting research funded by New Zealand Department of Conservation (DOC). Manuscripts are internally and externally peer-reviewed; resulting publications are considered part of the formal international scientific literature. This report is available from the departmental website in pdf form. Titles are listed in our catalogue on the website, refer ${\tt www.doc.govt.nz}\ {\tt under}\ {\it Publications}, {\tt then}\ {\it Series}.$ © Copyright August 2017, New Zealand Department of Conservation ISSN 1177-9241 (web PDF) 978-1-98-851436-9 (web PDF) **ISBN** This report was prepared for publication by the Publishing Team; editing by Amanda Todd and layout by Lynette Clelland. Publication was approved by the Director, Threats Unit, Department of Conservation, Wellington, New Zealand.

Published by Publishing Team, Department of Conservation, PO Box 10420, The Terrace, Wellington 6143, New Zealand.

In the interest of forest conservation, we support paperless electronic publishing.

CONTENTS

Abs	tract		1
1.	Intro	oduction	2
	1.1	The potential roles of pheromones in New Zealand predator control	2
	1.2	Aim of this review	4
2.	Pheromone identification and function in mammalian predator species		5
	2.1	Mice	5
	2.2	Rats	7
	2.3	Rodent Major Urinary Proteins (MUPs)	9
	2.4	Cats	10
	2.5	Mustelids	11
	2.6	Possums (with reference to other marsupials)	13
3.	Odour perception and expression		
	3.1	How do animals perceive odours?	14
	3.2	Influence of the MHC	16
4.	Development of pheromone lures for predator control		
	4.1	Are pheromone-based lures likely to be effective in traps or baits?	17
	4.2	Can we find olfactory lures that will work across all rodent and/or mustelid pests?	18
	4.3	Could more effective lures be produced by combining volatiles with lipocalins/MUPs that are	
		resistant to heating and desiccation?	19
	4.4	Can rodent pheromones be used to attract predators as well as other rodents?	20
	4.5	Do rodent alarm pheromones have any potential as lures?	20
	4.6	Pheromones and live lures	20
	4.7	Commercialisation	21
5.	Additional applications		23
	5.1	Behaviour modifiers	23
	5.2	Monitoring of populations and incursions	24
	5.3	Mating disruption	24
	5.4	Pheromones and biological control	25
6.	Conclusions		26
7.	Acknowledgements		26
8.	Glossary		27
9.	References		27
Ann	endix 1		
		ent pheromones	48

Appendix 2	
Cat pheromones	52
Appendix 3	
Mustelid pheromones	52

Mammalian pheromones – new opportunities for improved predator control in New Zealand

B. Kay Clapperton¹, Elaine C. Murphy² and Hussam A. A. Razzaq³

- ¹ 56 Margaret Avenue, Havelock North 4130, New Zealand. Email: clapperton.lo@xtra.co.nz
- ² Department of Conservation, Private Bag 4715, Christchurch 8140, New Zealand.
- ³ The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Ltd (PFR), Canterbury Agriculture and Science Centre, Private Bag 4704, Christchurch Mail Centre, Christchurch 8140, New Zealand.

Abstract

To improve conservation outcomes and move towards a 'predator-free New Zealand', we need new pest control technologies. Our growing knowledge of the chemistry, behaviour and neuroendocrinology of mammalian scents that affect other individuals (semiochemicals) provides an opportunity for these to be used in various ways to help to control pest species. In this report, we summarise current knowledge of attractant semiochemicals (pheromones) of rodents, mustelids, cats and possums in New Zealand, to find potential avenues for the development of lures and other control strategies. Putative pheromones have been identified in all these species, and the major urinary proteins (MUPs) and peptides derived from the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) have been shown to play a role as pheromone carriers in the house mouse (Mus musculus), Norway rat (Rattus norvegicus) and ship rat (R. rattus). In addition, attractant compounds have been identified in the urine and glands of cats (Felis catus), mustelids (stoats - Mustela erminea, weasels - M. nivalis and ferrets - M. furo) and brushtail possums (Trichosurus vulpecula), and the calming effect of the feline facial pheromone has been explored. There are several potential applications for pheromones in mammalian pest management, including in trap and lure-and-kill systems; toxic baits; immunocontraception or chemosterilisation delivery systems; monitoring for incursions; interruption of breeding behaviour; and enhancement of biological control. The learned component of responses to pheromones and the role of MUPs in that learning suggest a complex system and it is unlikely that there will be a single 'magic bullet' solution for all pest species, but some potential for inter-species attractants. The use of novel control strategies based on a sound understanding of animal behaviour and neurophysiology could see pheromones and MUPs being combined to help improve predator control in New Zealand.

Keywords: semiochemical, pheromone, sex attractant, pest control, major urinary proteins, mouse *Mus musculus*, rat *Rattus* spp., cat *Felis catus*, mustelid *Mustela* spp., brushtail possum *Trichosurus vulpecula*.

[©] Copyright August 2017, Department of Conservation. This paper may be cited as:

Clapperton, B.K.; Murphy, E.C.; Razzaq, H.A.A. 2017: Mammalian pheromones – new opportunities for improved predator control in New Zealand. Science for Conservation 330. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 59 p.

1. Introduction

1.1 The potential roles of pheromones in New Zealand predator control

Predator control in New Zealand

New Zealand has no native terrestrial mammals (other than bats), and introduced predatory mammals have been implicated in the demise or decline in the populations of a range of native birds, reptiles, amphibians and invertebrates (King 2005; Innes et al. 2010). The predators include stoats (Mustela eminea), weasels (Mustela nivalis) and ship (black) rats (Rattus rattus) whose arboreal habits make them a threat to many forest-dwelling prey species (O'Donnell 1996; Innes et al. 2010). Cats (Felis catus), ferrets (Mustela furo) and Norway (brown) rats (R. norvegicus) have more impact on ground-nesters and inhabitants of grassland, riverbed and swamp habitats (Alterio & Moller 1997; Murphy et al. 2005; O'Donnell et al. 2015). Rats can have a major impact on offshore island ecosystems (Bellingham et al. 2010). House mice (Mus musculus) predate nestling seabirds (Angel et al. 2009) and lizards (Newman 1994). The common brushtail possum (Trichosurus vulpecula) is not only a destructive forest herbivore but also predates native birds' eggs and is a carrier of bovine tuberculosis (Clout 2006; Innes et al. 2010). European hedgehogs (Erinaceus europaeus), although not covered in this review, are minor egg predators of ground-nesting birds and are considered a threat to indigenous invertebrate populations (Jones & Sanders 2005). The fight to control the damage that these introduced mammalian predators cause to the New Zealand biota has been under way for more than a century. To date, this has mostly targeted individual pest species in discrete areas of the country, because of limited monetary, labour and technological resources. However, there is a growing movement in New Zealand to tackle the pest issue at a larger scale on the mainland (Russell et al. 2015). Islands will continue to play important roles as refugia for the rarer native species and must maintain their pest-free status.

Trapping and poison baiting remain the standard methods for controlling small mammalian pests in New Zealand (O'Donnell & Hoare 2012; Fisher et al. 2014; Brown et al. 2015). However, despite recent developments in trap design (e.g. Morriss & Warburton 2014; http://goodnature. co.nz/index.php), toxins and toxin delivery systems (e.g. Pitt et al. 2011; Blackie et al. 2014, 2016; Eason et al. 2014; Murphy et al. 2014), current control techniques are not cost effective on the mainland for the removal of the last few individuals, which is required for the complete eradication of a pest species, nor are they guaranteed to detect any incursions into pest-free areas (McMurtrie et al. 2011; Dowding & O'Connor 2013; Prada et al. 2014; Brown et al. 2015; Campbell et al. 2015). There have been recent examples of where more attractive lures could have considerably aided conservation efforts. In 2009, a pregnant female stoat arrived on the mammalian pest-free nature reserve Kapiti Island, northwest of Wellington, and was not detected for over a year, after she had given birth and her young were independent (Prada et al. 2014). In November 2011, a rat was videoed at a shore plover (Thinornis novaeseelandiae) nest on Mana Island, near Wellington, after the plover population had crashed (Dowding & O'Connor 2013), despite there being monitoring stations and tracking tunnels across the island to monitor for rodent signs; and in November 2012, the shore plover population on Waikawa Island rapidly declined, but no predator sign was detected by traps, tracking tunnels and trail cameras, or by rat-, cat- and stoat-tracking dogs that worked the island (Anon. 2013). Scats were finally located by a rat-tracking dog in a litter sample containing the remains of dead birds (Ritchie 2013), which were identified as rat droppings (E. Murphy, unpubl. data).

Lures can attract an animal to a control or monitoring device and/or increase consumption of a poison bait (O'Connor & Eason 2000). However, discovery of the 'Holy Grail', i.e. an attractant that would lure all individuals to control devices, remains elusive (Brown et al. 2015). There has been little advance in the development of food-based lures (Witmer et al. 2008), although

there have been some improvements on the use of peanut butter for rats (Jackson et al. 2016a,b). However, when food is abundant, such as on pest-free islands or in areas that have been cleared of pests on the mainland, it is difficult to detect pest incursions using food-based lures. Furthermore, it is important to have techniques that will be attractive to pests even at low population densities (Dilks & Towns 2002; Russell et al. 2008). Thus, a lure other than food, such as a sex lure, may be more effective. Linklater et al. (2013) suggested that 'super-lures' that attract animals from great distances and ensure higher interaction rates with control devices have the potential to provide major gains in mammalian pest control. Also, since modern re-setting traps and devices that are equipped with computerised systems to record captures require fewer inspections, long-life lures are essential (Murphy et al. 2014; Carter et al. 2016).

Pheromones overview

Semiochemicals are chemicals that are emitted into the environment by living organisms to transmit information between individuals (Law & Regnier 1971). Thus, they differ from hormones such as oxytocin, arginine-vasopressin and the sex hormones, which work within the body to mediate social recognition responses between individuals (Ferguson et al. 2002; Bielski & Young 2004; Choleris et al. 2009; Gabor et al. 2012). Semiochemicals consist of pheromones and allelomones (Tirindelli et al. 2009). Pheromones were originally defined as molecules that act as innate signals to elicit specific, invariant behavioural or endocrinal reactions in conspecifics (Karlson & Lüscher 1959; Beauchamp et al. 1976), whereas allelomones are used to modify the behaviour of individuals belonging to a different species (Nordlund & Lewis 1976). Of these, pheromones are of the greatest interest in terms of the development of lures, and so are the focus of this review.

More recently, authors have investigated how the responses of mammals to pheromones can be modified by the context in which they are received and by experience of the receiver. Wyatt (2010; 2014a) differentiated between individual pheromones and the more complex mixes of scents through which individuals recognise each other and can change their responses with learning, which he referred to as 'signature mixtures'. Brennan & Keverne (2004) provided an overview of terminology relating to pheromones, and distinguished between single molecules or cocktails of a few molecules that elicit dramatic behavioural effects (releaser pheromones) and chemosignals that cause longer-term changes in neuroendocrine or developmental states (primer pheromones). Doty (2010) argued that there is probably a continuum of chemical/behavioural complexities within mammalian scent communication. Logan (2015, p. 96) stated that pheromones 'can be monomolecular or multi-component, and can provoke both hardwired and learned behaviour', so we include all semiochemicals that are used for intra-specific communication in this review.

Pheromones play major roles in sex attraction, social organisation, signalling between parents and offspring, and priming of the reproductive cycle (including oestrus synchronisation and puberty delay or acceleration). Indeed, the key roles that glandular secretions play in social communication in rodents and carnivores have been known for decades (e.g. Mykytowycz 1970; Johnson 1973; Doty 1976; Brown 1979; Halpin 1986; Merkx et al. 1988).

Pheromones can be released to the environment via scent-marking behaviour. Mammals have an incentive to approach scent marks to avoid direct interactions with each other or to dictate appropriate responses to the scent markers during encounters (Gosling & Roberts 2001; Ferkin 2015). Several studies and reviews have investigated scent marking by mammalian pest species in New Zealand, including the use of scent marking for sex and individual recognition by Norway rats and mice (Brown 1975; Birke & Sadler 1984; Gosling & Roberts 2001; Johnston 2003; Hurst & Beynon 2004; Thom & Hurst 2004), mustelids (Erlinge et al. 1982; Clapperton et al. 1988; Erlinge & Sandell 1988; Clapperton 1989; Hutchings & White 2000; Berzins & Helder 2008), cats (Panaman 1981; Natoli 1985; Feldman 1994) and possums (Salamon 1994; Salamon et al. 1999). However, little is known about the scent marking of ship rats (Mallick 1992). Hedgehogs have a strong-smelling urine thought to be used in scent marking (Poduschka & Wemmer 1986) but there do not appear to have been any investigations into hedgehog pheromones, so this species is not included in the current review.

The flexibility in responses to mammalian pheromones mediated by learned responses (Beny & Kimichi 2014; Stowers & Liberles 2016) can affect the responses of pest mammals to baits and traps. Odours can make things seem more familiar. For example, Volfová et al. (2010) found that mice (particularly males) were more likely to enter bait stations that had been scented with odours from adult, sexually and socially experienced conspecifics than clean stations. A systematic approach to assessing the chemistry of signals has been advocated in the search for biologically active compounds (Clark & Shah 1991; Clark et al. 1991). However, when Apps et al. (2015, p. 1131) investigated the use of this approach to relate semiochemical compound properties with signal function, they found that overall relationships were 'scarce and formed only smallscale patterns'. This may be due to the complex physiological and behavioural responses of mammals to semiochemicals (Logan 2015). Consequently, Jackson et al. (2016b) recommended that an integrated chemical image and response-guided approach be used to assess the potential of pheromones for use as olfactory lures. The potential of using mammalian semiochemicals as lures for pest species in New Zealand has been suggested (Christiansen 1976), and research has been initiated (Clapperton et al. 1989, 1994a,b, 1999; Edwards et al. 1997; Spurr et al. 2004). The emerging knowledge on the chemistry, physiology, genetics and learned behavioural responses related to pheromones may allow this research to reach its potential.

1.2 Aim of this review

The aim of this review is to summarise the current state of knowledge of pheromones of mammalian predator species in New Zealand, to find potential avenues for the development of lures and other control strategies. To do this, we begin in section 2 by summarising our current understanding of the identity and structure of pheromones and their carriers, and how they function and interact with other glandular secretions. We then briefly outline the role of mammalian odorant receptors in the chemical-detecting interface between the atmosphere and the nervous system, summarise the ways in which food intake is influenced by olfactory cues and metabolic status, and describe the role of the major histocompatibility complex in the control of odour expression in section 3. In section 4, we assess how this knowledge of mammalian odour communication might be used to improve pest control strategies and examine how the behavioural ecology of the various mammalian pest species defines how odours may be of use, putting this new knowledge into the context of what is already known about pest management and scent chemistry. Terms used frequently in this report, and their abbreviations, are listed in a glossary at the end of the report.

2. Pheromone identification and function in mammalian predator species

Various reviews have summarised recent information concerning semiochemicals and putative pheromones (Novotny 2003; Beynon & Hurst 2004; Brennan & Keverne 2004; Hurst & Beynon 2004; Burger 2005; Brennan & Kendrick 2006; Brennan & Zufall 2006; Müller-Schwarze 2006; Johansson & Jones 2007; Zufall & Leinders-Zufall 2007; Archunan 2009; Hurst 2009; Tirindelli et al. 2009; Doty 2010; Kaupp 2010; van der Hurk 2011; Apps 2013; Hurst & Beynon 2013), the vast majority of which has been conducted on mice and Norway rats (the 'lab rat'). Comprehensive information about pheromones and other semiochemicals from a wide range of taxa, including Rodentia and Carnivora, can be found in the freely accessible database Pherobase (El-Sayed 2012).

One of the key recent developments has been an increased interest in the role of high-molecular-weight, non-volatile peptides and proteins, including major urinary proteins (MUPs) (Touhara 2008; Wyatt 2014b).

Modern technologies have led to the identification of ever increasing numbers of hormone-dependent volatile compounds and binding proteins over the last 20 years. These techniques include stir bar sorptive extraction, element-specific detection combined with capillary gas chromatography, protein banding, peptide mass fingerprinting, electrospray ionisation/mass spectrometry, isoelectric focusing electrophoresis, X-ray crystallography, calcium imaging, metabonomics, pattern recognition analysis, and genetic and genomic tools, molecular docking and fluorescence analysis (reviewed by Gevaert & Vandekerckhove 2000; Scott & Scott-Johnson 2002; Talor et al. 2002; Stephens & Allan 2003; Lindon et al. 2007; Novotny & Soini 2008; Swaney & Keverne 2009; Tirindelli et al. 2009; Kaupp 2010; Paske et al. 2013b; Yu 2013; Yuriev & Ramsland 2013; Soso et al. 2014).

2.1 Mice

Urine and preputial glands

Mouse urine scent marks contain information including social rank, individual recognition, maturity, diet and degree of stress (Hurst 1990; Schaefer et al. 2010). Mice can determine the age of a conspecific by the volatile profile of its urine (Beauchamp & Yamazaki 2003; Osada et al. 2003; Cavaggioni et al. 2006, 2008) and can also identify individuals that have been infected by parasites or disease (Penn & Potts 1998a; Penn et al. 1998; Beauchamp & Yamazaki 2003). Moreover, mice can distinguish between conspecifics with the same and different odour genotypes (Yamaguchi et al. 1981). Preputial (also known in females as clitoral) glands release secretions into the urine (Bronson & Caroom 1971; Brown & Williams 1972), while the urine itself is a source of even more compounds (Hurst et al. 1998). A large number of pheromones from mouse urine were identified during the 20th century (Novotny et al. 1986; Schwende et al. 1986; Archunan 2009) but these have not been used in pest control. Additional putative pheromones have been identified in the last 17 years, and the structure and function of previously identified compounds have been further investigated (Koyama 2016). Earlier studies suggested that there may need to be a learned association between the odour producer and the odour, to induce odour preference in female mice (Jemiolo et al. 1991; Wilson & Stevenson 2003). More recent research has confirmed this, showing that sex attractant volatiles do indeed need a learned association to induce the attractant effect, and that this requires direct contact with the nonvolatile components of male scent (Moncho-Bogani et al. 2002, 2005; Martínez-García et al. 2008, 2009; Ramm et al. 2008). This is in line with an earlier finding by Sipos et al. (1992) that the ability of female mouse urine to elicit vocalisations in male mice depends on the presence of both a volatile pheromone and a stable non-volatile chemical. Over 50 volatiles identified

from mouse urine and preputial glands are listed in Appendix 1. Six of these compounds have long been known as prospective mouse pheromones: 2,5-dimethylpyrazine, 2-sec-butyl-4,5dihydrothiazole (SBT), farnesene (a mixture of E,E- α -farnesene and E- β -farnesene), 2,3-dehydroexo-brevicomin (DHB), 2-heptanone, and 6-hydroxy-6-methyl-3-heptanone, although only the first three are highly odiferous (Novotny 2003). They are detected by different vomeronasal neurones at very low concentrations (Leinders-Zufall et al. 2000). SBT and DHB are produced by all adult males (Novotny et al. 1990; Hurst & Beynon 2004). They induce aggression in other males when presented in the urine (Novotny et al. 1985) and in combination are also attractive to female mice (Jemiolo et al. 1985, 1991). 3,4-Dehydro-exo-brevicomin (DEB) and SBT also attract female mice (Musso 2016), as do E,E- α -farnesene and E- β -farnesene (Jemiolo et al. 1991), which can also induce the oestrus cycle (Ma et al. 1999). Responses to these urinary odours can be very specific. For example, Novotny et al. (1995) found that the absolute configuration of DHB and SBT is related to their stereospecific biological activity; and Cavaggioni et al. (2003) also noted that the S and R configurations of SBT induce different responses. SBT is now thought to act as an alarm pheromone in mice. This pheromone is released by both males and females, and has a similar structure to the heterocyclic sulphur-containing compounds present in stoat and ferret anal sac secretions (Brechbühl et al. 2013). 6-Hydroxy-6-methyl-3-heptanone has also been shown to accelerate puberty in female mice (Novotny et al. 1999a), and three other volatiles (3-aminos-triazole, 4-ethylphenol and 3-ethyl-2,7-dimethyl octane) of male mouse urine appear to act as attractants of the opposite sex (Achiraman & Archunan 2002a), while 3-cyclohexene-1-methanol attracts other males (Achiraman & Archunan 2005). In addition, Zhang et al. (2007) identified 1-hexadecanol and 1-hexadecanol acetate as potential male pheromones. Manipulating the odour profile of castrated male mice indicated that hexadecanol and hexadecyl acetate are components of male preputial gland secretions that attract females and are also attractive to males at low concentrations (Zhang et al. 2008a).

Achiraman & Archunan (2006) used gas chromatography-mass spectrometry to identify compounds in female mouse urine, searching for a putative oestrous-specific chemo-signal. They found that 1-iodo-2-methyl undecane (1I2MU), 1-H-cyclopop-e.auzulene, caryophyllene and copanene are present in the urine during oestrus, but only 1I2MU is also present in the preoestrous stage and absent in all other stages. They also conducted a behavioural assay, which showed that 1I2MU is attractive to male mice, but not as attractive as oestrous urine, suggesting that additional compounds contribute to its attractiveness; while in an investigation of pre-mating behaviour, Achiraman et al. (2010a) found that 1I2MU was the compound most preferred by males.

Trimethylamine, which is found in the urine of a range of mammals, is produced in high concentrations by *Mus musculus* and *M. domesticus* (Li et al. 2013; Stensmyr & Maderspacher 2013). However, this production is sex-dependent, with male urine containing c. 20 times the concentration of female urine. Both male and female *M. musculus* are attracted to trimethylamine at concentrations naturally found in mouse urine (Li et al. 2013).

Lin et al. (2005, p. 470) demonstrated that the main olfactory bulb of mice responded to male mouse urine, including a 'potent, previously unknown semiochemical', which was identified as (methylthio)methanethiol.

Some urinary compounds are thought to indicate the age or dominance status of the mouse, and this information may be used by females in mate selection (Osada et al. 2003, 2008; Liu et al. 2008). Furthermore, 2,5-dimethylpyrazine is a unique female compound that suppresses oestrus (Thompson et al. 2013). Isobutylamine and isoamylamine from the urine of male mice act as puberty accelerants (Archunan & Achiraman 2006; but also see Liberles & Buck 2006), and isobutylamine also acts as a vomeronasal agonist (Rodriguez & Boehm 2009).

Finally, Zhang et al. (2007) confirmed that various mouse urinary compounds vary in quantity according to strain, sex and/or individual identity.

Other odour sources

Sex-specific peptides are found in other bodily secretions (Kimoto et al. 2005). For example, 7-kDa peptide from the lachrymal and submaxillary glands of male mice, exocrine-gland secreting peptide 1 (ESP1; Abe & Touhara 2014) induces females to adopt the lordosis (curved back) position for mating (Haga et al. 2010; Yoshinaga et al. 2013; Cavaliere et al. 2014) via stimulation of the vomeronasal organ (Kimoto et al. 2005). Young mice secrete another peptide from the lachrymal gland, ESP22, which inhibits the sexual behaviour of adult mice towards the pheromone producer (Ferrero et al. 2013). Based on Luo et al.'s (2003) trials investigating the responses of single neurons of the accessory olfactory bulb, Hurst (2009) considered that these ESPs provide distinct scent signals, playing a role in signalling individual identity.

The general body scent of mice comprises mostly aliphatic aldehydes but also a range of other compounds (Appendix 1; Röck et al. 2006). It arises not only from the volatiles found in urine, but also from other undetermined sources. Nitromethane, propanoic acid, dimethyldisulphide, 1-octene, 1-hexanol, hexanoic acid, indole, and α - and β -farnesene were collected in the air surrounding live mice. The abundance of 1-methoxy-2-propane, 6-hydroxy-6-methyl-3-heptanone, phenol and 4- methylphenol compounds found in both body scent and urine can vary by 10- to 100-fold (Röck et al. 2006).

2.2 Rats

Urine and preputial glands

The main sources of odours in rats are urine and the preputial glands (Appendix 2). Kannan & Archunan (2001a, p. 250) quoted earlier studies showing that 'In rat scent glands, pheromones exist as a mixture of alcohols, aldehydes, acids of saturated or unsaturated aliphatic or aromatic compounds'. Zhang et al. (2008b) found that squalene, 2-heptanone and 4-ethylphenol, all of which naturally occur in sexually mature male Norway rat urine, are attractive to female rats either alone or in combination. However, even the combination was not as attractive as real male urine, suggesting that other components (the authors suggested heptan-4-one and phenol) may also be needed to create a highly attractive odour. Takács et al. (2016) found that a synthetic mix of 2-heptanone, 4-heptanone, 3-ethyl-2-heptanone, 2-octanone, 2-nonanone and 4-nonanone was attractive for female rats. Osada et al. (2009) confirmed the attractive properties of 2-heptanone and 4-ethylphenol and also showed that 4-methylphenol may be an important component of the female-attractant mixture released by adult males. Meanwhile, Achiraman et al. (2011a) found that squalene is also produced in the female preputial gland, increasing in concentration during pre-oestrus and oestrus, and described it as a 'female-specific chemosignal that attracted males'. 2-Heptanone and 4-ethylphenol also occur in female preputial gland secretions/urine but at lower concentrations (Zhang et al. 2008b).

There has been some research on 6,11-dihydro-dibenz-b,e-oxepin-11-one, 2,6,10-dodecatrien-1-ol-3,7,11-trimethyl(Z) and 1,2-benzene dicarboxylic acid butyl(2-methylpropyl) ester, all of which are found in the clitoral gland of the Norway rat. Kannan & Archunan (2001a) found that the first compound attracted conspecifics of the opposite sex, whereas the second and third attracted both sexes. Furthermore, these are not unique to female rats – Kannan et al. (1998) described 2,6,10-dodecatrien-1-ol-3,7,11-trimethyl and di-n-octyl phthalate as compounds from the preputial glands of male Norway rats that were attractive to females, while 1,2 benzene dicarboxylic acid diisooctyl ester attracted other males.

Zhang et al. (2008b) found that E,E- α -farnesene and E- β -farnesene occurred at higher concentrations in female than male Norway rat glands, and consequently suggested a sexattractant role for these compounds. In addition, both compounds were present in higher concentrations in dominant than in subordinate males (Pohorecky et al. 2008).

Farnesols 1 & 2 have been identified from the preputial glands of Norway rats and ascribed female-attraction powers (Ponmanickam et al. 2010), along with geranyl linalool isomer, oxirane and lanosterol. By contrast, Rajkumar et al. (2010a) identified cyclohexene, beta-bisabolene, 1-pentene, hexadecatetraene, 3-cyclohexene, farnesol 1 and farnesol 2 from the preputial glands of the ship rat, among which only the farnesols were bound to MUP $\alpha_{2\mu}$ -globulin, suggesting that these compounds are more likely to play roles as pheromones. Rajkumar et al. (2009, 2010a) also found that the volatiles 1-chlorodecane, 2-methyl-N-phenyl-2-propenamide, hexadecane and 2,6,11-trimethyl decane were bound by $\alpha_{2\mu}$ -globulin in ship rat urine.

Components of male ship rat urine that attract females include ethanol,2-(octylthio) and 1-chlorodecane (Selvaraj & Archunan 2002a), while 1,3,5-triazone-2,4-diamine attracts other males. Females in oestrus produce hydroperoxide, 1-nitropentane and 4-azidoheptane, all of which attract males, while 1-nitropentane also attracts females.

Other odour sources

The cheek glands of rats also act as a source of odiferous secretions. Kannan & Archunan (2001b) identified a range of alkanes, aliphatic acids esters and alcohols that were produced by the cheek glands of laboratory rats. Those of males contained di-n-octyl phthalate, 1,2-benzene diacarboxylic acid butyl (2-ethyl hexyl) ester and 1,2 benzene dicarboxylic acid (2-methylpropyl) ester, the first of which was attractive only to females, while the latter two were attractive to both sexes. By contrast, the two main components of female cheek glands were 1,2-benzene dicarboxylic acid (2-methylpropyl) ester and 2,6,10 dedecatrien-1-ol, 3,7,11-trimethyl-(Z, E), both of which were attractive to both males and females.

Nielsen et al. (2011, 2013) searched for odours in Norway rat faeces that might indicate the oestrous state of females. Male rats responded to the odour of oestrous female rats by penile erection. Although no compounds were identified that were unique to female rat faeces, the male rats responded to a synthetic mixture of five carboxylic acids (propanoic acid, 2-methylpropanoic acid, butanoic acid, 3-methylbutyric acid and pentanoic acid) in a dose-dependent way, and to 6-methyl-5-hepten-2-one, albeit not as strongly as to the natural faeces odour. These compounds are also found in the faeces of foxes and horses, and male rats respond to the faeces of vixens and mares as well as to those of female rats (Rampin et al. 2006).

The general body odour of the ship rat has been investigated by Byrom et al. (2003), who identified more than 20 compounds using headspace analysis, including pyrazine, 2-ethyl pyrazine, 2-ethyl-5-methyl pyrazine, m- or p-cresol and sulphur-containing thiazole-type compounds. They then created a 'chemical rat' based on the concentrations of the first four of these compounds and found that it emitted a distinct 'ratty' odour.

Alarm pheromones are released from the whisker pad and provoke sniffing, rearing and locomotory activities in male rats (Kiyokawa et al. 2004a). Although we know that those from the perianal region are testosterone-independent (Kiyokawa et al. 2004b), volatile (Inagaki et al. 2009) and water soluble (Kiyokawa et al. 2005), little is known about their chemical structure. Recent research on rat and mouse alarm pheromones has focused on the role of the vomeronasal organ (e.g. Kiyokawa et al. 2007) and Grueneberg ganglion neurons (Brechbühl et al. 2008), and the stress and startle responses of rats to alarm pheromones (Kiyokawa et al. 2006; Inagaki et al. 2008). Inagaki et al. (2014) have identified hexanal and 4-methylpentanal as components of stress-related odour in Norway rats. Kiyokawa (2015) described how this combinational pheromone activate the anxiety circuit.

Carbon disulphide is released from the breath of rodents and is detected by specialised olfactory sensory neurones (Munger et al. 2010). Rats learn which foods are safe to eat from other rats (Galef 1986a,b, 1987, 1991), by detecting CS_2 (Galef et al. 1988; Mason et al. 1988; Galef 1992).

2.3 Rodent Major Urinary Proteins (MUPs)

Malone et al. (2001) provided an overview of 20th century knowledge of the role of volatile semiochemicals, MUPs and the MHC in the communication of social status and mate choice in mice, while Cavaggioni & Mucignat-Caretta (2000) outlined the odour-binding mechanisms of MUPs, and Mucignat-Caretta & Caretta (2014) described the roles played by MUPs in chemical communication in mice. Mice and rats excrete very high concentrations of MUPs in their urine (Beynon et al. 2001), which bind to volatiles including SBT, DHB, farnesenes, 6-hydroxy-6-methyl-3-heptanone and geraniol (Novotny et al. 1999b; Hurst & Beynon 2004) in a central cavity or on surface patch features (Timm et al. 2001). MUPs are also found in the salivary, mammary and lachrymal gland secretions of both mice and rats (Shahan et al. 1987; Beynon et al. 2008), but saliva does not induce the same strong intra-strain attractiveness in mice as urine does (Bímová et al. 2009). Sharrow et al. (2002) not only found evidence for MUPIV protein in the nasal mucus and vomeronasal organ, but also demonstrated that nasal MUPs sequester and transport pheromones.

While MUPs clearly play a role as ligand binders (Robertson et al. 1993, 2001; Sharrow et al. 2002), there is mounting proof that they are more than just pheromone deliverers (Beynon & Hurst 2003). Marchlewska-Koj et al. (2000) showed that oestrus-stimulating compounds were ineffective when not bound to MUPs. Furthermore, the combination of volatile pheromones with the less-volatile MUPs provides a slow-release odour system (Hurst et al. 1998; Armstrong et al. 2005), allowing animals to determine the freshness of a scent mark (Hurst & Beynon 2004; Hurst et al. 2001) and thus avoid direct conflict with territory holders. MUPs may also stop oxidation of the scent (Novotny et al. 1999b). Unlike volatile ligands that induce responses in animals from a distance, MUPs require direct contact of the nose onto the scent mark (Luo et al. 2003).

There is both behavioural and neurophysiological evidence that MUP/pheromone ligand complexes, or even MUPs on their own, act as signals of 'scent ownership' (Hurst & Beynon 2004; Kaur et al. 2014). Not only can mice use MUPs to distinguish between familiar and unfamiliar (Hurst et al. 2001) and between different genetic strains (Cheetham et al. 2007; Stopková et al. 2007; Bímová et al. 2009), but they can also use them as an individual recognition system to identify neighbours (Hurst et al. 2001; Nevison et al. 2003; Hurst & Beynon 2004). This is because mouse MUPs are highly polymorphic and the MUP profiles remain constant throughout adult life (Hurst & Beynon 2004). Both males and females use this system, described as a 'barcode' (Beynon & Hurst 2003), but MUP production is 3–4 times greater in males than in females (Beynon et al. 2001). In addition, MUPs can indicate competitive ability (Hurst & Beynon 2004), and Chamero et al. (2007) described a MUP-ligand pheromone complex that has aggression-promoting activity in male mice. However, MUP-borne odorants have also been shown to inhibit the response of male mice to attack mouse pups (Cavaggioni et al. 2001).

Armstrong et al. (2005) provided evidence for a second type of MUP that contributes to sex-specific scent in male mice. Furthermore, varying concentrations of MUPs in female mouse urine advertise their reproductive state (Stopka et al. 2007; Achiraman et al. 2011b), potentially explaining why male mice are more attracted to oestrous than non-oestrous females (Archunan 2009).

Recently, investigators have studied the structure of MUPs. Perez-Miller et al. (2010) showed that differences in cavity size allow very specific binding of SBT onto one isoform (MUP-IV) of a male mouse MUP that is expressed in the vomeronasal mucosa rather than the urine. In addition, one male-specific MUP named darcin (mass = 18893 Da) has been identified from the urine of wild-stock mice (Roberts et al. 2010; Phelan et al. 2010), and proteins belonging to the same family are found in the urine of both Norway and ship rats (Linklater et al. 2013; Paske et al. 2013a). Darcin acts as an attractant to female mice, inducing them to spend more time near the odour source. Importantly, contact with darcin also stimulated a strong learned attraction to the associated airborne urinary odour of an individual male, such that females were subsequently attracted to the airborne scent of that specific individual but not to those of other males. This is consistent with earlier observations by Hurst (1986) that wild female mice return to sites to wait for a male when ready to mate. Martínez-Ricós et al. (2007) also found that involatile male sexual pheromones not only elicited investigation, but also induced learned place preference,

and Lanuza et al. (2014) showed that darcin could induce a learned attraction to neutral odours, allowing mice to identify and respond appropriately to an individual's olfactory signature. Furthermore, females can also learn to associate darcin with spatial cues in the environment (Roberts et al. 2014).

The behavioural effects of MUP-borne odorants are mediated through the vomeronasal organ neural pathway. While previous workers have suggested a need for main olfactory epithelium signalling (Wang et al. 2006), Chamero et al. (2007) argued that two separate pheromone-responsive circuits exist that respond to different cues. Mice have a particularly high number of V1R genes and pseudogenes compared with rats (Grus et al. 2005); all these authors cautioned that there had not been a comprehensive search for rat V1R pseudogenes.

The best known rat MUPs are the lipocalins, which help in pheromone transport (Bacchini et al. 1992; Flower 1996), prolonged release (Hurst et al. 1998), and have some sensory properties (Kreiger et al. 1999). The most documented rat MUP from the preputial gland of laboratory rats is the 18-kDa $\alpha_{2\mu}$ -globulin (Ponmanickam & Archunan 2006; Ponmanickam et al. 2009; Rajkumar et al. 2009). Similarly, a 20-kD protein has been found in the urine of male ship rats (Kamalakkannan et al. 2006) and a proteomic study identified a 22.4-kDa protein in male ship rat urine as a rat MUP (Rajkumar et al. 2010b).

The expression of MUPs in rats is even more male-specific than in mice and is testosterone dependent (Achiraman & Archunan 2002b; Beynon et al. 2008). However, this does not mean to say that MUPs do not play a role in olfactory communication by female rats – a lipocalin has now been found in female ship rat urine, with the highest concentrations being recorded during oestrus and metoestrus (Muthukumar et al. 2013). The MUP oestrus urinary lipocalin protein from female ship rats bound with both farnesol and 2-isobutyl-3-methoxypyrazine (Rajesh et al. 2016). Furthermore, MUPs have also been found in the preputial glands of rat pups (Ponmanickam et al. 2009), with the proportions changing during puberty (Vettorazzi et al. 2013).

The MUPs of wild Norway rats exhibit less inter-individual variation than those of wild mice as they are less polymorphic (Beynon et al. 2008), which suggests that they might not act as an individual recognition system mediating social organisation in rats.

Other recent advances in the study of MUPs in rats have focused on the genetics and hormonal control of lipocalins (McFadyen & Locke 2000; Logan et al. 2008; Karn & Laukaitis 2012). Mucignat-Caretta et al. (2006) investigated whether rats responded differently to mouse or rat chemosignals and found that only rat-specific urine and $\alpha_{2\mu}$ -globulin, and not mouse MUPs, stimulated the vomeronasal amygdala in female rats.

2.4 Cats

The scent-marking behaviour of domestic cats and the semiochemicals involved in this have been described by Bradshaw & Cameron-Beaumont (2000), and the responses of cats to scent marks have also been investigated. For example, Roesch (2003) found that female domestic cats respond to the urine of male cats, with the most interest being shown by oestrous females to the scent of dominant males. In addition, field trials have shown that cats respond to decomposed anal gland material mixed with urine, at least during the breeding season (Edwards et al. 1997), and possibly to fresh faeces and urine (Moseby et al. 2004). Hanke & Dickman (2013) further showed that cat urine was more successful than catnip or valerian extracts in attracting cats to hair snares. While this contrasts with the findings of Clapperton et al. (1994a), in the latter trial the captive cats may have been desensitised to the scent of cat urine, and only frozen urine samples were tested. These findings raise the possibility of identifying specific pheromonal attractants for cats. However, very few studies have reported on the semiochemicals of cats (Felis spp.) (Burger 2005). Despite 50 years of research into tiger pheromones (Brahmachary & Poddar-Sarkar 2015), the domestic/feral cat is not even listed in the pheromone database Pherobase.

Urine

The sulphur-containing putative pheromone felinine (2-amino-7-hydroxy-5,5-dimethyl-4thiaheptanoic acid) was identified in 1951, but there has been very little recent (post-2000) investigation of it (Appendix 3). Felinine is found in both the urine and blood of domestic cats (Hendriks et al. 2001; Rutherfurd et al. 2002) and is believed to be testosterone dependent and so is more abundant in male than female urine (Hendriks et al. 1995, cited in Roesch 2003). Synthetic felinine is more stable than the natural compound in cat urine (Rutherfurd et al. 2004). Recent interest has particularly focused on the precursors of felinine. For instance, Miyazaki et al. (2006b) described the chemistry of cauxin, a MUP that regulates the species-, sex- and agedependent production of felinine (Miyazaki et al. 2008) and is itself regulated by testosterone (Miyazaki et al. 2006a). Miyazaki et al. (2008) also identified 3-mercapto-3-methyl-1-butanol, 3-mercapto-3-methylbutyl formate, 3-methyl-3-methylthio-1-butanol and 3-methyl-3-(2-methyldisulphanyl)-1-butanol as cat-specific odorants that may be used as 'territorial markers for conspecific recognition or reproductive purposes by mature cats'. Rutherfurd et al. (2004) further suggested that whichever of these compounds create(s) the distinctive 'tom cat odour' is/are active at very low concentrations. 3-Mercapto-3-methylbutanol has since been described as the tom cat compound (Apps et al. 2014), and is found in the urine of the domestic cat, as well as some big cat species, but is absent from the strong-smelling urine of lions (Andersen & Vulpius 1999). No studies to date have investigated the behavioural responses of cats to these other breakdown components of tom cat urine.

Other odour sources

The feline facial pheromone (FFP) is thought to be used in territorial marking and familiarisation of the cat in a new environment (Feldman 1994; Pageat 1998). Recent work on FFP has mainly focused on its calming effect on cats, thereby allowing easier handling by veterinarians (Kronen et al. 2006). It is also used to eliminate urine spraying in domestic cats (Mills & White 2000; Mills & Mills 2001). There is also a feline interdigital secretion that elicits a scratching response in cats (Pageat & Cozzi 2011; Cozzi et al. 2013).

Cats are known to produce lipocalin proteins from the submandibular salivary gland and skin, including the allergen Fel d 4, which was described by Smith et al. (2004) as the cat homologue of rodent MUPs. Other lipocalin proteins include Fel d 1, 7 & 8 and Fel d 3 (cat cystatin) (Ichikawa et al. 2001a,b; Smith et al. 2011). While these compounds act as warning signals for rats (Dielenberg & McGregor 2001; Papes et al. 2010), their roles in intraspecific communication remain unknown.

Kittens orientate towards and attach onto specific nipples on the mother cat and this response is thought to depend on learned olfactory cues (Arteaga et al. 2013).

Burger et al. (2008) and Soini et al. (2012) identified a range of pheromones from the cheeks and foreheads of large felines, including the Bengal tiger (*Panthera tigris*).

There have been no studies of the constituents of odour from the anal gland secretions of cats, although Preti et al. (1976) determined that they did not contain trimethylamine.

No one has pursued the suggestion by Bland (1979) that valeric acid, present in the vagina of female cats in oestrous, may be a sex pheromone. Van der Hurk (2011) lists valeric acid as a putative pheromone that attracts cats, makes males restless, and stimulates sexual behaviour in females.

2.5 Mustelids

Most preliminary work on potential mustelid pheromones has focused on the highly malodorous contents of anal sac secretions (Brinck et al. 1978; Crump 1978, 1980a,b; Crump & Moors 1985; Clapperton 1985; Clapperton et al. 1988). But scent-marking studies showed that urine depositing,

body-rubbing and chin-rubbing behaviours are also likely to transmit intraspecific information (Wheeler 1978; Erlinge et al. 1982; Wildhaber 1984; Clapperton 1989). The presence in ferrets of abdominal glands similar to rodent preputial glands that are larger in males than in females (Clapperton et al. 1987), and of numerous sebaceous glands in the ventral body skin (Clapperton 1985) offer other potential sources of scent, so the search for pheromones has moved to investigating urine and body fur odours (Garvey et al. 2016; Murphy et al. 2013; Murphy 2016).

Urine

In an investigation of the urinary profiles of ferrets, Zhang et al. (2005) listed 48 peaks (7 of which were unidentified). Of these, 2-methylquinoline was male-specific and ten others were more abundant in male urine: 4-heptanone, 2-heptanone, 2,5-dimethylpyrazine, quinoline, o-aminoacetophenone, dimethoxyacetophenone and 4-methylquinazoline plus three unidentified compounds (Appendix 2). When ferrets can smell but cannot see a conspecific, both males and females are more attracted to the opposite sex (Wheeler 1978; Kelliher & Baum 2001, 2002). Furthermore, ferrets prefer to investigate areas that have been soiled by unspecified 'scent marks', urine and faeces of the opposite sex (Chang et al. 2000). However, sorting out which odours are generating which behavioural responses is no easy task. Berzins & Helder (2008) showed that female ferret urogenital and body odours attracted males, while females showed little interest in those of males, leading the authors to suggest a sex attractant role for female urogenital odours. By contrast, Woodley et al. (2004) found that female ferrets did respond to male urinary odours and preferred these to the odour of an oestrous female; and Cloe et al. (2004) also found that female ferrets preferred male urinary odour over female urinary odour, while males had no preference.

Other odour sources

The anal sac secretions of stoats and ferrets contain a range of sulphur-containing compounds (Crump 1978, 1980a,b; Crump & Moors 1985). Zhang et al. (2005) provided a further chemical analysis of ferret anal sac secretions, confirming the findings of Clapperton et al. (1988) that 2,3-dimethylthietane and 3,4-dimethyl-1,2-dithiolane are more abundant in females, and that 2-propylthietane can be abundant in males. They also identified the previously unknown o-aminoacetophenone from male secretions, two aldehydes, five ketones, benzothiazole, 2-methylquinoline and 4-methylquinazoline from both sexes, and 3-ethyl-1,2-dimethyl-1,2-dithiolane from female secretions. Similar compounds have been found in the anal sacs of other members of the genus *Mustela* (Schildknecht et al. 1976; Brinck et al. 1978, 1983; Zhang et al. 2002, 2003; Setzer 2008). Berzins & Helder (2008) also confirmed the finding of Clapperton et al. (1988) that ferret anal odours are attractive to both males and females, supporting their proposed role as territorial markers that display individual identity. However, the fact that males prefer to approach female anal gland odours and vice versa for females (Cloe et al. 2004) suggests that ferrets may also use anal gland odours in mate recognition (Woodley & Baum 2003, 2004).

Some component(s) of the odours found in bedding material may hold promise as lures for mustelids. The male stoat caught on Kapiti Island in the 2010 incursion was caught in a trap lured with bedding from a female stoat (Prada et al. 2014), and in captive trials, both male and female stoats are attracted to bedding material from oestrous stoats year-round (E. Murphy et al., unpubl. data). Bedding material collected from oestrous stoats is also more attractive to both male and female stoats than stoat urine and scats (Murphy 2016). Garvey et al. (2016) found that the body odour of ferrets acts as an attractant to stoats.

2.6 Possums (with reference to other marsupials)

Marsupials have the neurological potential for sophisticated pheromonal communication, not unlike that of rodents (Takami 2002; Grus et al. 2005). Both male and female possums respond to the scent of female urine, and components of female urine improve the capture efficiency of both male and female possums by increasing the time animals spend near devices (Duckworth et al. 2016). So the search is on to identify these key semiochemicals and the most effective formulations (Walker & Croft 1990; Duckworth et al. 2013) and it may be informed by research on other marsupials.

Urine

Toftegaard et al. (1999) identified ten volatile urinary compounds of the brown antechinus (*Antechinus stuartii*), and demonstrated that the main components were homologous methylketones in both male and female urine, and aldehyde in female urine. Furthermore, a distinctive characteristic of the urine of sexually active males was high concentrations of two pyrazine derivatives and four methylketones. Brown antechinus scent mark using cloacal glands, so these compounds could be released into the environment. Furthermore, male urine stimulates activity of the accessory olfactory bulb (Toftegaard et al. 2002), which also indicates semiochemical activity (Toftegaard & Bradley 2003).

Male but not female grey short-tailed opossums (*Monodlephis domestica*) respond to conspecific urine; male scent is thought to related to territorial defence, and female urine indicates mating availability (Zuri et al. 2007).

Other odour sources

The sternum gland of the brown antechinus also produces volatile chemicals that Toftegaard & Bradley (2003) suggested may act as status symbols. Acetic acid, short-chain (C6–C10) aldehydes, long-chain (>C15) hydrocarbons and 1,1-bis-(p-tolyl)-ethane are common components of the sternum glands of Australian marsupials (Zabaras et al. 2006).

Grey short-tailed opossums use semiochemicals from the suprasternal and submandibular glands and body odour more than urine for intraspecific communication (Poran et al. 1993; Zuri et al. 2003; Zuri et al. 2005). Zuri & Halpern (2005) showed that the vomeronasal system was used to decode these olfactory signals.

The paracloacal glands of brushtail possums contain triacylglycerol estolides and various sulphur-containing compounds (McLean et al. 2012, 2015), which could play a role in social communication. Possum sternal gland scent has been trialled as a lure but the sample size was too small to determine if it was attractive (Kreigenhofer 2011).

3. Odour perception and expression

Recent work has also focused on how behavioural, neurological and hormonal responses are mediated by the vomeronasal organ, the main olfactory epithelium, olfactory neurons of the main olfactory bulb and accessory olfactory bulb, and the interactions between these sensory systems. An in-depth review of the neurological literature is outside the scope of the current study; however, such information is available elsewhere (Tirindelli et al. 1998; Novotny 2003; Wyatt 2003; Brennan & Keverne 2004; Rodriguez 2004; Lin et al. 2005; Kelliher 2007; Keller & Vosshall 2008; Brennan 2009; Ponmanickam et al. 2010, 2013; Baum 2012; Chamero et al. 2012; Mucignat-Caretta et al. 2012; Apps 2013; Dey et al. 2013; Liberles 2014; Mucignat-Caretta 2014; Li & Liberles 2015; Stowers & Kuo 2015). Likewise, the genetic basis of pheromones is more thoroughly reviewed elsewhere (Dulac 2000; Dulac & Wagner 2006; Kam 2013; Ganem et al. 2014). The potential for the development of bioassays of pheromones based on the responses of neurons in the vomeronasal organ and/or the main olfactory bulb make this area of research of interest in the development of mammalian pest control lures (Linklater et al. 2013).

3.1 How do animals perceive odours?

The findings presented in section 2 highlight the difficulty of naming a single chemical compound or group of compounds that would produce the required response from all animals. This can be attributed to the nature of the chemicals forming the compound(s), such as the percentage of each component (i.e. effective concentration) and the isomer form; and/or factors related to the olfactory physiology of the species.

The mammalian olfactory system is capable of detecting a wide range of volatile chemical compounds that may be translated into varying instinctive responsive behaviours (Buck & Bergman 2012). Mammalian odorant receptors (ORs) form a chemical-detecting interface between the atmosphere and the nervous system, but very little is known about the mechanisms of molecular recognition binding and discrimination between small molecule odorants. The ORs work in combination or inter-related fashion to detect/identify the odorant chemicals through the odorant's structural characteristics (Nara et. al. 2011). Let us use aldehydes as an example of the role of molecular shape. Aldehydes are found in a variety of natural sources, such as herbs, flowers and fruits, and are typically fresh-smelling chemicals, with synthetic aldehydes being important in the flavour and fragrance industries. However, some of the nose's many aldehyde receptors do not detect an aldehyde by its structure and shape directly, but rather recognise it according to its ability to undergo a chemical reaction with water, probably after entering the nose. Once exposed to air, aldehydes have a limited lifetime, as oxygen slowly converts them into less-savoury or even malodorous chemicals. Thus, the human nose is adapted to detecting aldehydes and distinguishing them from structurally similar chemical groups (Li et al. 2014).

Many ORs that detect the eight-carbon aldehyde octanal recognise the portion of the aldehyde molecule by its ability to morph into a completely different chemical group, known as a gem-diol. Since this reaction is unique to aldehydes, it serves to discriminate them from similarly shaped chemical groups. These odorant molecules might be able to alter fragrance mixture odours in two ways: by muting the activity of flexible odorants present in a mixture, and by activating a smaller subset of olfactory sensory neurons than chemically related flexible odorants do (Li et al. 2014).

Humans possess approximately 400 different types of specialised sensors (known as olfactory receptor proteins) which somehow work together to detect a large variety of odours (Trimmer et al. 2014). However, each individual has a unique set of genetic variations that leads to variation in olfactory perception (Mainland et al. 2014), though it is still unknown how the activity patterns are translated into a signal that our brain registers as the odour (Monell Chemical Senses Center 2013). According to Gertrude Stein, 'A rose is a rose is a rose'; however, new research indicates that this may not be the case when it comes to the rose's scent. Researchers from the Monell Chemical

Senses Center (Philadelphia, USA) and collaborating institutions have found that as much as 30% of the large array of human ORs differs between any two individuals (Mainland et al. 2014), which, in turn, translates into variability in how each person perceives odours (McRae et al. 2012; Monell Chemical Senses Center 2013). Furthermore, the perception of flavours (e.g. cis-3-hexen-1-ol in humans) can be linked to activation of a few receptors on single nucleotide polymorphisms by just a single odorant component (Wetzel et al. 1999; McRae et al. 2012).

In most species, food intake is influenced by olfactory cues, and metabolic status can affect the olfactory function of animals and regulate feeding-related behaviours. In a study on four rat strains, Karine et al. (2014) observed that metabolic and behavioural changes were partly associated with variations in the transcription profiles of leptin, insulin and orexin and their receptors in the hypothalamus and olfactory system, indicating that variations in metabolic-related gene expressions along the olfactory pathways influence food-odour-driven behaviours. Thus, food-odour-driven behaviours are clearly affected by long-term metabolic status. Moreover, Mainland & Sobel (2006) argued that sniffs are necessary for olfactory perception, affect odorant intensity and identity perception, drive activity in the olfactory cortex, are rapidly modulated in an odorant-dependent fashion by a dedicated olfactomotor system, and are sufficient to generate an olfactory perception of some sort even in the absence of an odour.

Until recently, the olfactory epithelium in mice was thought to contain 1000 ORs. It was also thought that in addition to those ORs, mice possess approximately 14 trace amine-associated receptors (TAARs) (Saraiva et al. 2015), but a more recent study (Saraiva et al. 2016) identified 16 extra TAARs. The ORs and TAARs are each expressed by a different subset of olfactory sensory neurons (Saraiva et al. 2015); and the genes for encoding ORs and TAARs have different nuclear locations (Yoon et al. 2015). It has been suggested that TAARs may have a distinct function from that of the ORs, which was attributed to their ability for high-sensitivity detection of amines, and the TAARs may particularly induce innate aversion responses (Dewan et. al. 2013). These findings suggest the presence of complex regulatory mechanisms, through which a sensed odour triggers the synthesis of signal-inducing molecules that are recognised by the brain, which in turn translates these signals into certain behavioural responses.

The existence of such mechanism(s) may be verified by the findings of the study by Saraiva et al. (2016), which identified 16 extra TAAR agonists in mice, all volatile amines. The study illustrated that a single odorant may activate 1–6 TAARs, confirming that some of them respond to more than one odorant. Half the tested TAARs induced behavioural responses; ten of them induced attraction, and three induced aversion. Also in that study, 54 different odorants were classified on the basis of their structure, and tested on mice. Many of the odorants induced either attraction or aversion behaviour, and the effects were concentration dependent, although some odorants maintained their effect, even after fading.

These findings demonstrate the difficult task of predicting/manipulating a predator's behavioural responses to a compound or a mixture of odorant compounds, especially if some compounds can override, cancel or block the function of other compounds. Achiraman et al. (2010b) suggested that in male mice the main and accessory olfactory systems work in synergy for the detection of oestrus in the urine of females; and Sam et al. (2001) reported that not only does the vomeronasal organ respond to specific pheromones, it also responds to general odorants. However, Kippin et al. (2003) showed that odours from oestrous female rats trigger different neural pathways in male rats from those triggered by neutral scents that had been paired with copulation, with only the former increasing Fos-like immunoreactivity in the accessory olfactory bulb/vomeronasal organ. Nodari et al. (2008) further showed that mouse vomeronasal organ sensory neurones particularly respond to sulphated steroids (Appendix 1), and Xu et al. (2005) found that 2-heptanone stimulates both the accessory and main olfactory bulb in mice. These findings also point out that behavioural responses are the result of a chain of reactions involving the olfactory receptors, the brain, and the genetic codons to produce the appropriate molecules that dictate the response behaviour.

Clearly, the responses of animals to individual or mixes of odorous compounds will vary from individual to individual and certainly among different species, and the complexity of these mechanisms and our lack of understanding of them explain why researchers in this field

experience so many setbacks. Therefore, more research is required to identify the most potent molecules or mixtures of molecules in the correct concentration ratios that result in the most attraction and longest lasting effect. In particular, the identification of olfactory stimulating molecules that are common between species would be of great significance for the formulation of multi-species lures and baits.

3.2 Influence of the MHC

The role of compounds produced by the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) as pheromone carriers and stabilisers that extend the life of scent marks has been reviewed by Hurst et al. 1998), as has their influence on mating preferences (Penn & Potts 1998b). One of the main areas of recent research has focused on how the MHC genes control odour expression, as reviewed by Boyse et al. (1987), Penn (2002), Beauchamp & Yamazaki (2003), Dulac & Torello (2003), Hurst & Beynon (2004), Brennan & Kendrick (2006), Tirindelli et al. (2009) and Ruff et al. (2012). Peptides that are produced by the MHC genes are recognised by the main olfactory epithelium and vomeronasal organ (Leinders-Zufall et al. 2004; Kwak et al. 2009). Novotny et al. (2007) provided evidence for a quantitative link between the MHC genes and volatile compounds in mouse urine, including the testosterone-mediated pheromones SBT, DHB and dihydrofurans, various sulphurcontaining compounds, and the carbonyl metabolites 2-heptanone and 5-hepten-2-one.

Studies on both trained and untrained mice show that mice prefer to mate with individuals with different MHC alleles, and that this is mediated by odour (Carroll et al. 2002; Spehr et al. 2006), providing a mechanism by which inbreeding can be avoided (Penn 2002). Willse et al. (2005) found that there were quantitative differences in the key pheromones (including 2,5-dimethylpyrazine and SBT) contained in the urine of two inbred strains of mice that differed only in their MHC gene composition.

The MHC of the Norway rat, Rt1, has been used as a model for MHC studies (Günthe & Walter 2001). Like mice, rats can distinguish kin from non-kin based on odours determined by the MHC (Hepper 1987; Thom et al. 2008). For instance, Zhang & Zhang (2011) found that female Norway rats of two different strains determined their preference to investigate male urine based on the ratios of the genetically determined volatiles heptan-2-one, heptan-4-one, dimethyl sulphone and 4-ethylphenol.

Both mothers and young mice can identify MHC odour types, allowing parent-progeny recognition (Yamazaki et al. 2000). The role of odours in the behavioural bonds between parents and offspring was reviewed by Corona & Lévy (2015).

However, the extent to which the MHC is involved in individual odour recognition remains controversial. While Schaefer et al. (2001) demonstrated that MHC-controlled odorants in mouse urine maintain spatial patterns that could act as 'an olfactory fingerprint', Hurst et al. (2005, p. 715) strongly argued that 'MHC odours are not required or sufficient for recognition of individual scent owners'; and Sherborne et al. (2007) agreed that in wild mice the reluctance to mate with mice of the same MUP haplotype was adequate to act as an inbreeding avoidance mechanism without evoking an MHC-controlled mechanism. Moreover, MHC-associated odours are affected by diet, indicating that they do not hold key information about the scent marker. Consequently, Overath et al. (2014, p. 2440) favoured the view that 'sensing the gestalt of the urinary peptidome as well as variability in MUPs and volatiles provides enough critical information for individual recognition without the requirement for the apparently minute MHCdependent differences'. There may also be an interplay between MHC genes and 'background' genes, and the MUPs may moderate the effect of the MHC (Willse et al. 2006; Novotny et al. 2007; Kwak et al. 2010), with recent findings by Sturm et al. (2013, p.3) that 'a bona fide MHC peptide ligand exists in [mouse] urine in an MHC-dependent manner at biologically relevant concentrations' strengthening the case for such a complex peptide/MUP scenario.

4. Development of pheromone lures for predator control

It is unlikely that any single 'magic bullet' will be found that will act as a super-attractant for all pest mammals, because of the wide variations in olfactory responses outlined above. Indeed, even attracting all individuals of one species is a major challenge. Thus, certain blends of compounds at particular concentrations may need to be formulated that are effective for most individuals. Nielsen et al. (2011) suggested that the dilution-dependent response of male rats to carboxylic acids in female rat faeces might indicate that the ratios between compounds are important. Furthermore, Zhang et al. (2008a) noted that the main sex pheromones of male Norway rats did not produce the same degree of attraction to females as whole-urine samples, indicating that the minor components might also play a role. There may also be synergistic effects among scent components, e.g. the combination of SBT and DEB as a sex attractant from male mouse urine (Jemiolo et al. 1985), as well as concentration-dependent effects (He et al. 2010).

However, Apps (2013, p. 487) noted that 'There is scant support for the view that mammal semiochemicals code signals as specific ratios between compounds, and no evidence that they depend upon a Gestalt or a chemical image'. Since concentrations of pheromones in urine, for example, can vary with time of day, between individuals, and with diet, stress and gut microbial contents and urine age (Bollard et al. 2001; Kwak et al. 2013), presumably animals have evolved to respond to these chemical signals at various concentrations and will be able to gather information from that variability in the signals. Their responses will also depend on their experience with the odours, with learned behaviour being an important component of semiochemical communication (Jemiolo et al. 1991; Moncho-Bogani et al. 2002). This learned association of volatile pheromones with their non-volatile associates (Martínez-García et al. 2008) may be a limiting factor for the application of some semiochemicals in pest control, as it signifies a very complex chemical and behavioural interplay. Semiochemicals can also condition attractiveness to other odorants (Lanuza et al. 2014).

To complicate things further, semiochemicals tend to have multiple roles in mammals. For example, sex attractants for females may induce fear/aggression in males; and similarly, E,E- α -farnesene and E- β -farnesene are attractive to female mice (Jemiolo et al. 1991) but are avoided by male mice (Novotny et al. 1990) and also act as puberty-delaying pheromones (Jemiolo et al. 1992).

There are also cross-species complications, as the farnesenes, squalene and various other compounds are produced not only by rodents, but also by a range of other taxa (Novotny 2003; Novotny & Soini 2008). For instance, 2-heptanone is a sex attractant for mice and rats but acts as a deterrent in honey bee behaviour (Balderrama et al. 2002), and also occurs in ferret urine (Zhang et al. 2005); and alarm pheromones of rodents may make good predator attractants but may deter other rats. Similarly, there may also be issues with using carnivore sex attractants, as they may induce stress/alarm responses in rodents.

4.1 Are pheromone-based lures likely to be effective in traps or baits?

Studies to date have had contradictory findings with regard to this question. Female mice are attracted to traps by DEB and SBT (Musso et al. 2017). Shumake et al. (2002) found that neither urine nor preputial gland extracts increased bait preference by laboratory rats, whereas Selvaraj & Archunan (2002b, 2006) found that when a mixture of preputial gland with or without cheek gland extracts was mixed into poison bait there was an increased consumption of zinc-phosphide and a high subsequent mortality of female Norway and ship rats. Urine did not have as marked

an effect as the preputial gland extract, but it was more effective than the cheek gland extract on its own. It is possible that rather than acting as attractants, these extracts actually had a toxin-masking effect, which is another useful role for semiochemicals in pest control (Archunan & Achiraman 2006). By contrast, Murphy et al. (2014) found that urine and scats from female Norway rats were attractive to both male and female Norway rats, and Gsell et al. (2014) and Shapira et al. (2013b,c) demonstrated that the use of live Norway rats or their bedding increased the probability of detecting wild rats. Parsons et al. (2015) used soiled Norway rat bedding material to attract both male and female urban Norway rats to traps.

For pheromones to be effective, they must attract a sufficiently high proportion of the population either to affect abundance directly or to affect breeding success indirectly (Wyatt 2003). A limiting factor here may be that pheromones often only attract one sex, limiting the potential of developing sex lures for rats – for example, Bull (1972) pointed out that it is the male that is attracted to the oestrous female rather than the other way around, but it is the number of reproductive females that determines the future Norway rat population, not the number of sexually active males.

Moreover, some sex pheromones attract females but elicit aggressive responses in males, e.g. SBT, DHB, 3-amino-s-triazole, 4-ethylphenol and 3-ethyl-2,7-dimethyl octane in mice (Novotny et al. 1985; Achiraman & Archunan 2002a). And while E,E- α and E- β -farnesene are attractive to female mice, they indicate the dominance status of male mice and so deter investigation by subordinate males (Novotny et al. 1990). This could be a disadvantage if some males initially avoid these scents, but could also be advantageous if it induces sniffing and biting behaviours (Novotny et al. 1985).

Responses to pheromones are also affected by the age and hormonal state of the animals perceiving them. For example, darcin is generally attractive to postpubertal female mice (Mucignat-Caretta et al. 1998), but is not attractive to prepubertal or lactating females (Mucignat-Caretta et al. 1998; Martín-Sánchez et al. 2015). These endocrinological factors may limit the broad application of pheromones as lures for mammals. Different genetic strains of rodents also have different scents (e.g. *Mus musculus domesticus v. M. musculus musculus*; Bímová et al. 2009), which may have implications for lure development. So would a lure developed overseas work in New Zealand? The finding that females prefer the scent of genetically different males may work in our favour, but it may be better to look for compounds that do not have a genetic distinction.

4.2 Can we find olfactory lures that will work across all rodent and/or mustelid pests?

Trimethylamine is a major component of the urine of both mouse subspecies, but it is repellent to Norway rats (Li et al. 2013). This may be because it is also a major component of the anal sac secretions of canids (Preti et al. 1976). Mice and rats do share some urinary volatiles, however, which suggests that there is potential for the discovery of a general rodent attractant. For instance, $E,E-\alpha$ and $E-\beta$ -farnesene are attractive to both female mice (Jemiolo et al. 1991) and female Norway rats (Ponmanickam et al. 2010). Farnesenes are also found in hops (Sharpe & Laws 1981), possibly explaining the folk knowledge that beer is a good attractant for mice. However, high concentrations of farnesenes may be needed to attract female mice if used on their own (Jemiolo et al. 1991). Since most of the known rat pheromones are from Norway rats, much more information is needed on the semiochemicals of ship rats before conclusions can be drawn on the generality of using rat scents, particularly since Shapira et al. (2013b) showed that ship rats are not attracted to live Norway rats, indicating differences in the scents of the two species

Mustelids share several anal gland compounds. For example, mustelane is common to stoats, ferrets, European polecats (*M. putorius*), steppe polecats (*M. eversmanni admirata*), mink (*M. vison*) and Siberian weasels (*M. sibirica fortanieri*) (Schildknecht et al. 1976; Crump 1980a;

Brinck et al. 1983; Zhang et al. 2002, p. 734). Likewise, o-aminoacetophenone is found in most of these species and has been described as a 'strong weasel smell compound' (Zhang et al. 2005). Thus, it may be possible to find a general mustelid odour that is attractive to stoats, ferrets and weasels. Clapperton (1985) found that although ferrets initially chose male ferret odour over male weasel odour in a laboratory bioassay, and the four males tested all spent more time investigating the ferret odour, three of the four females spent more time at the weasel odour; and Harrington et al. (2009) found that mink responded to the odours of European polecats in the same way as to the odours of conspecifics.

Garvey et al. (2016, 2017) found that stoats spent an increased amount of time investigating an area when it was lured with ferret body odour and argued that predators can benefit from such a 'cautious inspection' of competitor scents by reducing the energetic costs of foraging, possibly informing them about the time since the other predator was present (Bytheway et al. 2013). Alternatively, it may mean that a general mustelid smell is the source of the attractive bedding scent. Either way, this suggests that a general 'mustelid' lure may be feasible. However, Erlinge & Sandell (1988) found that weasels were caught in traps containing stoat odour less frequently than those that smelled of weasel. While 2-propylthietane has shown promise as the basis of a lure for both male and female ferrets, it is less effective as a trap lure for stoats (Clapperton et al. 1994b). Furthermore, natural product lures are more successful than single-compound synthetic lures for both species (Clapperton et al. 1989, 1994b, 1999). More complex combinations of anal gland components may, however, have potential as general mustelid lures, as could the components of stoat and ferret body odours (Garvey et al. 2016; Murphy et al. 2014). Nor might such mustelid lures be repellent to rodents – Garvey et al. (2017) found that observation rates for wild ship rats did not vary between sites with and without ferret body odour lures. This may represent a form of risk assessment, which can be an important driver for a prey species to 'eavesdrop' on the scent communication of a predator (Garvey et al. 2016; Jones et al. 2016).

4.3 Could more effective lures be produced by combining volatiles with lipocalins/MUPs that are resistant to heating and desiccation?

The close biochemical association between pheromones and their protein carriers, and the enhanced neurological responses elicited by the combination of these high- and low-molecularweight components of urine (Yamaguchi et al. 2000; Tirindelli et al. 2009), suggest that it may be worth investigating the development of a lure containing both the volatile scent and its carrier. Scent marks of mammals typically include components with high molecular mass, like the rodent MUPs (Gosling & Roberts 2001). The fact that MUPs extend the life of mouse scent marks also makes them potential components of scent lures. Indeed, Hurst & Beynon (2004: fig. 4) even suggested that in the absence of MUPs, male mouse urinary volatiles stimulate caution and other males will be hesitant to contact the scent. The finding that both male and female mice use MUPs (Stopka et al. 2007) indicates that lures containing MUPs could be attractive to both sexes. Pheromone traps for rodents are under investigation for rodent pest management - Kamalakkannan et al. (2006) suggested that 20-kDa proteins (i.e. MUPs), which bind with pheromonal ligands in rat preputial gland secretions could be used in the development of pheromonal traps, and Rajesh et al. (2016) have suggested that genetic mutation of the oestrus urinary lipocalin protein that occurs at particular high concentrations in female rat urine, could create a long-lasting carrier of the sex attractant farnesol.

4.4 Can rodent pheromones be used to attract predators as well as other rodents?

Prey odours are known attractants for predators (Hughes et al. 2010). It is possible that a general 'rodent' smell would be more effective than specific mouse or rat pheromones in attracting predators rather than conspecifics. The 'mousy' smell feature of the ligand–MUP complex in mice, which demonstrates their species-specificity (Logan et al. 2008), may also be a key feature for attracting predators, and aliphatic aldehydes are prominent in both the body odour and urine, making them potential candidates (Röck et al. 2006).

The use of mouse and rat odour as a stoat lure has been investigated. Clapperton et al. (2006) found that the odour of dead rat induced long periods of interest by some captive stoats. A PVC matrix containing 'ratty' odours (pyrazine, 2-ethyl pyrazine, 2-ethyl-3-methyl pyrazine and m-cresol) was attractive to stoats (Byrom et al. 2003). Burns et al. (2000) had some success with using freeze-dried rats as baits in stoat traps. Freeze-dried mice and rats also elicited responses by captive stoats (Byrom et al. 2003; Clapperton et al. 2006), despite these not containing the key 'ratty' volatile compounds (Byrom et al. 2003). These findings suggest that further work is needed to determine the specific odour components that attract predators to rodents. A promising recent development is the discovery of Zhang et al. (2016) that urine and bedding from Norway rats with elevated amounts of the male pheromones 4-heptanone, 2-heptanone and 9-hydroxy-2-nonanone elicited more investigative behaviour by cats than materials from rats with lower pheromone concentrations.

4.5 Do rodent alarm pheromones have any potential as lures?

Alarm pheromones of Norway rats increase sniffing and investigative behaviours in other rats (Kikusui et al. 2001; Kiyokawa et al. 2004a, 2005), but can also induce escape behaviours (Kiyokawa et al. 2006). Zalaquett & Thiessen (1991) observed that such an apparent dichotomy in response depended upon the behavioural opportunities available to their subject mice. The similarity between mouse alarm pheromones and compounds in mustelid anal sac secretions (Brechbühl et al. 2013) suggests that stoats and ferrets may well be 'tuned-in' to responding to these odours, indicating that these could be used as carnivore attractants.

Cross-species attraction may not be limited to predator-prey systems. For instance, the insect pheromone Z-7-dodecen-1-yl acetate has also been identified from the Asian elephant (*Elephas maximus*; Rasmussen et al. 1996) and so has received some attention as a potential general semiochemical attractant. However, the results of trials on feral goats (*Capra hircus*) and rats proved disappointing (Veltman et al. 2002; Gould et al. 2007).

4.6 Pheromones and live lures

Pheromones may be the basis for the success of the use of live animals as trap lures. Shapira et al. (2013b,c) demonstrated the potential for using laboratory rats as lures to detect wild Norway rats. Shapira et al. (2013a) recommended the use of laboratory-bred mice as lures for trapping wild mice, as wild mice were equally attracted to familiar and unfamiliar mice, and wild v. laboratory mice. In addition, the diet that was fed to the lure mice also influenced their attractiveness, with mice being more attracted to the urine of individuals that had been fed a high protein diet, implying that this may be involved in the key role of urine MUPs in scent communication in mice.

However, although this could be a useful technique in some situations, the restrictions on using captive live animals (e.g. visiting the captive animals daily) makes this impractical over large areas or for long-term deployment. For instance, when this technique was suggested in response to a rat incursion on Mana Island, there was a delay before the animals could be deployed, as iwi

consultation was needed (Brown et al. 2012). In addition, biosecurity concerns were also raised, as was the difficulty of caring for the captive rats on the island by field staff. Shapira (2014) summarised these issues and provided guidelines for the use of live rodent lures.

4.7 Commercialisation

Despite the potential for developing pheromone lures, few commercial products appear to have been brought to market, even for worldwide pest species. While CS₂ is both attractive and capable of increasing bait acceptance to Norway rats (Shumake & Hakim 2000; Shumake et al. 2002) and to ship rats (Parshad 2002; Veer et al. 2002), CS₂ rated behind a range of food-based attractants in pen trials on wild Norway rats (Witmer et al. 2008), and Koehler et al. (1994) found that CS₂ in a stable starch xanthate matrix had limited success as an attractant to Norway rats, ship, rats and Polynesian rats (*R. exulans*, kiore).

Farnesol from the preputial glands of ship rats is currently under investigation as a rat attractant for use in pest control in India, with Archunan (2013) noting that it was 'a promising candidate to develop "Biotrap" for rat pest'. The Norway rat pheromone blend reported by Takács et al. (2016) has also been combined with food odours and rat-pup sounds in a 'Stimulating new formula' (www.cbc.ca/news/technology/brown-rat-sexy-bait-1.3530170). However, one proprietary rodent-scented lure that included MUPs proved to be less attractive to stoats than minced rabbit meat (Montague 2002).

Robinson & Copson (2014) reported on use of the commercial cat pheromone Feliway® (Virbac, Peakhurst, NSW, Australia) for trapping cats on Macquarie Island. However, they did not provide any information on its relative success compared with other attractants. This product is a synthesised FFP that helps to reduce stress (http://www.feliway.com/nz/FELIWAY/The-Science-Behind-Feliway)(www.virbac.co.nz/; accessed 26 March 2017). Felinine would also appear to be a promising cat lure because of its stability except at very high temperatures (Rutherfurd et al. 2004); however, it is the breakdown products of felinine that produce the strong tom cat odour rather than felinine itself (Joulain & Laurent 1989) – although Rutherfurd et al. (2004) did find that synthetic felinine solution had a strong catty odour. Pen and field trials are yet to confirm that scent-based lures are more effective at luring cats then food-based lures (Edwards et al. 1997; Short et al. 2002). Furthermore, the potential for cat pheromone lures may be limited to certain times of the year and periods when prey species are abundant so food-based lures are less attractive.

Mustelid lures consisting of compounds in the anal sac secretions encased in a long-life, slow-release matrix have shown promise in the field (Clapperton et al. 1989, 1994b, 1999; Spurr et al. 2004), but there has been no reported progress in commercialising these lures. Initial trials used high concentrations of semiochemicals and simple choice-style bioassay techniques. However, direct observations of mustelid investigation of scent marks suggest that they, like other mammals, investigate scents that are imperceptible to the human nose (BKC, pers. obs.). Jackson et al. (2016b) found that there was an inverse relationship between food-based lure concentrations and attractiveness to rats in a concentration range of 0.01 to 10,000 ppm, suggesting that some of the earlier lure candidates should be re-assessed using lower concentrations. However, trials by Spurr et al. (2004) indicated that both male and female ferrets responded in a positive dose-dependent manner to increasing concentrations of female anal sac scents within the range of 0.1% to 2%. An expanded range of identified anal sac compounds and urine volatiles is now available for testing.

Another limitation in producing effective commercial lures could be the availability of suitable long-life matrices. The practical use of pheromones will require the development of slow-release systems. The original plastic rope (PheroTech Inc., Canada) used by Clapperton et al. (1994b) was unavailable in New Zealand, so later trials (Clapperton et al. 1999; Spurr et al. 2004) used the casein-based material Albert® (University of Otago, Dunedin). However, polyethylene 'twist ties', sachets

and vials are now widely available. Pheromones have been used in insect pest control for decades, and matrices and encapsulation techniques have been developed for insect pheromone applications e.g., natural rubber septa (West Pharmaceuticals Services Inc., PA, USA), styrene-butadiene rubber (Skellerup Industries Ltd, New Zealand), and the wax-based SPLAT® (ISCA Technologies, California, USA). Such rubber matrices can be matched to the chemical structure of the pheromones to achieve the necessary binding of the lure into the carrier (A. Twidle, PFR, Lincoln, New Zealand, pers. comm.). Aerosol sprays can be used to release bursts of fresh lure at timed intervals. Although these can be expensive (Suckling et al. 2007), suitable programming can maximise efficiency (McGhee et al. 2016). Solid plastics such as those used in 'Nara® Bloc' (Futura, Germany) may be suitable for the deployment of carnivore and rodent semiochemicals, and Connovation Ltd also produce a 'Solid State' lure block. A recent review by Heuskin et al. (2011) covered many of the practical issues associated with dispensing semiochemicals into the environment.

As discussed above (Section 4), there is debate over to what extent it is necessary to ensure that the released lure maintains a consistent chemical signature. For instance, can MUPs with a naturally slow volatile pheromone release be utilised, or will the varying responses of mammals to the relative concentrations of MUPs and volatiles affect their responses to lures of different ages? They may avoid close contact with a 'fresh' lure if it indicates the odour of a dominant territory holder, approach more closely an aging odour source to determine its chemical message, and to determine when the scent was laid and thus the risk of an encounter with the presumed scent marker (Gosling & Roberts 2001). They may ignore a scent that is so old that it holds little communication value.

Finally, combining scent with other stimuli should be investigated to create multisensory baits (Robbins et al. 2007). The new technology of 3D printing may prove useful in producing realistic prey-shaped baits that could act as visual lures combined with pheromonal lures. Acoustic lures and mechanisms to create moving baits should also be investigated, as mustelids and cats rely on prey sounds and movement as triggers for prey location and attack behaviour (Fitzgerald & Turner 2000; King 2005).

Lure cost may be another limitation to the use of mammalian pheromones. While some of the rodent pheromones can be synthesised (Tashiro et al. 2008), Wyatt (2003, p. 268) noted that 'The specificity of pheromones, which is their strength for minimal impact, is a commercial disadvantage', indicating that there are economic barriers for the widespread use of pheromones in pest control. Thus, although there may be a worldwide market for rat and mouse lures (Gilbert & Firestein 2002), the development of lures for ferrets, stoats and possums, which are New Zealand-specific pests, may be less cost-effective.

5. Additional applications

5.1 Behaviour modifiers

Some pheromones induce touching, licking and chewing responses. Therefore, these could be utilised to increase the sampling of toxic baits, or immunocontraception or chemosterilisation delivery systems, which require licking and/or chewing and absorption in the buccal cavity or gut – delivery is one of the major hurdles in implementing these control strategies (Hygnstrom et al. 1994; Barlow 2000; Fagerstone et al. 2002).

The mouse urine pheromone 1I2MU can elicit licking and grooming responses, as well as approach and sniffing behaviours (Achiraman et al. 2010a), and so may enhance bait take. Similarly, the licking response of mother rats in the presence of dodecyl propionate, which is secreted by pups, has been well established (Brouette-Lahlou et al. 1991a,b; Lévy et al. 2004), but there has been no application of this compound in bait formulations. Recent findings that lipocalin α_{2u} -globulin may be involved in carrying this pheromone or even eliciting the response (Ponmanickam et al. 2009) indicates once again that the MUP may be an important part of a behaviour-modifying pheromonal biocontrol agent. One limitation appears to be that while pup odours elicit positive responses from female rats during parturition and lactation, they find the odour of young rats aversive outside these periods. However, this could be overcome by infusing the accessory olfactory bulb with the gamma-aminobutyric acid type A antagonist bicuculline (Carretero et al. 2003) – although other work attempting to utilise gamma-aminobutyric acid as a pest attractant has not met with much success to date (Veltman et al. 2002).

Volatiles can be detected and responded to at a distance, avoiding the need for close contact (Hurst & Beynon 2004). Therefore, the incorporation of MUPs into bait formulations as well as volatiles may be a useful strategy to increase physical contact with baits, as these elicit close investigation. For example, a combination of farnesol and $\alpha_{2\mu}$ -globulin may produce a long-lasting attractant for rats that also induces bait contact.

It is also possible that calming pheromones could be used to modify behaviour to increase trap entrance rates. Not only does FFP make cats calmer, but it may also increase their interest in food and grooming (Griffith et al. 2000, cited in Frank et al. 2010), suggesting its potential as a bait additive for toxins that must be either consumed or licked. Grooming by pests is currently being investigated as a behavioural strategy for increasing poison consumption (Read 2010; Blackie et al. 2014; Murphy et al. 2014; Read et al. 2014, 2015), and so FFP, which is available in a synthetic form, may be worth assessing as a lure to be used in combination with para-aminopropiophenone gel in grooming traps for cats. Nouvel et al. (2013) also described a pheromone mix that is designed to reduce stress and anxiety in domestic, farm and zoo animals, including cats. This mix has a basic pheromone composition of \geq 30% squalene, \geq 10% linoleic acid and \geq 1% 1-docosanol (behenyl alcohol or docosyl alcohol), and can also include cholesterol or a mixture of additional fatty acids.

The stress-reducing cat facial F3 pheromone is marketed as Feliway® (Beck 2013), while F4, which is used to reduce aggression, is available as Felifriend® (Pageat & Cozzi 2011). The scratching-inducing pheromone FIS is also available as a commercial, synthetic product known as ScratchyLicious® (Pageat et al. 2009). This could potentially be used to encourage cats to access poison bait packages that are designed to be safe for non-target species.

5.2 Monitoring of populations and incursions

Pest control often involves monitoring the target populations or detecting island invaders, which can be done by detecting scent marks. For instance, the relative abundance of otter (Lutra lutra) populations is monitored by counting faecal spraints (Hutchings & White 2000), and conspicuous beaver (Castor canadensis) spraints and urine marks in snow can also be counted (Müller-Schwarze 1990, cited in Wyatt 2003). However, these systems require visual rather than olfactory signals to be detected. If we could develop smarter technologies for detecting odorous materials in the environment, it may be possible to detect the presence of pest mammals by the scents they leave on surfaces. Such systems are already in place for assessing pollution (Lin et al. 2000; Yuwono & Schulze Lammers 2004) and in forensics (Baldisserra et al. 2005), through the use of electronic noses or detection dogs (Williams & Johnston 2002; Wasilewski et al. 2017). It is also possible that the longer-lasting non-volatile odour-binding proteins that carry the pheromones (Hurst et al. 1998) might be more detectable and useful for an environmental chemical detection system (Tuccori 2014). A better understanding of how pheromones and their carriers are detected by the vomeronasal organ (Leinders-Zufall et al. 2000; Luo & Katz 2004; Kannan et al. 2011) may help to inform designers of such odour detection systems. Kralicek et al. (2017) have suggested a system by which volatile or water-borne chemicals released by predators could be detected in the environment by biosensors and relayed by wireless devices to inform wildlife managers of pest incursions.

5.3 Mating disruption

The widespread distribution of pheromones is used to control insect pests by making it difficult for males to locate females because they cannot follow a single pheromonal plume (Cardé & Minks 1995). This approach is unlikely to be as successful in the control of pest mammals because of the complexity of mammalian behaviour, including the responses to odours. However, there may be more subtle ways of using pheromones to interfere with the breeding success of mammals (Archunan & Achiraman 2006).

It may be possible to manipulate female reproductive abilities via interference with pheromone communications, e.g. by utilising the pregnancy-blocking, or Bruce effect, of compounds in mouse urine (Bruce 1959) or other primer pheromones (Koyama 2004). Male pheromones can affect implantation rates in female mice (Marchlewska-Koj et al. 1980), with females learning the profile of the scent of the stud male mouse and prolonged overriding of this scent with that of another male preventing implantation of the embryo (Thomas & Dominic 1987). Low-molecular-weight volatiles (but not high-molecular-weight MUPs) appear to play an important role in this pheromonal effect (Peele et al. 2003). Thompson et al. (2013) also demonstrated the pregnancy-blocking power of extracts of unfamiliar male urine and saliva with or without the MHC class I (H2d haplotype) peptide in laboratory mice. However, pregnancy blocking has not been demonstrated in wild mice and this effect requires high concentrations of pheromones if they are not bound to proteins (Peele et al. 2003; Thom & Hurst 2004), indicating that it would have limited field application. Moreover, no such pregnancy-blocking pheromone has been described from rat urine.

In mice, SBT, DHB and 2-heptanone are involved in control of the oestrous cycle, all of which can be synthetically produced (Leinders-Zufall et al. 2000; Novotny 2003). However, whether these could be used, for example, to induce ovulation out of season to interfere with the normal timing of reproduction, has not yet been explored. SBT and DHB also potentiate aggression in male mice (Novotny et al. 1985, 2003), so the use of these compounds as biocontrol agents could have multiple effects. In addition, MUPs from male mice influence ovulation in female mice (Morè 2006), but no one has looked at how we could use this knowledge to block ovulation.

It may also be possible to manipulate the sexual behaviour of male rodents. For instance, a broadcast odour of a mixture of common carboxyl acids (Nielsen et al. 2011) or faeces from various mammals (Rampin et al. 2006) or oestrous female scent (Sachs 1997) could be used to alter the penile-erection response of rats – although a pheromone that inhibits such behaviour may be more useful! Ferrero et al. (2013, p. 368) described an exocrine-gland secreting peptide 22 (ESP22) from juvenile mice that has a 'powerful inhibiting effect on adult male mating behaviour' and Kobayashi et al. (2011) showed that rat alarm pheromone collected from the perianal region of male rats can interfere with male mating behaviour, extending the time to successful ejaculation.

5.4 Pheromones and biological control

The interplay between the use of odours for social recognition and the disease status of individuals could be explored from the perspective of pest control. Mice not only detect conspecifics suffering from infectious diseases based on their social odours, but also use this information in mate choice (Penn & Potts 1998b; Penn et al. 1998; Beauchamp & Yamazaki 2003; Lopes & König 2016). Similarly, rodents select mates that are not infected by parasites (Kavaliers et al. 2003a,b, 2005; Zala et al. 2004; Gerlinskaya et al. 2012). Lanuza et al. (2014) reported that the attractiveness of the mouse pheromone darcin is lost from the urine of male mice infected with the nematode *Aspiculuris tetraptera*. It is not known whether this is due to other scents overriding the scent of the pheromone or some other mechanism causing the darcin to become undetectable.

It may also be possible that non-toxic, environmentally friendly biocontrol systems could be developed to allow baits including pheromonal precursors or blocking compounds that code for 'infected' or 'uninfected' to be distributed. The aim here could be either to reduce breeding success or, conversely, to enhance the use of parasites or diseases as biocontrol agents.

6. Conclusions

A literature search on the pheromones of rodents, carnivores and marsupials revealed that we know a great deal about mice and a reasonable amount about Norway rats, but relatively little about the other key mammalian predator species in New Zealand. It is not by chance that most available information is on laboratory-bred strains of animals used in model systems for human health and fundamental biochemical research.

While insect pheromone systems exhibit simple chemical-response interfaces, the semiochemicals utilised by mammals tend to have multiple roles. Furthermore, different species can respond differently to the same compounds, with semiochemicals that attract one species potentially deterring another, limiting their usefulness in a multispecies approach to pest management. However, closely related species may be attracted to a 'common' scent. The responses of predators to each other's odours suggest that a general synthetic 'mustelid' lure could be developed with increased knowledge of the composition and responses to mustelid urine, body and anal sac odours. Therefore, determining what role these pheromones will play when employed as biocontrol agents will be a challenging task. Moreover, mammalian pheromones often appear to be most attractive in combination rather than as single compound lures, with potential changes in responses resulting from aging of lures in the environment. Determining the effect of concentration of compounds will also be necessary to ensure that lures attract animals from afar but do not deter them when close to a control device. While live lure animals may be the ultimate source of pheromone attractants, there are limitations for their use.

It is also clear that MUPs could be key components of long-life lures for rodents and possibly other species, enticing animals to make direct contact with control devices. However, this would require a better understanding of the potential different roles of MUPs in rats and cats compared with the more thoroughly studied mice. The learned component of responses to pheromones and the role of MUPs in that learning suggest a complex system of responses to pheromones.

While research to date has allowed the development of new models of scent communication that integrate airborne and involatile compounds (Hurst 2009), there remains much to explore, even in terms of our understanding of the chemistry of scent communication. As Meinwald (2003) plaintively stated, 'Are we there yet?' – we think not. But at least the major challenge of progressing the research front from a fundamental knowledge of pheromone structure, neurobiology and behaviour to application in pest management has begun. Emerging technologies may help to solve the issues of creating cost-effective, long-life commercially feasible attractants and behavioural or physiological modifiers. To achieve New Zealand's vision to become predator free by 2050, new technologies will be needed and the development of long-lasting pheromone lures could be instrumental in helping to make this a reality.

7. Acknowledgements

We thank Nick Tucker and Andrew Twidle for useful discussions on this review, and the Plant & Food Research Knowledge Navigators for obtaining references. The Department of Conservation helped to fund this review, and Hussam Rassaq's time was funded by the New Zealand Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment (MBIE) under Contract LINX0902. Gary Witmer and Alastair Fairweather provided valuable feedback on a draft of this report.

8. Glossary

Pheromones

DEB 3,4-dehydro-exo-brevicomin
DHB 2,3-dehydro-exo-brevicomin
ESP exocrine-gland secreting peptide

FFP feline facial pheromone
1I2MU 1-iodo-2-methyl undecane
MUP major urinary protein

SBT 2-sec-butyl-4,5-dihydrothiazole

Neurological terms

MHC major histocompatibility complex

OR odorant receptor

TAAR trace amine-associated receptor

9. References

- Abe, T.; Touhara, K. 2014: Structure and function of a peptide pheromone family that stimulates the vomeronasal sensory system in mice. *Biochemical Society Transactions* 42: 873–877.
- Achiraman, S.; Archunan, G. 2002a: Characterization of urinary volatiles in Swiss mice (*Mus musculus*): bioassay of identified compounds. *Journal of Bioscience 27*: 679–686.
- Achiraman, S.; Archunan, G. 2002b: Urinary proteins and pheromonal communication in mammals. *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology* 40: 1077–1078.
- Achiraman, S.; Archunan, G. 2005: 3-Ethyl-2,7-dimethyl octane, a testosterone dependent unique urinary sex pheromone in male mouse (*Mus musculus*). *Animal Reproduction Science* 87: 151–161.
- Achiraman, S.; Archunan, G. 2006: 1-Iodo-2methylundecane, a putative estrus-specific urinary chemo-signal of female mouse (*Mus musculus*). Theriogenology 66: 1913–1920.
- Achiraman, S.; Archunan, G.; Abirami, B.; Kokilavani, P.; Suriyakalaa, U.; SankarGanesh, D.; Kamalakanna, S.; Kannan, S.; Habara, Y.; Sankar, R. 2011a: Increased squalene concentrations in the clitoral gland during the estrous cycle in rats: an estrus-indicating scent mark? *Theriogenology 76*: 1676–1683.
- Achiraman, S.; Archunan, G.; Ponmanickam, P.; Rameshkumar, K.; Kannan, S.; John, G. 2010a: 1-Iodo-2-methylundecane [1I2MU]: an estrogen-dependent urinary sex pheromone of female mice. *Theriogenology 74*: 345–353.
- Achiraman, S.; Archunan, G.; SankarGanesh, D.; Rajagopal, T.; Lakshminarayanan, R.; Kokilavani, P.; Kamalakkannan, S.; Kannan, S. 2011b: Biochemical analysis of female mice urine with reference to endocrine function: a key tool for estrus detection. *Zoological Science 28*: 600–605.
- Achiraman, S.; Ponmanickam, P.; Ganesh, D.S.; Archunan, G. 2010b: Detection of estrus by male mice: synergistic role of olfactory-vomeronasal system. *Neuroscience Letters* 477: 144–148.
- Alterio, N.; Moller, H. 1997: Diet of feral house cats *Felis catus*, ferrets *Mustela furo* and stoats *M. erminea* in grassland surrounding yellow-eyed penguin *Megadyptes antipodes* breeding areas, South Island, New Zealand. *Journal of Zoology 243*: 869–877.
- Andersen, K.F.; Vulpius, T. 1999: Urinary volatile constituents of the lion, Panthera leo. Chemical Senses 24: 179–189.
- Angel, A.; Wanless, R.M.; Cooper, J. 2009: Review of impacts of the introduced house mouse on islands in the Southern Ocean: are mice equivalent to rats? *Biological Invasions* 11: 1743–1754.
- Anon. 2013: Report for the New Zealand Shore Plover Recovery Group. Waikawa 2012–2013 season. Department of Conservation, New Zealand (unpublished; DOCDM-1220182). 52 p.

- Apps, P.J. 2013: Are mammal olfactory signals hiding right under our noses? Naturwissenschaften 100: 487–506.
- Apps, P.; Mmualefe, L.; Jordan, N.R.; Golabek, K.A.; McNutt, J.W. 2014: The "tomcat compound" 3-mercapto-3-methylbutanol occurs in the urine of free-ranging leopards but not in African lions or cheetahs. Biochemical Systematics and Ecology 53: 17–19.
- Apps, P.J.; Weldon, P.J.; Kramer, M. 2015: Chemical signals in terrestrial vertebrates: search for design features. *Natural Product Reports* 32: 1131–1153.
- Archunan, G. 2009: Vertebrate pheromones and their biological importance. *Journal of Experimental Zoology, India 12*: 227–239.
- Archunan, G.A. 2013: Pheromones in rodent and insect pest management. DBT Popular Lecture #3. Published online 30 January 2013 by Mnobilii.wordpress.com.
- Archunan, G.; Achiraman, S. 2006: Pheromones in rodent pest management. Pp. 365–386 in Sridhara, S. (Ed.): Vertebrate pests in agriculture the Indian scenario. Scientific Publishers, Jodhpur, India.
- Armstrong, S.D.; Robertson, D.H.L.; Cheetham, S.A.; Hurst, J.L.; Beynon, R.J. 2005: Structural and functional differences in isoforms of mouse major urinary proteins: a male-specific protein that preferentially binds a male pheromone. Biochemical Journal 391: 343–350.
- Arteaga, L.; Bautista, A.; González, D.; Hudson, R. 2013: Smell, suck, survive: chemical signals and suckling in the rabbit, cat, and dog. Chemical Signals in Vertebrates 12: 51–59.
- Bacchini, A.; Gaetani, E.; Cavaggion, A. 1992: Pheromone binding proteins of the mouse, *Mus musculus. Experimentia 48*: 419–421.
- Balderrama, N.; Núñez, J.; Guerrieri, F.; Giurfa, M. 2002: Different functions of two alarm substances in the honeybee. Journal of Comparative Physiology 188: 485–491.
- Baldisserra, D.; Franco, A.; Maio, D.; Maltoni, D. 2005: Fake fingerprint detection by odor analysis. *Advances in Biometrics Lecture Notes in Computer Science 3832*: 265–272.
- Barlow, N.D. 2000: The ecological challenge of immunocontraception: editor's introduction. *Journal of Applied Ecology 37*: 897–902.
- Baum, M.J. 2012: Contribution of pheromones processed by the main olfactory system to mate recognition in female mammals. Frontiers in Neuroanatomy 6: 34–43.
- Beauchamp, G.K.; Doty, R.L.; Moulton, D.G.; Mugford, R.A. 1976: The pheromone concept in mammalian chemical communication: a critique. Pp. 143–160 in Doty, R.L. (Ed.): Mammalian olfaction, reproductive processes and behavior. Academic Press, London, UK.
- Beauchamp, G.K.; Yamazaki, K. 2003: Chemical signalling in mice. Biochemical Society Transactions 31: 147-151.
- Beck, A. 2013: Use of pheromones to reduce stress in sheltered cats. Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery 15: 829-830.
- Bellingham, P.J.; Towns, D.R.; Cameron, E.K.; Davis, J.J.; Wardle, D.A.; Wilmshurst, J.M.; Mulder, C.P.H. 2010. New Zealand island restoration: seabirds, predators, and the importance of history. New Zealand Journal of Ecology 34: 115–136.
- Beny, Y.; Kimichi, T. 2014: Innate and learned aspects of pheromone-mediated social behaviours. *Animal Behaviour 97*: 301–311.
- Berzins, R.; Helder, R. 2008: Olfactory communication and the importance of different odour sources in the ferret (Mustela putorius f. furo). Mammalian Biology-Zeitschrift für Säugetierkunde 73: 379–387.
- Beynon, R.J.; Hurst, J.L. 2003: Multiple roles of major urinary proteins in the house mouse, *Mus domesticus*. *Biochemical Society Transactions* 31: 142–146.
- Beynon, R.L.; Hurst, J.L. 2004: Urinary proteins and the modulation of chemical scents in mice and rats. *Peptides 25*: 1553–1563.
- Beynon, R.J.; Hurst, J.L.; Gaskell, S.J.; Hubbard, S.J.; Humphries, R.E.; Malone, N.; Marie, A.D.; Martinsen, L.; Nevison, C.M.; Payne, C.E.; Robertson, D.H.L.; Veggerby, C. 2001: Mice, MUPs and myths: structure-function relationships of the major urinary proteins. *Chemical Signals in Vertebrates* 9: 149–156.
- Beynon, R.J.; Hurst, J.L.; Turton, M.J.; Robertson, D.H.L.; Armstrong, S.D.; Cheetham, S.A.; Simpson, D.; MacNicoll, A.; Humphries, R.E. 2008: Urinary lipocalins in Rodenta: is there a generic model? *Chemical Signals in Vertebrates 11*: 37–49.
- Bielski, I.F.; Young, L.J. 2004: Oxytocin, vasopressin, and social recognition in mammals. Peptides 25: 1565–1574.

- Bímová, B.; Albrecht, T.; Macholán, M.; Piálek, J. 2009: Signalling components of the house mouse mate recognition system. *Behavioural Processes* 80: 20–27.
- Birke, L.I.A.; Sadler, D. 1984: Scent-marking behaviour in response to conspecific odours by the rat, *Rattus norvegicus*.

 Animal Behaviour 32: 493–500.
- Blackie, H.M.; MacKay, J.W.; Allen, W.J.; Smith, D.H.V.; Barrett, B.; Whyte, B.I.; Murphy, E.C.; Ross, J.; Shapiro, L.; Ogilvie, S.; Sam, S.; MacMorran, D.; Inder, S.; Eason, C.T. 2014: Innovative developments for long-term mammalian pest control. *Pest Management Science* 70: 345–351.
- Blackie, H.; MacKay, J.; Barrett, B.; Inder, S.; MacMorran, D.; Bothwell, J.; Clout, M.; Eason, C. 2016: A novel device for controlling brushtail possums (*Trichosurus vulpecula*). New Zealand Journal of Ecology 40: 60–64.
- Bland, K.P. 1979: Tom-cat odour and other pheromones in feline reproduction. *Veterinary Science Communications 3*: 125–136.
- Bollard, M.E.; Holmes, E.; Lindon, J.C.; Mitchell, S.C.; Branstetter, D.; Zhang, W.; Nicholson, J.L. 2001: Investigations into biochemical changes due to diurnal variation and estrus cycle in female rats using high-resolution 1H NMR spectroscopy of urine and pattern recognition. *Analytical Biochemistry* 295: 194–202.
- Boyse, E.A.; Beauchamp, G.K.; Yamazaki, K. 1987: The genetics of body scent. Trends in Genetics 3: 97-102.
- Bradshaw, J.; Cameron-Beaumont, C. 2000: The signalling repertoire of the domestic cat and its undomesticated relatives. Pp. 67–93 in Turner, D.C.; Bateson, P. (Eds): The domestic cat. The biology of its behaviour. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Brahmachary, R.L.; Poddar-Sarkar, M. 2015: Fifty years of tiger pheromone research. Current Science 108: 2178-2185.
- Brechbühl, J.; Klaey, M.; Broillet, M.C. 2008: Gruenberg ganglion cells mediate alarm pheromone detection in mice. Science 321: 1092–1095.
- Brechbühl, J.; Moine, F.; Klaey, M.; Nenniger-Tosato, M.; Hurni, N.; Sporkert, F.; Giroud, C.; Broillet, M-C. 2013: Mouse alarm pheromone shares structural similarity with predator scents. *PNAS 11*: 4762–4767.
- Brennan, P.A. 2009: Outstanding issues surrounding vomeronasal mechanisms of pregnancy block and individual recognition in mice. *Behavioural Brain Research* 200: 287–294.
- Brennan, P.A.; Kendrick, K.M. 2006: Mammalian social odours: attraction and individual recognition. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B 361*: 2061–2078.
- Brennan, P.A.; Keverne, E.B. 2004: Something in the air? New insights into mammalian pheromones. *Current Biology 14*: R81–R89.
- Brennan, P.A.; Zufall, F. 2006: Pheromonal communication in vertebrates. Nature 444: 308-315.
- Brinck, C.; Erlinge, S.; Sandell, M. 1983: Anal sac secretions in mustelids a comparison. *Journal of Chemical Ecology 9*: 727–745.
- Brinck, C.; Gerell, R.; Odham, G. 1978: Anal pouch secretion in mink *Mustela vison*. Chemical communication in Mustelidae. *Oikos* 30: 68–75.
- Bronson, F.H.; Caroom, D.C. 1971: Preputial gland of the male mouse: attractant function. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility 25*: 279–282.
- Brouette-Lahlou, I.; Amouroux, R.; Chastrette, F.; Cosnier, J.; Stoffelsma, J.; Vernet-Maury, E. 1991a: Dodecyl propionate, attractant from rat pup preputial gland: characterization and identification. *Journal of Chemical Ecology 17*: 1343–1354.
- Brouette-Lahlou, I.; Vernet-Maury, E.; Chanel, J. 1991b: Is rat-dam licking behaviour regulated by pup preputial gland secretion? *Animal Learning & Behavior 19*: 177–184.
- Brown, J.C.; Williams, J.D. 1972: The rodent preputial gland. Mammal Review 2: 105–147.
- Brown, K.; Elliott, G.; Innes, J.; Kemp, J. 2015: Ship rat, stoat and possum control on mainland New Zealand: an overview of techniques, successes and challenges. Department of Conservation, Wellington, New Zealand. 36 p.
- Brown, K.; Giddy, C.; Broome, K. 2012: Mana Island rat incursion response summary report. Department of Conservation, New Zealand (unpublished).

29

- Brown, R.E. 1975: Object-directed urine-marking by male rats (Rattus norvegicus). Behavioral Biology 15: 251-254.
- Brown, R.E. 1979: Mammalian social odours: a critical review. Advances in the Study of Behavior 10: 103–162.
- Bruce, H.M. 1959: An exteroceptive block to pregnancy in the mouse. Nature 184: 105.

Science for Conservation 330

- Buck, L.B.; Bergman, C. 2012: Smell and taste: the chemical senses. Pp. 712–742 in Kandel, E.; Schwartz, J.; Jessell, T.; Segelbaum, S.; Hudspeth, A.J.; McGraw, A.J. (Eds): Principles in neuroscience 5th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York, USA
- Bull, J.O. 1972: The influence of attractants and repellents on the feeding behaviour of *Rattus norvegicus*. Pp. 154–160 in: Proceedings of the 5th Vertebrate Pest Conference, University of California, Davis, California, USA.
- Burger, B.V. 2005: Mammalian semiochemicals. Topics in Current Chemistry 240: 231-278.
- Burger, B.V.; Viviers, M.Z.; Bekker, J.P.I.; Le Roux, M.; Fish, N.; Fourie, W.B.; Weibchen, G. 2008: Chemical characterization of territorial marking fluid of male Bengal tiger, *Panthera tigris. Journal of Chemical Ecology* 34: 659–671.
- Burns, R.; Harrison, A.; Hudson, J.; Jones, G.; Rudolf, P.; Shaw, P.; Ward, C.; Wilson, D.; Wilson, L. 2000: Northern Te Urewera Ecosystem Restoration Project, summary annual report, July 1999 to June 2000. East Coast-Hawke's Bay Conservancy, Department of Conservation, New Zealand. 29 p.
- Byrom, A.E.; Spurr, E.B.; Airey, A.T.; Borkin, K.M.; O'Connor, C.E.; Forrester, G.J. 2003: Prey odours as lures for stoats. Landcare Research Contract Report: LC0304/024. Landcare Research, Wellington, New Zealand. 18 p.
- Bytheway, J.P.; Carthey, A.J.R.; Banks, P.B. 2013: Risk vs. reward: how predators and prey respond to aging olfactory cues. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 67: 715–725.
- Campbell, K.J.; Beek, J.; Eason, C.T.; Glen, A.S.; Godwin, F.; Gould, F.; Holmes, N.D.; Howald, G.R.; Madden, F.M.; Ponder, J.B.; Threadgill, D.W.; Wegmann, A.; Baxter, G.S. 2015: The next generation of rodent eradications: innovative technologies and tools to improve species specificity and increase their feasibility on islands. *Biological Conservation* 185: 47–58.
- Cardé, R.T.; Minks, A.K. 1995: Control of moth pests by mating disruption: successes and constraints. *Annual Review of Entomology* 40: 559–585.
- Carretero, M.; Segovia, S.; Gomez, F.; Del Cerro, M. 2003: Bicuculline infusion into the accessory olfactory bulb facilitates the induction of maternal behavior in rats. Scandinavian Journal of Psychology 44: 273–277.
- Carroll, L.S.; Penn, D.J.; Potts, W.K. 2002: Discrimination of MHC-derived odors by untrained mice is consistent with divergence in peptide-binding region residues. *PNAS* 99: 2187–2192.
- Carter, A.; Barr, S.; Bond, C.; Paske, G.; Peters, D.; van Dam, R. 2016: Controlling sympatric pest mammal populations in New Zealand with self-resetting, toxicant-free traps: a promising tool for invasive species management. *Biological Invasions* 18: 1723–1736.
- Cavaggioni, A.; Mucignat-Caretta, C. 2000: Major urinary proteins, alpha(2U)-globulins and aphrodisin. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1482*: 218–228.
- Cavaggioni, A.; Mucignat-Caretta, C.; Caretta, A. 2001: Differential responses elicited in male mice by MUP-borne odorants. *Chemical Signals in Vertebrates 9*: 165–167.
- Cavaggioni, A.; Mucignat-Caretta, C.; Redaelli, M. 2008: Mice recognize urine scent by the molecular composition. Chemical Senses 33: 655–663.
- Cavaggioni, A.; Mucignat-Caretta, C.; Redaelli, M.; Zagotto, G. 2006: The scent of urine spots of male mice, *Mus musculus*: changes in chemical composition over time. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* 20: 3741–3746.
- Cavaggioni, A.; Mucignat-Caretta, C.; Zagotto, G. 2003: Absolute configuration of 2-sec-butyl-4,5-dihydrothiazole in male mouse urine. Chemical Senses 28: 791–797.
- Cavaliere, R.M.; Ghirardi, F.; Tirindelli, R. 2014: Lacrimal gland removal impairs sexual behaviour in mice. Frontiers in Neuroanatomy 8: 101.
- Chamero, P.; Leinders-Zufall, T.; Zufall, F. 2012: From genes to social communication: molecular sensing by the vomeronasal organ. *Trends in Neurosciences* 35: 597–606.
- Chamero, P.; Marton, T.F.; Logan, D.W.; Flanagan, K.; Cruz, J.R.; Saghatelian, A.; Cravatt, B.F.; Stowers, L. 2007: Identification of protein pheromones that promote aggressive behaviour. *Nature* 450: 899–903.
- Chang, Y.M.; Kelliher, K.R.; Baum, M.J. 2000: Steroidal modulation of scent investigation and marking investigation and marking behaviors in male and female ferrets (*Mustela putorius*). Journal of Comparative Psychology 114: 401–407.
- Cheetham, S.A.; Thom, M.D.; Jury, F.; Ollier, W.E.R.; Beynon, R.J.; Hurst, J.L. 2007: The genetic basis of individual-recognition signals in the mouse. *Current Biology* 17: 1771–1777.
- Choleris, E.; Clipperton-Allen, A.E.; Phan, A.; Kavaliers, M. 2009: Neurocrinology of social information processing in rats and mice. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology* 30: 442–459.

- Christiansen, E. 1976: Pheromones in small rodents and their potential use in pest control. Pp. 185–195 in: Proceedings of the 7th Vertebrate Pest Conference, University of California, Davis, California, USA.
- Clapperton, B.K. 1985: Olfactory communication in the ferret (*Mustela furo* L.) and its application in wildlife management. Unpublished PhD thesis, Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand. 200 p.
- Clapperton, B.K. 1989: Scent-marking behaviour of the ferret, Mustela furo L. Animal Behaviour 38: 436-446.
- Clapperton, B.K.; Eason, C.T.; Weston, R.; Woolhouse, A.T. 1994a: Development and testing of attractants for feral cats (Felis catus L.). Wildlife Research 21: 389–399.
- Clapperton, B.K.; Fordham, R.A.; Sparksman, R.I. 1987: Preputial glands of the ferret *Mustela furo* (Carnivora: Mustelidae). *Journal of Zoology, London 212*: 356–361.
- Clapperton, B.K.; McLennan, J.A.; Woolhouse, A.D. 1999: Responses of stoats to scent lures in tracking tunnels.

 New Zealand Journal of Zoology 26: 175–178.
- Clapperton, B.K.; Minot, E.O.; Crump, D.R. 1988: An olfactory recognition system in the ferret *Mustela furo* L. (Carnivora: Mustelidae). *Animal Behaviour 36*: 541–553.
- Clapperton, B.K.; Minot, E.O.; Crump, D.R. 1989: Scent lures from anal sac secretions of the ferret *Mustela furo L. Journal of Chemical Ecology* 15: 291–308.
- Clapperton, B.K.; Phillipson, S.M.; Woolhouse, A.D. 1994b: Field trials of slow-release synthetic lures for stoats (*Mustela erminea*) and ferrets (*M. furo*). New Zealand Journal of Zoology 21: 279–284.
- Clapperton, B.K.; Robbins, L.; Porter, R.E.R.; Tallentire, K. 2006: Testing the attractiveness, palatability and longevity of stoat lure and bait formulations. *DOC Research & Development Series 241*. Department of Conservation, Wellington, New Zealand. 30 p.
- Clark, L.; Shah, P.S. 1991: Nonlethal bird repellents: in search of a general model relating repellency and chemical structure. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 55: 538–545.
- Clark, L.; Shah, P.S.; Mason, J.R. 1991: Chemical repellency in birds: relationship between chemical structure and avoidance response. *Journal of Experimental Zoology 260*: 310–322.
- Cloe, A.L.; Woodley, S.K.; Waters, P.; Zhou, H.; Baum, M.J. 2004: Contribution of anal scent gland and urinary odorants to mate recognition in the ferret. *Physiology & Behavior 82*: 871–875.
- Clout, M.N. 2006: Keystone aliens? The multiple impacts of brushtail possums. Pp. 265–280 in Allen, R.B.; Lee, W.G. (Eds): Biological Invasions in New Zealand. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Germany.
- Corona, R.; Lévy, F. 2015: Chemical olfactory signals and parenthood in mammals. Hormones and Behavior 68: 77–90.
- Cozzi, A.; Lafont Lecuelle, C.; Monneret, P.; Articlaux, F.; Bougrat, L.; Mengoli, M.; Pageat, P. 2013: Induction of scratching behaviour in cats: efficacy of synthetic feline interdigital semiochemical. *Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery* 15: 872–878.
- Crump, D.R. 1978: 2-Propylthietane, the major malodorous substance from the anal gland of the stoat (*Mustela erminea*). Tetrahedron Letters 19: 5233–5234.
- Crump, D.R. 1980a: Anal gland secretion of the ferret (Mustela putorius forma furo). Journal of Chemical Ecology 6: 837–844
- Crump, D.R. 1980b: Thietanes and dithiolanes from the anal gland of the stoat (*Mustela erminea*). Journal of Chemical Ecology 6: 341–347.
- Crump, D.R.; Moors, P.J. 1985: Anal gland secretions of the stoat (*Mustela erminea*) and the ferret (*Mustela putorius* forma furo). Some additional thietane components. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 11: 1037–1043.
- Dewan, A.; Pacifico, R.; Zhan, R.; Rinberg, D.; Bozza, T. 2013: Non-redundant coding of aversive odours in the main olfactory pathway. *Nature 497*: 486–489.
- Dey, S.; Zhan, S.; Matsunami, H. 2013: A protocol for heterologous expression and functional assay for mouse pheromone receptors. Pheromone Signaling. *Methods in Molecular Biology* 1068: 121–131.
- Dielenberg, R.A.; McGregor, I.S. 2001: Defensive behavior in rats towards predatory odors: a review. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 25*: 597–609.
- Dilks, P.J.; Towns D.R. 2002: Developing tools to detect and respond to rodent invasions of islands: workshop report and recommendations. DOC Science Internal Series 59. Department of Conservation, Wellington, New Zealand. 19 p.
- Doty, R.L. (Ed.) 1976: Mammalian olfaction, reproductive processes and behavior. Academic Press, London, UK. 356 p.
- Doty, R.L. 2010: The great pheromone myth. The John Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, USA. 97 p.

Science for Conservation 330 31

- Dowding, J.E.; O'Connor, S.M. 2013: Reducing the risk of extinction of a globally threatened shorebird: translocations of the shore plover (*Thinornis novaeseelandiae*), 1990–2012. *Notornis* 60: 70–84.
- Duckworth, J.; Brown, S.; Arrow, J. 2013: Sex pheromone attractants to improve the trapping and monitoring of mammal pests at low densities. *Kararehe Kino Vertebrate Pest Research 22*: 7–8.
- Duckworth, J.; Brown, S.; Twidle, A. 2016: Pheromone lures for improved trapping and detection efficiency of mammal pests. CBRE Workshop Abstract. New Lure, deterrent and bait technologies science to development, formulation and market. Centre for Biodiversity and Restoration Ecology, Wellington, New Zealand. 16 p.
- Dulac, C. 2000: Sensory coding of pheromone signals in mammals. Current Opinion in Neurobiology 10: 511-518.
- Dulac, C.; Torello, A.T. 2003: Molecular detection of pheromone signals in mammals: from genes to behaviour. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 4: 551–562.
- Dulac, C.; Wagner, S. 2006: Genetic analysis of brain circuits underlying pheromone signalling. *Annual Review of Genetics* 40: 449–467.
- Eason, C.T.; Miller, A.; MacMorran, D.B.; Murphy, E.C. 2014: Toxicology and ecotoxicology or para-aminopropiophenone (PAPP) a new predator control tool for stoats and feral cats in New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Ecology 38: 177–188.
- Eason, C.T.; Shapiro, L.; Murphy, E.; Ogilvie, S.; MacMorran, D.; Jackson, M.; Irie, K.; Inder, S.; Clout, M.; Rennison, D.; Brimble, M. 2016: Technology advances for vertebrate pest eradication. Pp. 390–395 in Timm, R.S.; Baldwin, R.A. (Eds): Proceedings of the 27th Vertebrate Pest Conference, University of Cakifornia, Davis, California, USA.
- Edwards, G.P.; Piddington, K.C.; Paltridge, R.M. 1997: Field evaluation of olfactory lures for feral cats (*Felis catus* L.) in central Australia. *Wildlife Research* 24: 173–183.
- El-Sayed, A.M. 2012: The Pherobase: database of pheromones and semiochemicals. Available at www.pherobase.com.
- Erlinge, S.; Sandell. M, 1988: Coexistence of stoat, *Mustela erminea*, and weasel, *M. nivalis*: social dominance, scent communication, and reciprocal distribution. *Oikos* 53: 242–246.
- Erlinge, S.; Sandell, M.; Brinck, C. 1982: Scent-marking and its territorial significance in stoats, *Mustela erminea*. *Animal Behaviour*.30: 811–818.
- Fagerstone. K.A.; Coffey, M.A.; Curtis, P.D.; Dolbeer, R.A.; Killen, G.J.; Miller, L.A.; Wilmot, L.M. 2002: Wildlife fertility control. *Technical Review 02-2*. The Wildlife Society, Maryland, USA. 29 p.
- Feldman, H.N. 1994: Methods of scent marking in the domestic cat. Canadian Journal of Zoology 72: 1093-1099.
- Ferguson, J.N.; Young, L.J.; Insel, T.R. 2002: The neuroendocrine basis of social recognition. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology* 23: 200–224.
- Ferkin, M.H. 2015: The responses of rodents to scent marks: four broad hypotheses. Hormones and Behavior 68: 43-52.
- Ferrero, D.; Moeller, L.M.; Osakada, T.; Horio, N.; Li, Q.; Roy, D.S.; Cichy, A.; Spehr, M.; Touhara, K.; Liberles, S.D. 2013: A juvenile mouse pheromone inhibits sexual behaviour through the vomeronasal system. *Nature* 502: 368–371.
- Fisher, P.; Algar, D.; Murphy, E.; Johnston, M.; Eason, C. 2014: How does cat behaviour influence the development and implementation of monitoring techniques and lethal control methods for feral cats? *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 173: 88–96.
- Fitzgerald, B.M.; Turner, D.C. 2000: Hunting behaviour of domestic cats and their impact on prey populations. Pp. 151–176 in Turner, D.C.; Bateson, P. (Eds): The domestic cat: the biology of its behaviour. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Flower, D.R. 1996: The lipocalin protein family: structure and function. The Biochemical Journal 318: 1-14.
- Frank, D.; Beauchamp, G.; Palestrini, C. 2010: Systematic review of the use of pheromones for treatment of undesirable behaviour in cats and dogs. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association* 236: 1308–1316.
- Gabor, C.S.; Phan, A.; Clipperton-Allen, A.E.; Choleris, E.; Kavaliers, M. 2012: Interplay of oxytocin, vasopressin, and sex hormones in the regulation of social recognition. *Behavioral Neurosciences* 126: 97–109.
- Galef, B.G. Jr. 1986a: Social identification of toxic diets by Norway rats (*R. norvegicus*). *Journal of Comparative Psychology* 100: 331–334.
- Galef, B.G. Jr. 1986b: Social interaction substantially modifies learned aversions, sodium appetite, and both palatability and handling-time induced dietary preference in rats (*R. norvegicus*). *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology* 100: 432–439.

- Galef, B.G. Jr. 1987: Social influences on the identification of toxic foods by Norway rats. *Animal Learning & Behavior 15*: 327–332.
- Galef, B.G. Jr 1991: Social factors in diet selection and poison avoidance by Norway rats: a brief review. Chemical Senses 4: 177–194.
- Galef, B.G. Jr. 1992: Olfactory communications about foods among rats: a review of recent findings. Pp. 83–101 in Galef, B.G. Jr.; Mainard, M.; Valsecchi, P. (Eds): Olfactory communication about food. Harvard Academic Publishers, Cur, Switzerland.
- Galef, B.G. Jr.; Mason, J.R.; Preti, G.; Bean, N.J. 1988: Carbon disulphide: a semiochemical mediating socially-induced diet choice in rats. *Physiology & Behavior 42*: 119–124.
- Ganem, G.; Rueff, C.; Perriat-Sanguinet, M. 2014: The genetic architecture of chemosensory cues involved in species recognition: a behavioural approach in the house mouse. *Behavior Genetics* 44: 56–67.
- Garvey, P.M.; Glen, A.S.; Clout, M.N.; Wyse, S.V.; Nichols, M.; Pech, R.P. 2017: Exploiting interspecific olfactory communication to monitor predators. *Ecological Applications* 27: 389–402.
- Garvey, P.M.; Glen, A.S.; Pech, R.P. 2016: Dominant predator odour triggers caution and eavesdropping behaviour in a mammalian mesopredator. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 70: 481–492.
- Gerlinskaya, L.A.; Shnayder, E.P.; Dotsenko, A.S.; Maslennikova, S.O.; Zavjalov, E.L.; Moshkin, M.P. 2012: Antigen-induced changes in odor attractiveness and reproductive output in male mice. *Brain, Behaviour, and Immunity 26*: 451–458.
- Gevaert, K.; Vandekerckhove, J. 2000: Protein identification methods in proteonomics. Electrophoresis 21: 1145-1154.
- Gilbert, A.N.; Firestein, S. 2002: Dollars and scents: commercial opportunities in olfaction and taste. *Nature Neuroscience Supplement 5*: 1043–1045.
- Gosling, L.M.; Roberts, S.C. 2001: Scent-marking by male mammals: cheat-proof signals to competitors and mates. Advances in the Study of Behavior 30: 169–217.
- Gould, E.M.; Holmes, S.J.; Tempero, G.W. 2007: The potential of an insect pheromone lure, Z-7-dodecen-1-yl acetate, compared with peanut butter to attract laboratory and wild rats and mice. New Zealand Journal of Zoology 34: 363–369.
- Grus, W.E.; Shi, P.; Zhang, Y.; Zhang, J. 2005: Dramatic variation of the vomeronasal pheromone receptor gene repertoire among five orders of placental mammals. *PNAS 102*: 5767–5772.
- Gsell, A.C.; Seabrook-Davison, M.N.; Brunton, D.H. 2014: Are wild rodents attracted to lure laboratory rats? *Pacific Conservation Biology* 20: 108–115.
- Günthe, E.; Walter, L. 2001: The major histocompatibility complex of the rat (Rattus norvegicus). Immunogenetics 53:
- Haga, S.; Hattori, T.; Sato, T.; Sato, K.; Matsuda, S.; Kobayakawa, R.; Sakano, H.; Yoshihara, Y.; Kikusui, T.; Touhara, K. 2010: The male mouse pheromone ESP1 enhances female sexual receptive behaviour through a specific vomeronasal receptor. *Nature* 466: 118–122.
- Halpin, Z.T. 1986: Individual odors among mammals, origins and function. Advances in the Study of Behavior 16: 39-70.
- Hanke, P.U.; Dickman, C.R. 2013: Sniffing out the stakes: hair-snares for wild cats in arid environments. Wildlife Research 40: 45–51.
- Harrington, L.A.; Harrington, A.L.; Macdonald, D.W. 2009: The smell of new competitors: the response of American mink, Mustela vison, to the odours of otter, Lutra lutra and polecat, M. putorius. Ethology 115: 421–428.
- He, J.; Ma, L.; Kim, S.; Schwartz, J.; Santilli, M.; Wood, C.; Dumin, M.H.; Yu, C.R. 2010: Distinct signals conveyed by pheromone concentrations to the mouse vomeronasal organ. *The Journal of Neuroscience* 30: 7473–7483.
- Hendriks, W.H.; Rutherfurd, S.M.; Rutherfurd, K.J. 2001: Importance of sulfate, cysteine and methionine as precursors to felinine synthesis by domestic cats (*Felis catus*). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 129C: 211–216.
- Hepper, P.G. 1987: The discrimination of different degrees of relatedness in the rat: evidence for a genetic identifier?

 Animal Behaviour 35: 549–554.
- Heuskin, S.; Verheggen, F.J.; Haubruge, E.; Wathelet, J-P.; Lognay, G. 2011: The use of semiochemical slow-release devices in integrated pest management strategies. *Biotechnology, Agronomy, Society and Environment* 15: 459–470.
- Hughes, N.K.; Price, C.J.; Banks, P. 2010: Predators are attracted to the olfactory signals of prey. *PLoS ONE 5*: e13114 .doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0013114.
- Hurst, J.L. 1986: Mating in free-living wild house mice (Mus domesticus). Journal of Zoology, London 210: 623-628.

- Hurst, J.L. 1990: Urine marking in populations of wild house mice *Mus domesticus* Rutty. I Communication between males. *Animal Behaviour* 40: 209–222.
- Hurst, J.L. 2009: Female recognition and assessment of males through scent. Behavioural Brain Research 200: 295–303.
- Hurst, R.L.; Beynon, R.J. 2004: Scent wars: the chemobiology of competitive signalling. BioEssays 26: 1288-1298.
- Hurst, J.L.; Beynon, R.L. 2013: Rodent urinary proteins: genetic identity signals and pheromones. *Chemical Signals in Vertebrates 12*: 117–133.
- Hurst, J.L.; Payne, C.E.; Nevison, C.M.; Marie, A.D.; Humphries, R.E.; Robertson, D.H.L.; Cavaggioni, A.; Beynon, R.J. 2001: Individual recognition in mice mediated by major urinary proteins. *Nature* 414: 631–634.
- Hurst, J.L.; Robertson, D.H.L.; Tolladay, U.; Beynon, R.J. 1998: Proteins in urine scent marks of male house mice extend the longevity of olfactory signals. *Animal Behaviour* 55: 1289–1297.
- Hurst, J.L.; Thom, M.D.; Nevison, C.M.; Humphries, R.E.; Beynon, R.J. 2005: MHC odours are not required or sufficient for recognition of individual scent owners. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B 272*: 715–724.
- Hutchings, M.R.; White, P.C.L. 2000: Mustelid scent-marking in managed ecosystems: implications for population management. *Mammal Review 30*: 157–169.
- Hygnstrom, S.E.; Vercauteren, K.C.; Schmaderer, T.R. 1994: Biological management (control) of vertebrate pests—advances in the last quarter century. Pp. 293–300 in Halverson, W.S.; Crabb, A.C. (Eds): Proceedings of the 16th Vertebrate Pest Conference, University of California, Davis, California, USA.
- Ichikawa, K.; Vailes, L.D.; Pomés, A.; Chapman, M.D. 2001a: Identification of a novel cat allergen cystatin. *International Archives of Allergy and Immunology 124*: 55–56.
- Ichikawa, K.; Vailes, L.D.; Pomés, A.; Chapman, M.D. 2001b: Molecular cloning, expression and modelling of cat allergen, cystatin (Fel d 3), a cysteine protease inhibitor. *Clinical & Experimental Allergy 31*: 1279–1286.
- Inagaki, H.; Kiyokawa, Y.; Kikusui, T. Takeuchi, Y.; Mori, Y. 2008: Enhancement of the acoustic startle reflex by an alarm pheromone in male rats. *Physiology & Behavior 93*: 606–611.
- Inagaki, H.; Kiyokawa, Y.; Tamogami, S.; Watanabe, H.; Takeuchi, Y.; Mori, Y. 2014: Identification of a pheromone that increases anxiety in rats. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 111*: 18751–18756.
- Inagaki, H.; Nakamura, K.; Kiyokawa, T.; Mori, Y. 2009: The volatility of an alarm pheromone in male rats. *Physiology & Behavior 96*: 749–752.
- Innes, J.; Kelly, D.; Overton, J. McC.; Gillies, C. 2010. Predation and other factors currently limiting New Zealand forest birds. *New Zealand Journal of Ecology* 34: 86–114.
- Jackson, M.; Hartley, S.; Linklater, W. 2016a: Better food-based baits and lures for invasive rats Rattus spp. and the brushtail possum Trichosurus vulpecula: a bioassay on wild, free-ranging animals. Journal of Pest Science 89: 479–488.
- Jackson, M.D.; Linklater, W.L.; Keyzers, R.A. 2016b: The development of semiochemical lures for invasive rats: an integrated chemical image and response-guided approach. Pp. 317–321 in Proceedings of the 27th Vertebrate Pest Conference, University of California, Davis, California, USA.
- Jemiolo, B.; Alberts, J.; Sochinsky-Wiggins, S.; Harvey, S.; Novotny, M. 1985: Behavioural and endocrine responses of female mice to synthetic analogues of volatile compounds in male urine. *Animal Behaviour* 33: 1114-1118.
- Jemiolo, B.; Xie, T-M.; Novotny, M. 1991: Socio-sexual olfactory preference in female mice: attractiveness of synthetic chemosignals. *Physiology & Behavior* 50: 1119–1122.
- Jemiolo, B.; Xie, T-M.; Novotny, M. 1992: Urine marking in male mice: responses to natural and synthetic chemosignals. Physiology & Behavior 52: 521–526.
- Johansson, B.G.; Jones, T.M. 2007: The role of chemical communication in mate choice. Biological Reviews 82: 265–289.
- Johnson, R.P. 1973: Scent marking in mammals. Animal Behaviour 21: 521-535.
- Johnston, R.E. 2003: Chemical communication in rodents: from pheromones to individual recognition. *Journal of Mammalogy* 84: 1141–1162.
- Jones, C.; Sanders, M.D. 2005: European hedgehog. Pp. 81–94 in: King, C.M. (Ed) The handbook of New Zealand mammals. Oxford University Press, Melbourne, Australia.
- Jones, M.E.; Apelbach, R.; Banks, P.B.; Cameron, E.Z.; Dickman, C.R.; Frank, A.; McLean, S.; McGregor, I.S.; Müller-Schwarze, D.; Parsons, M.H.; Sparrow, E.; Blumstein, D.T. 2016: A nose for death: integrating trophic and informational networks for conservation and management. Frontiers in Ecology 4: doi: 10.3389/fevo.2016.00124.

- Joulain, D.; Laurent, R. 1989: The catty odour in blackcurrant extracts versus the black-currant odour in the cat's urine?
 P. 87 in Bhattacharyya, S.C.; Sen, N.; Sethi, K.L. (Eds): International Congress of Essential Oils, Fragrances and Flavours. Oxford IBH Publishing, New Delhi, India.
- Kam, R.C. 2013: Evolution of rodent pheromones: a review of the ABPs with comparison to the ESPs and the MUPs. International Journal of Biochemistry Research & Review 3: 328–363.
- Kamalakkannan, S.; Achiraman, S.; Rajkumar, R.; Ramesh Kumar, K.; Archunan, G. 2006: Identification of sex-associated protein in the preputial gland of house rat (a new insight in rodent pest management). *Acta Physiologica Hungarica* 93: 145–152.
- Kannan, S.; Archunan, G. 2001a: Chemistry of clitoral gland secretion of the laboratory rat: Assessment of behavioural response to identified compounds. *Journal of Biosciences* 26: 247–252.
- Kannan, S.; Archunan, G. 2001b: Rat cheek gland compounds: behavioural response to identified compounds. *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology* 39: 887–891.
- Kannan, S.; Mareeswaran, P.; Krishnan, M.; Achiraman, S.; Spencer, N.; Nytingel, B.F. 2011: Properties of mouse vomeronasal receptor and assessment of its role in pheromone signalling. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* 25: 262–270.
- Kannan, S.; Ramesh Kumar, K.; Archunan, G. 1998: Sex attractants in male preputial gland: chemical identification and their role in reproductive behaviour of rats. *Current Science* 74: 689–691.
- Karine, B.; Marie-Christine, L.; Didier, D.; Regine, M.; Monique, C.; Christine, B. 2014: Rat strains with different metabolic statuses differ in food olfactory-driven behavior. *Behavioural Brain Research* 270: 228–239.
- Karlson, P.; Lüscher, M. 1959: 'Pheromones': a new term for a class of biologically active substances. Nature 183: 55-56.
- Karn, R.C.; Laukaitis, C.M. 2012: The roles of gene duplication, gene conversion and positive selection in rodent Esp and Mup pheromone gene families with comparison to the Abp family. *PLoS ONE* 7: e47697. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0047697.
- Kaupp, U.B. 2010: Olfactory signalling in vertebrates and insects: differences and commonalities. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience 11*: 188–200.
- Kaur, A.W.; Ackels, T.; Kuo, T.H.; Cichy, A.; Dey, S.; Hays, C.; Kateri, M.; Logan, D.W.; Marton, T.F.; Spehr, M.; Stowers, L. 2014: Murine pheromone proteins constitute a context-dependent combinational code governing multiple social behaviors. Cell 157: 676–688.
- Kavaliers, M.; Choleris, E.; Pfaff, D.W. 2005: Genes, odours and the recognition of parasitized individuals by rodents. Trends in Parasitology 21: 423–429.
- Kavaliers, M.; Colwell, D.D.; Braun, W.J.; Choleris, E. 2003a: Brief exposure to the odours of a parasitized male alters the subsequent mate odour responses of female mice. *Animal Behaviour 65*: 59–68.
- Kavaliers, M.; Colwell, D.D.; Choleris, E.; Agmo, A.; Muglia, L.J.; Ogawa, S.; Pfaff, D.W. 2003b: Impaired discrimination of and aversion to parasitized male odors by female oxytocin knockout mice. *Genes, Brain and Behavior 2*: 220–230.
- Keller, A.; Vosshall, L.B. 2008: Better smelling through genetics: mammalian odor perception. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology 18*: 364–369.
- Kelliher, K.R. 2007: The combined role of the main olfactory and vomeronasal systems in social communication in mammals. *Hormones and Behavior 52*: 561–570.
- Kelliher, K.R.; Baum, M.J. 2001: Nares occlusion eliminates heterosexual partner selection without disrupting coitus in ferrets of both sexes. *The Journal of Neuroscience 21*: 5832–5840.
- Kelliher, K.R.; Baum, M.J. 2002: Effect of sex steroids and coital experience on ferrets' preference for the smell, sight and sound of conspecifics. *Physiology & Behavior 76*: 1–7.
- Kikusui, T.; Takigami, S.; Takeuchi, Y.; Mori, Y. 2001: Alarm pheromone enhances stress-induced hyperthermia in rats. Physiology & Behavior 72: 45–50.
- Kimoto, H.; Haga, S.; Sato, K.; Touhara, K. 2005: Sex-specific peptides from exocrine glands stimulate mouse vomeronasal sensory neurons. *Nature 437*: 898–901.
- King, C.M. (Ed) 2005: The handbook of New Zealand mammals. Oxford University Press, Melbourne, Australia. 610 p.
- Kippin, T.E.; Cain, S.W.; Pfaus, J.G. 2003: Estrous odors and sexually conditioned neutral odors activate separate neural pathways in the male rat. *Neuroscience 117*: 971–979.

- Kiyokawa, Y. 2015: Social odors: alarm pheromones and social buffering. Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences 30: 47–65.
- Kiyokawa, Y.; Kikusui, T.; Takeuchi, Y.; Mori, Y. 2004a: Alarm pheromones with different functions are released from different regions of the body surface of male rats. *Chemical Senses 29*: 35–40.
- Kiyokawa, Y.; Kikusui, T.; Takeuchi, Y.; Mori, Y. 2004b: Modulatory role of testosterone in alarm pheromone release by male rats. *Hormones and Behavior 45*: 122–127.
- Kiyokawa, Y.; Kikusui, T.; Takeuchi, Y.; Mori, Y. 2005: Alarm pheromone that aggravates stress-induced hyperthermia is soluble in water. *Chemical Senses* 30: 513–519.
- Kiyokawa, Y.; Shimozuru, M.; Kikusui, T.; Takeuchi, Y.; Mori, Y. 2006: Alarm pheromone increases defensive and risk assessment behaviors in male rats. *Physiology & Behavior 87*: 383–387.
- Kiyokawa, Y.; Kikusui, T.; Takeuci, Y.; Mori, Y. 2007: Removal of the vomeronasal organ blocks the stress-induced hyperthermia response to alarm pheromone in male rats. *Chemical Senses 32*: 57–64.
- Kobayashi, T.; Kiyokawa, Y.; Takeuchi, Y.; Mori, Y. 2011: Pretreatment with CP-154526 blocks the modifying effects of alarm pheromone on components of sexual behavior in male, but not in female, rats. *Chemical Senses* 36: 623–632.
- Koehler, A.E.; Tobin, M.E.; Sugffiara, R.T. 1994: Effects of CS2-starch xanthate on consumption by rats. Pp. 113–117 in: Proceedings of the 16th Vertebrate Pest Conference. University of California, Davis, California, USA.
- Koyama, S. 2004: Primer effects by conspecific odors in house mice: a new perspective in the study of primer effects on reproductive activities. *Hormone and Behavior 46*: 303–310.
- Koyama, S. 2016: Identification of pheromones. Pp. 39–58 in: Primer effects in murine pheromone signaling. SpringerBriefs in Animal Sciences.
- Kralicek, A.; Travas-Sejdic, J.; Hodgkiss, J.; Keyzers, R.; Hartley, S.; Sharrock, K.; Choi, J.; Warburton, B.; Linklater, W. 2017:
 New sensor approaches to sniff out invasive mammal pests. Conference Abstract. National Science Challenges
 Crazy & Ambitious Conference 8–10 May 2017, Te Papa National Museum, New Zealand's Biological Heritage,
 Wellington, New Zealand.
- Kreigenhofer, B.M. 2011: Exploring social interactions and olfactory communication in the common brushtail possum: implications for management. Unpublished MSc thesis, Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- Kreiger, J.; Schmidt, A.; Löbel, D.; Gudermann, T.; Schmidt, G.; Breer, H.; Boekhoff, I. 1999: Selective activation of G protein subtypes in the vomeronasal organ upon stimulation with urine-derived compounds. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274: 4655–4662.
- Kronen, P.W.; Ludders, J.W.; Erb, H.N.; Moon, P.F.; Gleed, R.D.; Koski, S. 2006: A synthetic fraction of feline facial pheromone calms but does not reduce struggling in cats before venous catheterization. *Veterinary Anaesthesia and Analgesia* 33: 258–265.
- Kwak, J.; Grigsby, C.C.; Preti, G.; Rizki, M.M.; Yamazaki, K.; Beauchamp, G.K. 2013: Changes in volatile compounds of mouse urine as it ages: their interactions with water and urinary proteins. *Physiology & Behavior 120*: 211–219.
- Kwak, J.; Opiekun, M.C.; Matsumura, K.; Preti, G.; Yamazaki, K.; Beauchamp, G.K. 2009: Major histocompatibility complex-regulated odortypes: peptide-free urinary volatile signals. *Physiology & Behavior 96*: 184–188.
- Kwak, J.; Willse, A.; Preti, G.; Yamazaki, K.; Beauchamp, G.K. 2010: In search of the chemical basis for MHC odourtypes. Proceedings of the Royal Society B 277: 2417–2425.
- Lanuza, E.; Martín-Sánchez, A.; Marco-Manclús, P.; Cádiz-Moretti, B.; Fortes-Marco, L.; Hernández-Martínez, A.; McLean, L.; Beynon, R.J.; Hurst, J.L.; Martínez-García, F. 2014: Sex pheromones are not always attractive: changes induced by learning and illness. *Animal Behaviour 97*: 265–272.
- Law, J.H.; Regnier, F.E. 1971: Pheromones. Annual Review of Biochemistry 40: 533-548.
- Leinders-Zufall, T.; Brennan, P.; Widmayer, P.; Chandramani, P.; Maul-Pavici, A.; Jäger, M.; Li, X-H.; Breer, H.; Zufall, F.;

 Boehm, T. 2004: MHC class I peptides as chemosensory signals in the vomeronasal organ. Science 306: 1033–1037.
- Leinders-Zufall, T.; Lane, A.P.; Puche, A.C.; Ma, W.; Novotny, M.V.; Shipley, M.T.; Zufall, F. 2000: Ultrasensitive pheromone detection by mammalian vomeronasal neurons. *Nature* 405: 792–796.
- Lévy, F.; Keller, M.; Poindron, P. 2004: Olfactory regulation of maternal behaviour in mammals. *Hormones and Behavior 46*: 284–302.
- Li, Q.; Korzan, W.J.; Ferrero, D.M.; Chang, R.B.; Roy, D.S.; Buchi, M.; Lemon, J.K.; Kaur, A.W.; Stowers, L.; Fendt, M.; Liberles, S.D. 2013: Synchronous evolution of an odor biosynthesis pathway and behavioural response. *Current Biology 23*: 11–20.

- Li, Q.; Liberles, S.D. 2015: Aversion and attraction through olfaction. Current Biology 25: R120-R129.
- Li Y.; Peterlin, Z.; Ho, J.; Yarnitzky, T.; Liu, M.T.; Fichman, M.; Niv, M.Y.; Matsunami, H.; Firestein, S.; Ryan, K. 2014:
 Aldehyde recognition and discrimination by mammalian odorant receptors via functional group-specific hydration chemistry. ACS Chemical Biology 9: 2563–2571.
- Liberles, S.D. 2014: Mammalian pheromones. Annual Review of Physiology 76: 151-175.
- Liberles, S.D.; Buck, L.B. 2006: A second class of chemosensory receptors in the olfactory epithelium. *Nature 442*: 645–650.
- Lin, C.; Wu, T.; Hao, O.; Lin, Y.; Rau, Y. 2000: Biosensor for detecting odorous compounds. *Journal of Environmental Engineering 126*: 446–450.
- Lin, D.Y.; Zhang, S-Z.; Block, E.; Katz, L.C. 2005: Encoding social signals in the mouse main olfactory bulb. *Nature 434*: 470–477.
- Lindon, J.C.; Nicholson, J.K.; Holmes, E. 2007: The handbook of metabonomics and metabolomics. Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands. 572 p.
- Linklater, W.L.; Greenwood, D.; Keyzers, R.A.; Duckworth, J.A.; Banks, P.; MacKay, J.W.; Stockum, C. 2013: Pied-pipers wanted: the search for super-lures of New Zealand mammal pests. New Zealand Science Review 70: 31–36.
- Liu, Y-J.; Zhang, J-X.; Zhang, J-H.; Bao, W-D. 2008: Social dominance, sexual attractiveness and pheromonal communication in male mice *Mus musculus*. *Acta Zoologica Sinica* 54: 399–406.
- Logan, D.W. 2015: The complexity of pheromone-mediated behaviour in mammals. Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences 2: 96–101.
- Logan, D.W.; Marton, T.F.; Stowers, L. 2008: Species specificity in major urinary proteins by parallel evolution. *PLoS ONE 3*: 1–11.
- Lopes, P.C.; König, B. 2016: Choosing a healthy mate: sexually attractive traits as reliable indicators of current disease status in house mice. *Animal Behaviour* 111: 119–126.
- Luo, M.; Fee, M.S.; Katz, L.C. 2003: Encoding pheromonal signals in the accessory olfactory bulb of behaving mice. Science 299: 1196–1201.
- Luo; M.; Katz, L.C. 2004: Encoding pheromonal signals in the mammalian vomeronasal system. Current Opinions in Neurobiology 14: 428–434.
- Ma, W.; Miao, Z.; Novotny, M.V. 1999: Induction of estrus in grouped female mice (*Mus domesticus*) by synthetic analogues of preputial gland constituents. *Chemical Senses 24*: 289–293.
- Mainland, J.D.; Keller, A.; Li, Y.R.; Zhou, T.; Trimmer, C.; Snyder, L.L.; Moberly, A.H.; Adipietro, K.; Liu, L.L.; Zhuang, H.; Zhan, S.; Lee, S.S.; Lin, A.; Matsunami, H. 2014: The missense of smell: functional variability in the human odorant receptor repertoire. *Nature Neuroscience 17*: 114–120.
- Mainland, J.; Sobel, N. 2006: The sniff is part of the olfactory percept. Chemical Senses 31: 181-196.
- Mallick, S.A. 1992: Urine-marking in three species of Rattus. Wildlife Research 19: 89-93.
- Malone, N.; Payne, C.; Beynon, R.; Hurst, J. 2001: Social status, odour communication and male choice in wild house mice. Chemical Signals in Vertebrates 9: 217–224.
- Marchlewska-Koj, A.; Cavaggioni, A.; Mucignat-Caretta, C.; Olejniczak, P. 2000: Stimulation of estrus in female mice by male urinary proteins. *Journal of Chemical Ecology 26*: 2355–2366.
- Marchlewska-Koj, A.; Jemiolo, B.; Wozniacka, J.; Kozlowski, K. 1980: Male-pheromone effect on the efficiency of pregnancy in female mice. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility 58*: 363–367.
- Martínez-García, F.; Agustín-Pavón, C.; Martínez-Herníandez, J.; Martínez-Ricós, J.; Moncho-Bogani, J.; Novejarque, A.; Lanuza, E. 2008: Have sexual pheromones their own reward system in the brain of female mice? Chemical Signals in Vertebrates 11: 261–270.
- Martínez-García, F.; Martínez-Ricós, J.; Agustín-Pavón, C.; Martínez-Herníandez, J.; Moncho-Bogani, J.; Novejarque, A.; Lanuza, E. 2009: Refining the dual olfactory hypothesis: Pheromone reward and odour experience. *Behavioural Brain Research* 200: 277–286.
- Martínez-Ricós, J.; Agustin-Pavón, C.; Lanuza, E.; Martínez-García, F. 2007: Intraspecific communication through chemical signals in female mice: reinforcing properties of involatile male sexual pheromones. *Chemical Senses 32*: 139–148.

- Martín-Sánchez, A.; McLean, L.; Beynon, R.J.; Hurst, J.L.; Ayala, G.; Lanuza, E.; Martínez-Garcia, F. 2015: From sexual attraction to maternal aggression: when pheromones change behavioural significance. *Hormones and Behavior 68*: 65–76.
- Mason, J.R.; Bean, N.J.; Galef, B.G. 1988: Attractiveness of carbon disulfide to wild Norway rats. Pp. 95–97 in Crabbe, A.C.;

 Marsh, R.E. (Eds): Proceedings of the 13th Vertebrate Pest Conference, University of California, Davis, California,

 IISA
- McFadyen, D.A.; Locke, J. 2000: High-resolution FISH mapping of the rat α2u-globulin multigene family. *Mammalian Genome 11*: 292–299.
- McGhee, P.S.; Miller, J.R.; Thomson, D.R.; Gut, L.J. 2016: Optimizing aerosol dispensers for mating disruption of codling moth, *Cydia pomonella* L. *Journal of Chemical Ecology 42*: 612–616.
- McLean, S.; Davies, N.W.; Nichols, D.S.; Mcleod, B.J. 2015: Triacylglycerol estolides, a new class of mammalian lipids, in the paracloacal gland of the brushtail possum (*Trichosurus vulpecula*). *Lipids* 50: 591–604.
- McLean, S.; Davies, N.W.; Wiggins, N.L. 2012: Scent chemicals of the brushtail possum, *Trichosurus vulpecula. Journal of Chemical Ecology* 38: 1318–1339.
- McMurtrie, P.; Edge, K-A.; Crouchley, D.; Gleeson, D.; Willans, M.J.; Veale, A.J. 2011: Eradication of stoats (*Mustela erminea*) from Secretary Island, New Zealand. Pp. 455–460 in Veitch, C.R.; Clout, M.N.; Towns, D.R. (Eds): Island invasives: eradication and management. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland.
- McRae, J.F.; Mainland, J.D.; Adipietro, K.A.; Matsunami, H.; NewComb, R.D. 2012: Genetic variation in the odorant receptor or2j3 is associated with the ability to detect the "grassy" smelling odour, cis-3-hexen-1-ol. *Chemical Senses 37*: 585–593.
- Meinwald, J. 2003: Understanding the chemistry of chemical communication: are we there yet? PNAS 1000: 14514-14516.
- Merkx, J.; Slob, A.K.; van der Werff ten Bosch, J.J. 1988: The role of the preputial glands in sexual attractivity of the female rat. *Physiology & Behavior 42*: 59–64.
- Mills, D.S.; Mills, C.B. 2001: Evaluation of a novel method for delivering a synthetic analogue of feline facial pheromone to control urine spraying by cats. *Veterinary Record* 149: 197–199.
- Mills, D.S.; White, J.C. 2000: Long-term follow up of the effect of a pheromone therapy on feline spraying behaviour. Veterinary Record 147: 746–747.
- Miyazaki, M.; Yamashita, T.; Hosokawa, M.; Taira, H.; Suzuki, A. 2006a: Species-, sex-, and age-dependent urinary excretion of cauxin, a mammalian carboxylesterase. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: *Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 145: 270–277.
- Miyazaki, M.; Yamashita, T.; Suzuki, Y.; Saito, Y.; Soeta, S.; Taira, H.; Suzuki, A. 2006b: A major urinary protein of the domestic cat regulates the production of felinine, a putative pheromone precursor. *Chemistry and Biology* 13: 1071–1079.
- Miyazaki, M.; Yamashita, T.; Taira, H.; Suzuki, A. 2008: The biological function of cauxin, a major urinary protein of the domestic cat (Felis catus). Chemical Signals in Vertebrates 11: 51–60.
- Moncho-Bogani, J.; Lanuza, E.; Hernández, A.; Novejarque, A.; Martínez-García, F. 2002: Attractive properties of sexual pheromones in mice: innate or learned? *Physiology & Behavior 77*: 167–176.
- Moncho-Bogani, J.; Martínez-García, F.; Novejarque, A.; Lanuza, E. 2005: Attraction to sexual pheromones and associated odorants in female mice involves activation of the reward system and basolateral amygdala. *European Journal of Neuroscience 21*: 2186–2198.
- Monell Chemical Senses Center 2013: Extensive variability in olfactory receptors influences human odour perception.

 Advancing discovery in taste and smell. Monell Chemical Senses Center, Philadelphia, USA. 3 p.
- Montague, T.L. 2002: Rabbit meat and rodent-scented lures as attractants for stoats (*Mustela erminea*). DOC Science Internal Series 45. Department of Conservation, Wellington, New Zealand. 14 p.
- Morè, L. 2006: Mouse major urinary proteins trigger ovulation via the vomeronasal organ. Chemical Senses 31: 393-401.
- Morriss, G.A.; Warburton, B. 2014: Modifying the Victor® Easy Set® rat trap to improve the animal welfare of stoats and ship rats trapped in New Zealand. *PLoS ONE 9*: e86760. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0086760.
- Moseby, K.E.; Self, R.; Freeman, A. 2004: Attraction of auditory and olfactory lures to feral cats, red foxes, European rabbits and burrowing bettongs. *Ecological Management & Restoration 5*: 228–231.
- Mucignat-Caretta, C. 2014: Neurobiology of chemical communication. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, USA. 612 p.

- Mucignat-Caretta, C.; Caretta, A. 2014: Message in a bottle: major urinary proteins and their multiple roles in mouse intraspecific chemical communication. *Animal Behaviour 97*: 255–263.
- Mucignat-Caretta, C.; Caretta, A.; Baldini, E. 1998: Protein-bound male urinary pheromones: differential responses according to age and gender. *Chemical Senses* 23: 67–70.
- Mucignat-Caretta, C.; Colivicchi, M.A.; Fattori, M.; Ballini, C.; Bianchi, L.; Gabai, G.; Cavaggioni, A.; Della Corte, L. 2006: Species-specific chemosignals evoke delayed excitation of the vomeronasal amygdala in freely-moving female rats. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 99: 881–891.
- Mucignat-Caretta, C.; Redaelli, M.; Caretta, A. 2012: One nose, one brain: contribution of the main and accessory olfactory system to chemosensation. Frontiers in Neuroanatomy 6: 25–33.
- Müller-Schwarze, D. 2006: Chemical ecology of vertebrates. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. 578 p.
- Munger, S.D.; Leinders-Zufall, T.; McDougall, L.M.; Cockerham, R.E.; Schmidt, A.; Wandernoth, P.; Wennemuth, G.; Biel, M.; Zufall, F.; Kelliher, K.R. 2010: An olfactory subsystem that detects carbon disulphide and mediates food-related social learning. *Current Biology* 20: 1438–1444.
- Murphy, E. 2016: Development of social lures for stoats and rats. CBRE New Lure, deterrent and bait technologies science to development, formulation and market. CBRE Workshop Abstract. New Lure, deterrent and bait technologies science to development, formulation and market. Centre for Biodiversity and Restoration Ecology, Wellington, New Zealand. 16 p.
- Murphy, E.C.; Keedwell, R.J.; Brown, K.P.; Westbrooke, I. 2005: Diet of mammalian predators in braided river beds in the central South Island, New Zealand. Wildlife Research 31: 631–638.
- Murphy, E.; Sjoberg, T.; Barun, A.; Aylett, P.; MacMorran, D.; Eason, C. 2014: Development of re-setting toxin delivery devices and long-life lures for rats. *Proceedings of the Vertebrate Pest Conference 26*: 396–399.
- Murphy, E.; Sjoberg, T.; Sam, S.; Smith, D.; Bothwell, J.; Barrett, B.; Tucker, N.; Razzaq, H.; Duckworth, J. 2013:

 Development of long-life lures for stoats and rats. P. 12 in Linklater, W. (Ed.): In search of super-lures: mammalian communication and pest control. Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Musso, A.E. 2016: Contributions to the development of effective food baits and pheromone lures for capturing mice and rats. Unpublished MPM thesis, Simon Fraser University, British Columbia, Canada. 64 p.
- Musso, A.E.; Gries, R.; Zhai, H.; Takács, S.; Gries, G. 2017: Effect of male house mouse pheromone components on behavioural responses of mice in laboratory and field experiments. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* doi:10.1007/s10886-017-0819-y.
- Muthukumar, S.; Rajesh, D.; Saibaba, G.; Alagesan, A.; Rengaran, R.; Archunan, G. 2013: Urinary lipocalin protein in a female rodent with correlation to phases in the estrous cycle: an experimental study accompanied by in silico analysis. *PLoS ONE 8*: 1–10.
- Mykytowycz, R. 1970: Role of skin glands in mammalian communication. Pp. 327–360 in Johnson, J.W.; Moulton, D.G.;
 Turk, A. (Eds): Advances in chemoreception 1. Communication by chemical signals. Appleton Centurycrofts,
 New York. USA.
- Nara, K.; Saraiva, L.R.; Ye, X.; Buck, L.B. 2011: A large-scale analysis of odor coding in the olfactory epithelium. *Journal of Neuroscience* 31: 9179–9191.
- Natoli, E. 1985: Behavioural responses of urban feral cats to different types of urine marks. Behaviour 94: 234-243.
- Nevison, C.M.; Armstrong, S.; Beynon, R.J.; Humphries, R.E.; Hurst, J.L. 2003: The ownership signature in mouse scent marks is involatile. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, London 270*: 1957–1963.
- Newman, D.G. 1994: Effects of a mouse, *Mus musculus*, eradication programme and habitat change on lizard populations of Mana Island, New Zealand, with special reference to McGregor's skink, *Cyclodina macgregori*. *New Zealand Journal of Zoology* 27: 443–456.
- Nielsen, B.L.; Jerôme, N.; Saint-Albin, A.; Thonat, C.; Briant, C.; Boué, F.; Rampin, O.; Maurin, Y. 2011: A mixture of odorant molecules potentially indicating oestrus in mammals elicits penile erections in male rats. *Behavioural Brain Research* 225: 584–589.
- Nielsen, B.L.; Jerôme, N.; Saint-Albin, A.; Rampin, O.; Maurin, Y. 2013: Behavioural response of sexually naïve and experienced male rats to the small of 6-methyl-5-hepten-2-one and female rat faeces. *Physiology & Behavior 120*: 150–155.
- Nodari, F.; Hsu, F-F.; Fu, X.; Holekamp, T.F.; Kao, L-F.; Turk, J.; Holy, T. 2008: Sulfated steroids as natural ligands of mouse pheromone-sensing neurones. *The Journal of Neuroscience* 28: 6407–6417.

- Nordlund, D.A.; Lewis, W.J. 1976: Terminology of chemical releasing stimuli in intraspecific and interspecific interactions. Journal of Chemical Ecology 2: 211–220.
- Nouvel, L.; Rios, L.; Ba, C.T. 2013: Pheromone composition and methods of use US 8481020 B2. US patent application.
- Novotny, M.V. 2003: Pheromones, binding proteins and receptor responses in rodents. *Biochemical Society Transactions 31*: 117–122.
- Novotny, M.; Harvey, S.; Jemiolo, B. 1990: Chemistry of male dominance in the house mouse, *Mus domesticus*. Experimentia 46: 109–113.
- Novotny, M.; Harvey, S.; Jemiolo, B.; Alberts, J. 1985: Synthetic pheromones that promote inter-male aggression in mice. PNAS 82: 2059–2061.
- Novotny, M.; Jemiolo, B.; Harvey, S.; Wiesler, D.; Marchlewska-Koj, A. 1986: Adrenal-mediated endogenous metabolites inhibit puberty in female mice. *Science* 231: 722–725.
- Novotny; M.V.; Jemiolo B.; Wiesler D.; Ma W.; Harvey S.; Xu F.; Xie T.M.; Carmack M. 1999a: A unique urinary constituent, 6-hydroxy-6-methyl-3-heptanone, is a pheromone that accelerates puberty in female mice. *Chemistry & Biology 6*: 377–383.
- Novotny, M.V.; Ma, W.; Wiesler, D.; Zidek, I. 1999b: Positive identification of the puberty-accelerating pheromone of the house mouse: the volatile ligands associating with the major urinary protein. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 266: 2017–2022
- Novotny, M.V.; Soini, H.A. 2008: Volatile mammalian chemosignals: structural and quantitative aspects. *Chemical Signals in Vertebrates 11*: 13–23.
- Novotny, M.V.; Soini, H.A.; Koyama, S.; Wiesler, D.; Bruce, K.E.; Penn, D.J. 2007: Chemical identification of MHC-influenced volatile compounds in mouse urine. I: Quantitative proportions of major chemosignals. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 33: 427–434.
- Novotny, M.N.; Xie, T-M.; Harvey, S.; Wiesler, D.; Jemiolo, B.; Carmack, M. 1995: Stereoselectivity in mammalian chemical communication: male mouse pheromones. *Experimentia* 51: 738–743.
- O'Connor, C.E.; Eason, C.T. 2000: Rodent baits and delivery systems for island protection. *Science for Conservation 150*. Department of Conservation, Wellington, New Zealand. 25 p.
- O'Donnell, C.F.J. 1996: Predators and the decline of New Zealand forest birds: an introduction to the hole-nesting bird and predator programme. New Zealand Journal of Zoology 23: 213–219.
- O'Donnell, C.F.J.; Clapperton, B.K.; Monks, J.M. 2015: Impacts of introduced mammalian predators on indigenous birds of freshwater wetlands in New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Ecology 39: 19–33.
- O'Donnell, C.F.J.; Hoare, J.M. 2012: Quantifying the benefits of long-term integrated pest control for forest bird populations in a New Zealand temperate rainforest. New Zealand Journal of Ecology 36: 131–140.
- Osada, K.; Kashiwayanagi. M.; Izumi, H. 2009: Profiles of volatiles in male rat urine: the effect of puberty on the female attraction. *Chemical Senses 34*: 713–721.
- Osada, K.; Tashiro, T.; Mori, K.; Izumi, H. 2008: The identification of attractive volatiles in aged male mouse urine. Chemical Senses 33: 815–823.
- Osada, K.; Yamazaki, K.; Curran, M.; Bard, J.; Smith, B.P.C.; Beauchamp, G.K. 2003: The scent of age. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, London B 270*: 929–933.
- Overath, P.; Sturm, T.; Rammensee, H-G. 2014: Of volatiles and peptides: in search for MHC-dependent olfactory signals in olfactory communication. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 71: 2429–2442.
- Pageat, P. 1998: Properties of cats' facial pheromones. US Patents Grant US5709863 A.
- Pageat, P.; Bougrat, L.; Monneret, P.; Alnot-Perronin, M.; Cozzi, A. 2009: The effect of the feline interdigital semiochemicals with primers in relation to scratching marking. Pp. 111–112 in Heath, S. (Ed.): Proceedings of the 7th International Veterinary Behaviour Meeting, Edinburgh, UK.
- Pageat, P.; Cozzi, A. 2011: Advances in the use of pheromones in the species. Décimo Congresso de Especialidades Veterinarias. Valencia, Facultad de Veterinaria CEU. 5 p.
- Panaman, R. 1981: Behaviour and ecology of free-ranging female farm fats (Felis catus L.). Zeitschrift für Tierpsychologie 56: 59–73.
- Papes, F.; Logan, D.W.; Stowers, L. 2010: The vomeronasal organ mediates interspecies defensive behaviors through detection of protein pheromone homologs. *Cell 141*: 692–703.

- Parsons, M.H.; Samo, R.J.; Deutsch, M.A. 2015: Jump-starting urban rat research: conspecific pheromones recruit wild rats into a behavioral and pathogen-moditoring assay. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 3: doi:10.3389/fevo.2015.00146.
- Parshad, V.R. 2002: Carbon disulphide for improving the efficacy of rodenticide baiting and trapping of the house rat, Rattus rattus L. International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation 4: 151–155.
- Paske, G.; Stockum, C.; Eckery, D.; Keysers, R.; McNatty, K.; Hartley, S.; Jordan, T.; Le Gros, G.; Linklater, W. 2013a: The development of chemical lures to improve management of invading rat and possum populations. P. 8 in Linklater, W. (Ed): In search of super-lures: mammalian communication and pest control. Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Paske, G.; Linklater, W.; Eckery, D.; Stockum, C.; Keysers, R. 2013b: Volatile analysis of mouse and rat urine: Identification of sex specific pheromones. P. 10 in Linklater, W. (Ed): In search of super-lures: mammalian communication and pest control. Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Peele, P.; Salazar, I.; Mimmack, M.; Keverne, E.B.; Brennan, P.A. 2003: Low molecular weight constituents of male mouse urine mediate the pregnancy block effect and convey information about the identity of the mating male. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 18: 622–628.
- Penn, D.J. 2002: The scent of genetic compatibility: sexual selection and the major compatibility complex. *Ethology 108*: 1–21.
- Penn, D.; Potts, W. 1998a: Chemical signals and parasite-mediated sexual selection. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution 13*: 391–396.
- Penn, D.; Potts, W. 1998b: How do major histocompatibility complex genes influence odor and mating preferences? Advances in Immunology 69: 411-436.
- Penn, D.; Schneider, G.; White, K.; Slev, P.; Potts, W. 1998: Influenza infection neutralizes the attractiveness of male odour to female mice (*Mus musculus*). Ethology 104: 685–694.
- Perez-Miller, S.; Zou, Q.; Novotny, M.V.; Hurley, T.D. 2010: High resolution X-ray structures of mouse major urinary protein nasal isoform in complex with pheromones. *Protein Science* 19: 1469–1479.
- Phelan, M.M.; McLean, L.; Simpson, D.M.; Hurst, J.L.; Beynon, R.J.; Lain, L-Y. 2010: 1H, 15N and 13C resonance assignment of darcin, a mouse major urinary protein. *Biomolecular NMR Assignments* 4: 239–241.
- Pitt, W.C.; Driscoll, L.C.; Sugihara, R.T. 2011: Efficacy of rodenticide baits for the control of three invasive rodent species in Hawaii. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 60: 533–542.
- Poduschka, W.; Wemmer, C. 1986: Observations on chemical communication and its glandular sources in selected Insectivora. *Chemical Signals 4*: 609–616.
- Pohorecky, L.A.; Ma, W.; Blakely, G.G.; Soini, H.A.; Novotny, M.V. 2008: Psychosocial stress and volatile compounds in preputial glands of rats. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1148: 219–222.
- Ponmanickam, P.; Archunan, G. 2006: Identification of α-2u globulin in the rat preputial gland by MALDI-TOF analysis. Indian Journal of Biochemistry & Biophysics 43: 319–322.
- Ponmanickam, P.; Archunan, G.; Achiraman, S.; Sankar, R.; Saito, T.; Habara, Y. 2013: Preputial gland activates olfactory receptor neurons in rat: calcium imaging study using laser scanning confocal microscopy. *Indian Journal of Biochemistry & Biophysics* 50: 242–246.
- Ponmanickam, P.; Jebamercy, G.; Archunan, G.; Kannan, S. 2009: Detection of alpha-2u globulin in rat pup preputial gland by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. *Current Zoology* 55: 296–300.
- Ponmanickam, P.; Palanivelu, K.; Govindaraj, S.; Baburajendran, R.; Habara, Y.; Archunan, G. 2010: Identification of testosterone-dependent volatile compounds and proteins in the preputial gland of the rat *Rattus norvegicus*. *General and Comparative Endocrinology 167*: 35–43.
- Poran, N.S.; Tripoli, R.; Halpern, M. 1993: Nuzzling in the gray short-tailed opossum II: Familiarity and individual recognition. *Physiology & Behavior 53*: 969–973.
- Prada, D.; Veale, A.; Duckworth, J.; Murphy, E.; Treadgold, S.; Howitt, R.; Gleeson, D. 2014: Unwelcome visitors: employing forensic methodologies to inform the stoat (*Mustela erminea*) incursion response plan on Kapiti Island.

 New Zealand Journal of Zoology 41: 1–9.
- Preti, G.; Muetterties, E.L.; Furman, J.M.; Kennelly, J.J.; Johns, B.E. 1976: Volatile constituents of dog (*Canis familiaris*) and coyote (*Canis latrans*) anal sacs. *Journal of Chemical Ecology 2*: 177–186.

- Rajesh, D.; Muthukumara, S.; Saibaba, G.; Siva, D.; Akbarsha, M.A.; Gulyás, B.; Padmanabhan, P.; Archunan, G. 2016: Structural elucidation or estrus urinary lipocalin protein (EULP) and evaluating binding affinity with pheromones using molecular docking and fluorescent study. *Scientific Reports 6*: 35900 doi:10.1038/srep35900.
- Rajkumar, R.; Ilayaraja, R.; Liao, C-C.; Archunan, G.; Achiraman, S.; Prakash, S.; Ng, W.V.; Tsay, Y.G. 2010a: Detection α-2μ-globulin and its bound putative pheromones in the preputial gland of the Indian commensal rat (*Rattus rattus*) using mass spectrometry. *Rapid Communications in Mass-Spectrometry* 24: 721–728.
- Rajkumar, R.; Ilayaraja, R.; Mucignat, C.; Cavaggioni, A.; Archunan, G. 2009: Identification of α_{2μ}-globulin and bound volatiles in the Indian common house rat (*Rattus rattus*). *Indian Journal of Biochemistry & Biophysics* 46: 319–324.
- Rajkumar, R.; Prakash, S.; Archunan, G.; Sowdhamini, R. 2010b: Primary structural documentation of the major urinary protein of the Indian commensal rat (*Rattus rattus*) using a proteomics platform. *Protein & Peptide Letters 17*: 449–457.
- Ramm, S.A.; Cheetham, S.A.; Hurst, J.L. 2008: Encoding choosiness; female attraction requires prior physical contact with individual male scents in mice. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B Biological Sciences* 275: 1727–1735.
- Rampin, O.; Jérôme, N.; Briant, C.; Boué, F.; Maurin, Y. 2006: Are oestrus odours species specific? *Behavioural Brain Research 172*: 169–172.
- Rasmussen, L.E.L.; Lee, T.D.; Zhang, A.; Roelofs, W.; Daves, G.D. Jr. 1996: Purification, identification, concentration and bioactivity of (Z)-7-dodecen-1-yl acetate: sex pheromone of the female Asian elephant, *Elephas maximus*. Chemical Senses 22: 417–437.
- Read, J.; Gigliotti, F.; Darby, S.; Lapidge, S. 2014: Dying to be clean: pen trials of novel cat and fox control devices. International Journal of Pest Management 60: 166–172.
- Read, J.L. 2010: Can fastidiousness kill the cat? The potential for target-specific poisoning of feral cats through oral grooming. *Ecological Management & Restoration 11*: 230–233.
- Read, J.L.; Bengsen, A.J.; Meek, P.D.; Moseby, K.E. 2015: How to snap your cat: optimum lures and their placement for attracting mammalian predators in arid Australia. Wildlife Research 42: 1–12.
- Ritchie, M. 2013: Waikawa Island rodent dog monitoring June 2013. Department of Conservation, New Zealand (unpublished). 2 p.
- Robbins, L.; Clapperton, B.K.; Tallentire, K.; Porter, R.E.R. 2007: Testing the attractiveness and palatability of stoat lures and baits with various sensory cues. *DOC Research & Development Series 265*. Department of Conservation, Wellington, New Zealand. 22 p.
- Roberts, S.A.; Davidson, A.J.; Beynon, R.J.; Hurst, J.L. 2014: Female attraction to male scent and associative learning: the house mouse as a mammalian model. *Animal Behaviour 97*: 313–321.
- Roberts, S.A.; Simpson, D.M.; Armstrong, S.D.; Davidson, A.J.; Robertson, D.H.; McLean, L.; Beynon, R.J.; Hurst, J.L. 2010: Darcin: a male pheromone that stimulates female memory and sexual attraction to an individual male's odour. BMC Biology 8:75.
- Robertson, D.L.; Beynon, R.; Evershed, R. 1993: Extraction, characterization, and binding analysis of two pheromonally active ligands associated with major urinary protein of house mouse (*Mus musculus*). *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 19: 1405–1416.
- Robertson, D.L.; Marie, A.; Veggerby, C.; Hurst, J.; Beynon, R. 2001: Characteristics of ligand binding and release by major urinary proteins. *Chemical Signals in Vertebrates* 9: 169–176.
- Robinson, S.A.; Copson, G.R. 2014: Eradication of cats (*Felis catus*) from subantarctic Macquarie Island. *Ecological Management & Restoration* 15: 34–40.
- Röck, F.; Mueller, S.; Weimar, U.; Rammensee, H-G.; Overath, P. 2006: Comparative analysis of volatile constituents from mice and their urine. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 32: 1333–1346.
- Rodriguez, I. 2004: Pheromone receptors in mammals. Hormones and Behavior 46: 219-230.
- Rodriguez, I.; Boehm, U. 2009: Pheromone sensing in mice. Chemosensory systems in mammals, fishes, and insects. Results and Problems in Cell Differentiation 47: 139–185.
- Roesch, H. 2003: Olfactory environmental enrichment of felids and the potential uses of conspecific odours. Unpublished MSc thesis, Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand. 199 p.
- Ruff, J.S.; Nelson, A.C.; Kubinak, J.L.; Potts, W.K. 2012: MHC signalling during social communication. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology* 738: 290–313.

- Russell, J.C.; Innes, J.G.; Brown, P.H.; Byrom, A.E. 2015: Predator-free New Zealand: conservation country. *Bioscience* 65: 520–525.
- Russell, J.C.; Townsend, D.R.; Clout, M.N. 2008: Review of rat invasion biology. *Science for Conservation 286*. Department of Conservation, Wellington, New Zealand. 53 p.
- Rutherfurd, K.J.; Rutherfurd, S.M.; Mougham, P.J.; Hendriks, W.H. 2002: Isolation and characterization of a felinine-containing peptide from the blood of the domestic cat (*Felis catus*). The Journal of Biological Chemistry 277: 114–119.
- Rutherfurd, S.M.; Zhang, F.; Harding, D.R.K.; Woolhouse, A.D.; Hendriks, W.H. 2004: Use of capillary (zone) electrophoresis for determining felinine and its application to investigate the stability of felinine. *Amino Acids* 27: 49–55.
- Sachs, B.D. 1997: Erection evoked in male rats by airborne scent from estrous females. Physiology & Behavior 62: 921–924.
- Salamon, M. 1994: Seasonal, sexual and dietary induced variation in the sternal scent secretion in the brushtail possum (*Trichosurus vulpecula*). *Advances in Biosciences* 93: 211–222.
- Salamon, M.; Davies, N.W.; Stoddart, D.M. 1999: Olfactory communication in Australian marsupials with particular reference to brushtail possum, koala, and eastern grey kangaroo. Pp. 85–98 in Johnston, R.E.; Müller-Schwarze, D.; Sorensen, P.W. (Eds): Advances in chemical signals. Plenum Press, New York, USA.
- Sam, M.; Vora, S.; Malnic, B.; Ma, W.; Novotny, M.; Buck, L.B. 2001: Odorants may arouse instinctive behaviours. *Nature* 412: 142.
- Saraiva, L.R.; Ibarra-Soria, X.; Khan, M.; Omura, M.; Scialdone, A.; Mombaerts, P.; Marioni, J.C.; Logan, D.W. 2015: Hierarchical deconstruction of mouse olfactory sensory neurons: from whole mucosa to single-cell RNA-seq. *Scientific Reports* 5: 18178. doi: 10:1038/srep18178.
- Saraiva, L.R.; Kondoh, K.; Ye, X.; Yoon, K.; Hernandez, M.; Buck, L.B. 2016: Combinatorial effects of odorants on mouse behaviour. *PNAS 113*: E3300–E3306.
- Schaefer, M.L.; Wong, K.; Holmboe, M.E.; Heinrich, N.M.; Dixon, S.J.; Zeskind, J.E.; Kulaga, H.M.; Brereton, R.G.; Reed, R.R.; Trevejo, J.M. 2010: Mouse urine biomarkers provide signatures of maturation, diet, stress levels, and diurnal rhythm. *Chemical Signals* 35: 459–471.
- Schaefer, M.L; Young, D.A.; Restrepo, D. 2001: Olfactory fingerprints for major histocompatibility complex-determined body odors. *The Journal of Neuroscience 21*: 2481–2487.
- Schildknecht, H.; Wilz, I.; Enzmann, F.; Grund, N.; Ziegler, M. 1976: Über das mustelan, den Analrüsenestinkstoff des nerves (*Mustela vison*) und Iltisses (*Mustela putorius*). *Angewandte Chemie 88*: 228.
- Schwende, F.J.; Wiesler, D.; Jorgenson, J.W.; Carmac, M.; Novotny, M. 1986: Urinary volatile constituents of the house mouse, *Mus musculus*, and their endocrine dependency. *Journal of Chemical Ecology 12*: 277–296.
- Scott, J.W.; Scott-Johnson, P.E. 2002: The electroolfactogram: a review of its history and uses. *Microscopy Research Technique* 58: 152–160.
- Selvaraj, R.; Archunan, G. 2002a: Chemical identification and bioactivity of rat (*Rattus rattus*) urinary compounds. *Zoological Studies 41*: 127–135.
- Selvaraj, R.; Archunan, G. 2002b: Role of male scent glands in improving poison bait acceptance in female rats, *Rattus norvegicus*. *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology* 40: 53–57.
- Selvaraj, R.; Archunan, G. 2006: Efficacy of male scent glands and urine in masking poison bait odour in female house rats, *Rattus rattus*. *Journal of Pest Science* 79: 255–258.
- Setzer, W.N. 2008: A computational investigation of sulfur-containing heterocyclic components from the anal sac secretions of *Mustela* species. *Journal of Molecular Modeling* 14: 967–973.
- Shahan, K.; Denaro, M.; Gilmartin, M.; Shi, Y.; Derman, E. 1987: Expression of six mouse major urinary protein genes in the mammary, parotid, sublingual, submaxillary, and lachrymal glands and in the liver. *Molecular Cell Biology* 7: 1947–1954.
- Shapira, I. 2014: Using social attraction to enhance trappability of invasive Norway rats (*Rattus norvegicus*). DOC Research and Development Series 342. Department of Conservation Wellington, New Zealand. 13 p.
- Shapira, I.; Brunton, D.; Shanas, U.; Raubenheimer, D. 2013a: Conspecific attraction in invasive wild house mice: effects of strain, sex and diet. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 147: 186–193.
- Shapira, I.; Shanas, U.; Raubenheimer, D.; Brunton, D.H. 2013b: Laboratory rats as trap lures for invasive Norway rats: field trial and recommendations. New Zealand Journal of Ecology 37: 240–245.

- Shapira, I.; Shanas, U.; Raubenheimer, D.; Knapp, C.; Alberts, S.; Brunton, D.H. 2013c: Laboratory rats as conspecific biocontrol agents for invasive Norway rats *R. norvegicus. Biological Control 66*: 83–91.
- Sharpe, F.R.; Laws, D.R.J. 1981: The essential oil of hops a review. Journal of the Institute of Brewing 87: 96-107.
- Sharrow, S.D.; Vaughn, J.L.; Žídek, L.; Novotny, M.V.; Stone, M.J. 2002: Pheromone binding by polymorphic mouse major urinary proteins. *Protein Science* 11: 2247–2256.
- Sherborne, A.L.; Jury, F.; Ollier, W.E.R.; Stockley, P.; Beynon, R.J.; Hurst, J.L. 2007: The genetic basis of inbreeding avoidance in house mice. *Current Biology 17*: 2061–2066.
- Short, J.; Turner, B.; Risby, D. 2002: Control of feral cats for nature conservation. III. Trapping. Wildlife Research 29: 475–487.
- Shumake, S.A.; Hakim, A.A. 2000: Evaluating Norway rat response to attractant and repellent odors to improve rodenticide baiting effectiveness. Pp. 103–110 in Brittingham, M.C.; Kays, J.; McPeake R. (Eds): Proceedings of the Ninth Wildlife Damage Management Conference. State College, Pennsylvania, USA.
- Shumake, S.A.; Hakim, A.A.; Gaddis, S.E. 2002: Carbon disulphide effects on pre-baited vs. non-pre-baited rats exposed to low dosage zinc phosphide rodenticide bait. *Crop Protection 21*: 545–550.
- Sipos, M.L.; Kerchner, M.; Nyby, J.G. 1992: An ephemeral sex pheromone in the urine of female house mice (*Mus domesticus*). *Behavioral and Neural Biology* 58: 138–143.
- Smith, W.; Butler, A.J.L.; Hazell, L.A.; Chapman, M.D.; Pomés, A.; Nickels, D.G.; Thomas, W.R. 2004: Fel d 4, a cat lipocalin allergen. *Clinical & Experimental Allergy* 34: 1732–1738.
- Smith, W.; O'Neill, S.E.; Hales, B.J.; Chai, L.Y.; Hazell, L.A.; Tanyaratsrisakul, S.; Piboonpocanum, S.; Thomas, W.R. 2011: Two newly identified cat allergens: the von Ebner gland protein Fel d 7 and the Latherin-loke protein Fel d 8. International Archives of Allergy and Immunology 156: 159–170.
- Soini, H.A.; Linville, S.U.; Wiesler, D.; Posto, A.L.; Williams, D.R.; Novotny, M.V. 2012: Investigation of scents on cheeks and foreheads of large felines in connection to the facial marking behavior. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 38: 145–156.
- Soso, S.B.; Koziel, J.A.; Johnson, A.; Lee, Y.J.; Fairbanks, W.S. 2014: Analytical methods for chemical and sensory characterization of scent-markings in large wild mammals: a review. *Sensors* 14: 4428–4465.
- Spehr, M.; Kelliher, K.R.; Li, X-H.; Boehm, T.; Leinders-Zufall, F. 2006: Essential role of the main olfactory system in social recognition of major histocompatibility complex peptide ligands. *The Journal of Neuroscience 26*: 1961–1970.
- Spurr, E.B.; Ragg, J.R.; O'Connor, C.E.; Hamilton, W.J.; Moller, H.; Woodhouse, A.D.; Morse, C.W.; Morriss, G.A.; Arnold, G.C.; Clapperton, B.K. 2004: Effect of concentration of anal gland scent lures on the capture rate of ferrets (*Mustela furo*) in winter and spring. *New Zealand Journal of Zoology 31*: 227–232.
- $Stensmyr, M.; Maderspacher, F. 2013: Olfactory\ evolution:\ mice\ rethink\ stink.\ \textit{Current\ Biology\ 23}: R59-R61.$
- Stephens, D.J.; Allan, V.J. 2003: Light microscopy techniques for live cell imaging. Science 300: 82–86.
- Stopka, P.; Janotova, K.; Heyrovsky, D. 2007: The advertisement role of major urinary proteins in mice. *Physiology & Behavior 91*: 667–670.
- Stopková, R.; Stopka, P.; Janotová, K.; Jedelský, P.L. 2007: Species-specific expression of major urinary proteins in the house mouse (Mus musculus musculus and Mus musculus domesticus). Journal of Chemical Ecology 33: 861–869.
- Stowers, L.; Kuo, T-H. 2015: Mammalian pheromones: emerging properties and mechanisms of detection. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 34: 103–109.
- Stowers, L.; Liberles, S.D. 2016: State-dependent responses to sex pheromones in mouse. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology 38*: 74–79.
- Sturm, T.; Leinders-Zufall, T.; Maček, B.; Walzer, M.; Jung, S.; Pömmerl, B.; Stevanović, S.; Zufall, F.; Overath, P.; Rammensee, H-G. 2013: Mouse urinary peptides provide a molecular basis for genotype discrimination by nasal sensory neurons. *Nature Communications 4*: 1616.
- Suckling, D.M.; Daly, J.M.; Chen, X.; Karg, G. 2007: Field electroantennogram and trap assessments of aerosol pheromone dispensers for disrupting mating in *Epiphyas postvittana*. *Pest Management Science* 63: 202–209.
- Swaney, T.; Keverne, E.B. 2009: The evolution of pheromonal communication. Behavioural Brain Research 200: 239-247.
- Takács, S.; Gries, R.; Zhai, H; Gries, G. 2016: The sex attractant pheromone of male brown rats: identification and field experiment. *Angewandte Chemie* 55: 6062–6066.
- Takami, S. 2002: Recent progress in the neurobiology of the vomeronasal organ. *Microscopy Research Technique 58*: 228–250.

- Tashiro, T.; Osada, K.; Mori, K. 2008: Syntheses of 2-isopropyl-4,5-dihyrdothiazole and 6-hydro-6-methyl-3-heptanone, pheromone components of the male mouse, *Mus musculus. Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry 72*: 2398–2402.
- Taylor, R.D.; Jewsbury, P.J.; Essex, J.W. 2002: A review of protein-small molecule docking methods. *Journal of Computer-Aided Molecular Design* 16: 151–166.
- Thom, M.D.; Hurst, J.L. 2004: Individual recognition by scent. Annales Zoologici Fennici 41: 765-787.
- Thom, M.D.; Stockley, P.; Beynon, R.J.; Hurst, J.L. 2008: Scent, mate choice and genetic heterozygosity. *Chemical Signals 11*: 291–301.
- Thomas, K.J.; Dominic, C.J. 1987: Evaluation of the role of the stud male in preventing male-induced implantation failure (the Bruce effect) in laboratory mice. *Animal Behaviour 35*: 1257–1259.
- Thompson, R.N.; Taha, M.; Napier, A.; Wekesa, K.S. 2013: The induction of pregnancy block in mice by bodily fluids via the vomeronasal organ. *Biochemistry & Physiology 2*: 109. doi:10.4172/2168-9652.1000109.
- Timm, D.E.; Baker, L.J.; Mueller, H.; Zidek, L.; Novotny, M.V. 2001: Structural basis of pheromone binding to mouse major urinary protein (MUP-I). *Protein Science* 10: 997–1004.
- Tirindelli, R.; Dibattista, M.; Pifferi, S.; Menini, A. 2009: From pheromones to behaviour. Physiological Reviews 89: 921-956.
- Tirindelli, R.; Mucignat-Caretta, C.; Ryba, N.J.P. 1998: Trends in Neurosciences 21: 482-486.
- Toftegaard, C.L.; Bradley, A.J. 2003: Chemical communication in dasyurid marsupials. Pp. 347–357 in Jones, M.;
 Dickman, C.; Archer, M. (Eds): Predators with pouches: the biology of carnivorous marsupials. CSIRO Publishing,
 Collingwood, Australia.
- Toftegaard, C.L.; McMahon, K.L.; Galloway, G.J.; Bradley, A.J. 2002: Processing of urinary pheromones in *Antechinus stuartii* (Marsupialia: Dasyuridae): functional magnetic resonance imaging of the brain. *Journal of Mammalogy* 83: 71–80.
- Toftegaard, C.L.; Moore, C.; Bradley, A.J. 1999: Chemical characterization of urinary pheromones in brown antechinus, Antechinus stuartii. Journal of Chemical Ecology 25: 527–535.
- Touhara, K. 2008: Sexual communication via peptide and protein pheromones. Current Opinion in Pharmacology 8: 759–764.
- Trimmer, C.; Snyder, L.L.; Mainland, J.D. 2014: High-throughput analysis of mammalian olfactory receptors: measurement of receptor activation via luciferase activity. *Journal of Visualized Experiments 88*: e51640. doi:10.3791/51640.
- Tuccori, E. 2014: Development of biosensors based on Odorant Binding Proteins. Unpublished PhD Thesis, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK. 196 p.
- van der Hurk, R. 2011: Intraspecific chemical communication in vertebrates with special attention to sex pheromones.

 Pheromone Information Centre, Zeist, The Netherlands. 191 p.
- Veer, V.; Gopalan, N.; Kumar, S.; Prakash, S. 2002: Bioassay of three sulphur containing compounds as rat attractant admixed in cereal-based bait against *Rattus rattus* Linn. *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology* 40: 941–944.
- Veltman, C.J.; Cook, C.J.; Drake, K.A.; Devine, C.D. 2002: Potential of delta-decanolactone and (Z)-7-dodecen-1-yl acetate to attract feral goats (*Capra hircus*). Wildlife Research 28: 589–597.
- Vettorazzi, A.; Wait, R.; Nagy, J.; Monreal, J.I.; Mantle, P. 2013: Changes in male rat urinary protein profile during puberty: a pilot study. BMC Research Notes 6: 232.
- Volfová, R.; Stejskal, V.; Aulický, R.; Frynta, D. 2010: Presence of conspecific odours enhances responses of commensal house mice (*Mus musculus*) to bait stations. *International Journal of Pest Management* 57: 35–40.
- Walker, L.V.; Croft, D.B. 1990: Odour preferences and discrimination in captive ringtail possums (*Pseudocheirus peregrinus*). *International Journal of Comparative Psychology 3*: 215–234.
- Wang, Z.; Balet Sindreu, C.; Li, V.; Nudelman, A.; Chan, G.C-K.; Storm, D.R. 2006: Pheromone detection in male mice depends on signalling through the type 3 adenylyl cyclase in the main olfactory epithelium. *The Journal of Neuroscience 26*: 7375–7379.
- Wasilewski, T.; Gębicki, J.; Kamysz, W. 2017: Bioelectronic nose: current status and perspectives. *Biosensors and bioelectronics* 87: 480–494.
- Wetzel, C.H.; Wellerdiek, O.M.; Kuczkowiak, M.; Gisselmann, G.; Hatt, H. 1999: Specificity and sensitivity of a human olfactory receptor functionally expressed in human embryonic kidney 293 cells and *Xenopus laevis oocytes*. The *Journal of Neuroscience* 19: 7426–7433.

- Wheeler, M.E. 1978: Olfactory communication in ferrets and mink. Unpublished MSc Thesis, Humboldt State University, California, USA. 62 p.
- Wildhaber, C.A. 1984: Chin rubbing behaviour in ferrets (*Mustela putorius furo*). BSc Hons. Thesis, Massey University, Palmerston North. 47 p.
- Williams, M.; Johnston, J.M. 2002: Training and maintaining the performance of dogs (*Canis familiaris*) on an increasing number of odor discriminations in a controlled setting. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 78: 55–65.
- Willse, A.; Belcher, A.M.; Preti, G.; Wahi, J.H.; Thresher, M.; Yang, P.; Yamazaki, K.; Beauchamp, G.K. 2005: Identification of major histocompatibility complex-regulated body odorants by statistical analysis of a comparative gas chromatography/mass spectrometry experiment. *Analytical Chemistry* 77: 2348–2361.
- Willse, A.; Kwak, J.; Yamazaki, K.; Preti, G.; Wahl, J.; Beauchamp, G.K. 2006: Individual odortypes: interaction of MHC and background genes. *Immunogenetics* 58: 967–982.
- Wilson, D.A.; Stevenson, R.J. 2003: The fundamental role of memory in olfactory perception. *Trends in Neurosciences 26*: 243–247.
- Witmer, G.; Burke, P.; Jojola, S. 2008: An evaluation of the effectiveness of potential Norway rat attractants. Pp. 35–38 in Timm, R.M.; Madon, M.B. (Eds): Proceedings of the 23rd Vertebrate Pest Conference. University of California, Davis, California, USA.
- Woodley, S.K.; Baum, M.J. 2003: Effects of sex hormones and gender on attraction thresholds for volatile anal scent gland odors in ferrets. *Hormones and Behavior* 44: 110–118.
- Woodley, S.K.; Baum, M.J. 2004: Differential activation of glomeruli in the ferret's main olfactory bulb by anal scent gland odours from males and females: an early step in mate identification. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 20: 1025–1032.
- Woodley, S.K.; Cloe, A.L.; Waters, P.; Baum, M.J. 2004: Effects of vomeronasal organ removal on olfactory sex discrimination and odor preferences of female ferrets. *Chemical Senses 29*: 659–669.
- Wyatt, T.D. 2003: Pheromones and animal behaviour: communication by smell and taste. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. 408 p.
- Wyatt, T.D. 2010: Pheromones and signature mixtures: defining species-wide signals and variable cues for identity in both invertebrates and vertebrates. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A 196*: 685–700.
- Wyatt, T.D. 2014a: Introduction to chemical signalling in vertebrates and invertebrates. Pp. 1–22 in Mucignat-Caretta, C. (Ed.): Neurobiology of chemical communication. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, USA.
- Wyatt, T.D. 2014b: Proteins and peptides as pheromone signals. Animal Behaviour 97: 273-280.
- Xu, F.; Schaffer, M.; Kida, I.; Schaffer, J.; Lin, N.; Rothman, D.L.; Hyder, F.; Strpo, D.; Shepherd, G.M. 2005: Simultaneous activation of mouse main and accessory olfactory bulbs by odors or pheromones. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology* 489: 491–500.
- Yamaguchi, M.; Yamazaki, K.; Beauchamp, G.K.; Bard, J.; Thomas, L.; Boyse, E.A. 1981: Distinctive urinary odors governed by the major histocompatibility locus of the mouse. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 78: 5817–5820.
- Yamaguchi, T.; Inamura, K.; Kashiwayanagi, M. 2000: Increases in Fos-immunoreactivity after exposure to a combination of two male urinary components in the accessory olfactory bulb of the female rat. *Brain Research* 876: 211–214.
- Yamazaki, K.; Beauchamp, G.K.; Curran, M.; Bard, J.; Boyse, E.A. 2000: Parent-progeny recognition as a function of MHC odortype identity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 97*: 10500–10502.
- Yoon, K-H.; Ragoczy, T.; Lu, Z.; Kondoh, K.; Kuang, D.; Groudine, M.; Buck. L.B. 2015: Olfactory receptor genes expressed in distinct lineages are sequestered in different nuclear compartments. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 112*: E2403–E2409.
- Yoshinaga, S.; Sato, T.; Hirakane, M.; Esaki, K.; Hamaguchi, T.; Haga-Yamanaki, S.; Tsunoda, M.; Kimoto, H.; Shimada, I.; Touhara, K.; Terasawa, H. 2013: Structure of the mouse sex peptide pheromone ESP1 reveals a molecular basis for specific binding to the Class C G-protein-coupled vomeronasal receptor. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry 288*: 16064–16072.
- Yu, C.R. 2013: Calcium imaging of vomeronasal organ response using slice preparations from transgenic mice expressing G-CaMP2. *Methods in Molecular Biology* 1068: 211–220.
- Yuriev, E.; Ramsland, P.A. 2013: Latest developments in molecular docking: 2010–2011. *Journal of Molecular Recognition 26*: 215–239.

- Yuwono, A.; Schulze Lammers, P. 2004: Odor pollution in the environment and the detection instrumentation. Invited overview paper. Agricultural Engineering International: the CIGR Journal of Scientific Research and Development VI. 33 p.
- Zabaras, R.; Richardson, B.J.; Wylie, S.G. 2006: Evolution in the suite of semiochemicals secreted by the sternal gland of Australian marsupials. *Australian Journal of Zoology* 53: 257–263.
- Zala, S.M.; Potts, W.K.; Penn, D.J. 2004: Scent-marking displays provide honest signals of health and infection. *Behavioral Ecology* 15: 338–344.
- Zalaquett, C.; Thiessen, D. 1991: The effects of odors from stressed mice on conspecific behaviour. *Physiology & Behavior* 50: 221–227.
- Zhang, J-X.; Liu, Y-J.; Zhang, J-H.; Sun, L. 2008a: Dual role of preputial gland secretion and its major components in sex recognition of mice. *Physiology & Behavior 95*: 388–394.
- Zhang, J-X.; Lixing, S.; Zhang, J-H.; Feng, Z-Y. 2008b: Sex- and gonad-affecting scent compounds and 3 male pheromones in the rat. *Chemical Senses* 33: 611–621.
- Zhang, J-X.; Rao, X-P.; Sun, L.; Zhao, C-H.; Qin, X-W. 2007: Putative chemical signals about sex, individuality, and genetic background in the preputial gland and urine of the house mouse (*Mus musculus*). Chemical Senses 32: 293–303.
- Zhang, J-X.; Ren, X-J.; Sun, L.; Zhang, Z-B. 2003: Possible coding for recognition of sexes, individuals and species in anal gland volatiles of *Mustela eversmanni* and *M. sibirica. Chemical Senses 28*: 381–388.
- Zhang, J-X.; Soini, H.A.; Bruce, K.E.; Wiesler, D.; Woodley, S.K.; Baum, M.J.; Novotny, M.V. 2005: Putative chemosignals of the ferret (*Mustela furo*) associated with individual and gender recognition. *Chemical Senses* 30: 727–737.
- Zhang, J-X.; Sun, L.; Zhang, Z.B.; Wang, Z.W.; Chen, Y.; Wang, R. 2002: Volatile compounds in anal gland of Siberian weasels (*Mustela sibirica*) and steppe polecats (*M. eversmanni*). *Journal of Chemical Ecology 28*: 1287–1297.
- Zhang, Y-H.; Liang, H-C.; Guo, H-L.; Zhang, J-X. 2016: Exaggerated male pheromones in rats may increase predation cost. *Current Zoology 62*: 431–437.
- Zhang, Y-H.; Zhang, J-X. 2011: Urine-derived key volatiles may signal genetic relatedness in male rats. *Chemical Senses 36*: 125–135.
- Zufall, F.; Leinders-Zufall, T. 2007: Mammalian pheromone sensing. Current Opinions in Neurobiology 17: 483.
- Zuri, I.; Dombrowski, K.; Halpern, M. 2005: Skin and gland but not urine elicit conspicuous investigation by female grey short-tailed opossums, *Monodelphis domestica*. *Animal Behaviour 69*: 635–642.
- Zuri, I.; Halpern, M. 2005: Modification of odor investigation and discrimination in female opossums (*Monodelpis domestica*) following the ablation of the accessory olfactory bulbs. *Behavioral Neuroscience* 119: 612–621.
- Zuri, I.; Nguyen, D.; Daniels, Y.; Halpern, M. 2007: Skin, gland, and urine odors elicit intense investigation by male gray short-tailed opossums, *Monodelphis domestica*. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 85: 450–457.
- Zuri, I.; Su, W.; Halpern, M. 2003: Conspecific odor investigation by gray short-tailed opossums (*Monodelphis domestica*). *Physiology & Behavior 80*: 225–232.

Appendix 1

Rodent pheromones

Summary of the known or potential mouse and rat pheromones with relevant post-2000 references

A. Mice

PHEROMONE	SEX	SOURCE	FUNCTION	REFERENCES
Acrylanilide	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Auzulene	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
3-Amino-s-triazole	М	Urine	Female attractant, male aggression	Achiraman & Archunan 2002a
Benzaldehyde	М	Urine, body		Röck et al. 2006
Benzylmethylketone	М	Urine		Röck et al. 2006
Butanoic acid	М	Body		Röck et al. 2006
(S)-2-(sec-Butyl)-4,5- dihydrothiazole (SBT)	M/F	Urine	Oestrus synchronisation, puberty acceleration, sex attractant male age, male aggression, alarm, scent age	Leinders-Zufall et al. 2000; Cavaggioni et al. 2003; Novotny 2003, 2007; Hurst & Beynon 2004; Willse et al. 2005; Cavaggioni et al. 2006; Röck et al. 2006; Novotny et al. 2007; Brechbühl et al. 2013; Musso 2016; Musso et al. 2017
2-Butyl-1-octanol	M/F	Urine	Scent age; indicator of oestrus	Achiraman & Archunan 2006; Cavaggioni et al. 2006
Caryophyllene	F	Urine	Indicate oestrus	Achiraman & Archunan 2006
1-Chloro hexadecane	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Cinnamoyl chloride	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Copanene	F	Urine	Indicate oestrus	Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Corticosterone-21-sulphate	F	Urine	Physiological state	Nodari et al. 2008
3-Cyclohexene-1-methanol	М	Urine	Male attractant	Achiraman & Archunan 2002a, 2005
1-H-Cyclopop-e.auzulene	F	Urine	Indicate oestrus	Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Darcin	М	Urine	Female attractant	Phelan et al. 2010; Roberts et al. 2010, 2014; Lanuza et al. 2014; Martín-Sánchez et al. 2015
Decanal	М	Urine, body	Conspecific recognition	Röck et al. 2006
Decanoic acid	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
o-Decyl hydroxyl amine	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
2,3-Dehydro-exo-brevicomin (DHB)	M/F	Urine, body	Oestrus synchronisation, puberty acceleration	Leinders-Zufall et al. 2000; Novotny 2003, 2007; Hurst & Beynon 2004; Cavaggioni et al. 2006; Röck et al. 2006
3,4-Dehydro-exo-brevicomin* (DEB)	М	Urine	Male age	Musso 2016; Musso et al. 2017
Dihydrofurans	М	Urine		Novotny et al. 2007
2,3-Dimethyl heptane	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
4,5-Dimethyl nonane	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
2,4-Dimethyl-phenol	М	Urine	Scent age	Cavaggioni et al. 2006
2,5-Dimethylpyrazine	F	Urine	Puberty delay, male aggression, sex attractant, shortening of oestrous cycle (Lee-Boot effect), reduced testis weight, high offspring mortality	Novotny 2003; Leinders-Zufall et al. 2000; Koyama 2004, 2016; Willse et al. 2005; Röck et al. 2006; Thompson et al. 2013
Dimethyl disulphide	М	Body, urine		Lin et al. 2005; Röck et al. 2006
6,10-dimethyl-5,9-undecaden- 2-one	М	Urine	Scent age	Cavaggioni et al. 2006
3,7-Dimethyl undecane	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Dodecane	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Eicosane	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
3-Ethyl-2,7-dimethyl octane	М	Urine	Female attractant, male aggression, releaser	Achiraman & Archunan 2002a, 2005

PHEROMONE	SEX	SOURCE	FUNCTION	REFERENCES
1-Ethyloxy octadecane	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
4-Ethylphenol	М	Urine	Female attractant, male aggression, scent age	Achiraman & Archunan 2002a; Cavaggioni et al 2006; Röck et al. 2006
EE-α- and E-β-farnesenes [†]	М	Preputial, body	Puberty delay, oestrus induction, sex attractant, male aggression	Leinders-Zufall et al. 2000; Novotny 2003; Röck et al. 2006
Exocrine-gland secreting peptides (ESPs)	М	Lachrymal, submaxillary	Induce lordosis, individual identity	Luo et al. 2003; Hurst 2009; Haga et al. 2010; Ferrero et al. 2013; Yoshinaga et al. 2013; Abe & Touhara 2014; Cavalier et al. 2014
Heptadecane	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Heptanal	М	Body, urine		Röck et al. 2006
2-Heptanone (Heptan-2-one)	M/F	Urine	Oestrus extension	Leinders-Zufall et al. 2000; Novotny 2003, 2007 Xu et al. 2005; Röck et al. 2006
3-Hepten-2-one	М	Urine		Röck et al. 2006; Novotny et al. 2007
4-Hepten-2-one	F	Urine	Puberty delay	Koyama 2004
5-Hepten-2-one	М	Urine	Genetic strain, Puberty delay	Koyama 2004; Novotny 2007
Hexadecane	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Hexadecanol	М	Preputial	Female (and male) attractant	Zhang et al. 2007, 2008a
1-Hexadecanol acetate	М	Preputial	Female attractant	Zhang et al. 2007
Hexadecyl acetate		Preputial	Female (and male) attractant	Zhang et al. 2008a
Hexanal	М	Urine, body		Röck et al. 2006
Hexanoic acid	М	Body		Röck et al. 2006
1-Hexanol	М	Body		Röck et al. 2006
3-Hydroxy-2-butanone	М	Urine, body		Röck et al. 2006
6-Hydroxy-6-methyl-3-heptanone	М	Urine, body	Puberty acceleration	Leinders-Zufall et al. 2000; Novotny 2003; Röck et al. 2006
Indole	М	Body, urine	Scent age	Cavaggioni et al. 2006; Röck et al. 2006
1-lodo-2-methylundecane (1I2MU)	F	Urine	Male attractant, induction of licking and grooming, indicate oestrus	Achiraman & Archunan 2002a, 2006; Achiraman et al. 2010a
Isoamylamine	М	Urine	Puberty acceleration	Archunan & Achiraman 2006
Isobutylamine	М	Urine	Puberty acceleration; vomeronasal agonist	Archunan & Achiraman 2006; Rodriguez & Boehm 2009
Isocroctyl hydrazine	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Iso octanol	F	Urine	Indicate oestrus	Achiraman & Archunan 2006
2-Isopropyl-4,5-dihydrothiazole	М	Urine	Male age	Osada et al. 2008
Linalool	М	Urine	Scent age	Cavaggioni et al. 2006
1-Methoxy-2-propanol	М	Urine, body		Röck et al. 2006
3-Methyl-2-butanone	М	Urine		Röck et al. 2006
2-Methyl-butanoic acid	М	Urine, body		Röck et al. 2006
3-Methyl-butanoic acid	М	Urine, body		Röck et al. 2006
2-Methyl-3-buten-2-ol	М	Urine		Röck et al. 2006
3-Methyl-2-buten-1-ol	М	Urine		Röck et al. 2006
3-Methyl-3-buten-1-ol	М	Urine, body		Röck et al. 2006
3-Methyl-cyclopentanone	М	Urine		Röck et al. 2006
4-Nethyl-2-heptanone	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
6-Methyl-5-hepten-2-one	М	Urine, body		Röck et al. 2006; Novotny et al. 2007
4-Methyl-phenol	M/F	Urine, body		Achiraman & Archunan 2006; Röck et al. 2006
N-Methyl-3-piperidine carboamide	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Methylbutyric acid	М	Urine	Age	Osada et al. 2003; Nielsen et al. 2011
4-Methyl-2-propyl-1-heptanol	F	Urine	-	Achiraman & Archunan 2006
(Methylthio)methanethiol	М	Urine	Female attractant	Lin et al. 2005
6-Methyl octadecane	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
o-Nitrobenzaldehyde	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006

Continued on next page

PHEROMONE	SEX	SOURCE	FUNCTION	REFERENCES
Nitromethane	М	Body		Röck et al. 2006
Nonadecanol	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Nonanal	M/F	Urine, body		Achiraman & Archunan 2006; Röck et al. 2006
Octacosane	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Octadecane	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Octanal	М	Urine, body		Röck et al. 2006
1-Octene	М	Body		Röck et al. 2006
Pentadecane	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Pentanal	М	Urine, body		Röck et al. 2006
Pentanol	М	Body		Röck et al. 2006
2-Pentanone	М	Urine, body		Röck et al. 2006
3-Penten-2-one	М	Urine		Röck et al. 2006
cis-2-Penten-1-yl-acetate	F	Urine	Puberty delay	Dulac & Torello 2003; Koyama 2004
n-Pentyl acetate	F	Urine	Suppression of oestrous cycle, puberty delay	Dulac & Torello 2003
Phenol	М	Urine, body		Röck et al. 2006
2-Phenylacetamide	М	Urine	Age	Osada et al. 2003
4-pregnene-11β,21-diol-3,20- dione-21-sulphate	F	Urine	Physiological state	Nodari et al. 2008
4-Pregnene-11β,20,21-triol-3- one-21-sulphate	F	Urine	Physiological state	Nodari et al. 2008
Propanoic acid	М	Body		Röck et al. 2006
2-Propyl-1-heptanol	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Tetradecane	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Tridecane	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006
Trimethylamine	М	Urine, body	General attractant	Röck et al. 2006; Li et al. 2013; Stensmyr & Maderspacher 2013
Undecane	F	Urine		Achiraman & Archunan 2006

^{* (1}R,5S,7R)-Ethyl-5-methyl-6,8-dioxabicyclo[3.2.1]oct-3-ene.

B. Rats

PHEROMONE	SPECIES	SEX	SOURCE	FUNCTION	REFERENCES
4-Azidoheptane	Ship	M/F	Urine	Sex attractant	Selvaraj & Archunan 2002a
1,2-Benzenediacarboxylic acid butyl (2-ethylhexyl) ester	Norway	М	Cheek	General attractant	Kannan & Archunan 2001b
1,2-Benzene dicarboxylic acid butyl (2-methylpropyl) ester	Norway	M/F	Preputial, cheek	General attractant	Kannan & Archunan 2001b
1,2-Benzenedicarboxylic acid diisooctyl ester	Norway		Preputial	Same sex attractant	van der Hurk 2011
Beta-bisabolene	Ship	М	Preputial		Rajkumar et al. 2010a
Butanoic acid	Norway	F	Faeces	Male penile response	Nielsen et al. 2011
1-Chlorodecane	Ship	М	Urine	Sex attractant	Selvaraj & Archunan 2002a; Rajkumar et al. 2009, 2010a
m- or -p-Cresol	Ship		Body		Byrom et al. 2003
Cyclohexene	Ship	М	Preputial		Rajkumar et al. 2010a
3-Cyclohexene	Ship	М	Preputial		Rajkumar et al. 2010a
$2,\!6,\!10~\text{dedecatrien-1-ol},\!3,\!7,\!11\text{-trimethyl-}\\ (Z,\!E)$	Norway	F	Cheek	General attractant	Kannan & Archunan 2001b
6,11-Dihydro-dibenz-b,e-oxepin-11-one	Norway	F	Preputial	Sex attractant	Kannan & Archunan 2001a
Dimethyl sulphone	Norway	М	Urine	Female non-kin choice	Zhang & Zhang 2011

Continued on next page

^{† (}E,E)-3,7,11-Trimethyl-1,3,6,10-dodecatetraene and (E)-7,11-dimethyl-3-methylene-1,6,10-dodecatriene.

PHEROMONE	SPECIES	SEX	SOURCE	FUNCTION	REFERENCES
2,6,10-Dodecatrien-1-ol-3,7,11-trimethyl(Z)	Norway	M/F	Preputial	Sex attractant	Kannan & Archunan 2001a
Dodecyl propionate	Norway		Preputial	Ano-genital licking	Lévy et al. 2004
Ethanol,2-(octylthio)	Ship	М	Urine	Sex attractant	Selvaraj & Archunan 2002a
3-ethyl-2-heptanone	Norway	М	Urine, faeces	Sex attractant	Takács et al. 2016
4-Ethylphenol	Norway	M/F	Urine	Female attractant	Zhang et al. 2008b; Osada et a. 2009; Zhang & Zhang 2011
2 ethyl-5 methyl pyrazine	Ship		Body		Byrom et al. 2003
2-Ethyl pyrazine	Ship		Body		Byrom et al. 2003
EE-α- and E-β-farnesenes [†]	Norway	M/F	Preputial	Sex attractant, male dominance	Pohorecky et al. 2008; Zhang et al. 2008b
Farnesol 1, 2	Norway Ship		Preputial	Sex attractant	Ponmanickam et al. 2010; Rajkumar et al. 2010a; Archunan 2013
Geranyl linalool isomer	Norway		Preputial	Sex attractant	Ponmanickam et al. 2010
2-Heptanone (Heptan-2-one)	Norway	M/F	Urine	Sex attractant	Zhang et al. 2008b, 2016; Osada et al 2009; Zhang & Zhang 2011; Takács et al. 2016
4-Heptanone (Heptan-4-one)	Norway	М	Urine	Sex attractant	Zhang et al. 2008b, 2016; Zhang & Zhang 2011
Hexadecane	Ship	М	Urine		Rajkumar et al. 2009, 2010a
Hexadecatetraene	Ship	М	Preputial		Rajkumar et al. 2010a
Hexanal	Norway	М	Peri-anal	Stress induction	Inagaki et al. 2014; Kiyokawa 2015
Hydroperoxide	Ship	M/F	Urine	Sex attractant	Selvaraj & Archunan 2002a
Lanosterol	Norway	М	Preputial	Sex attractant	Ponmanickam et al. 2010
3-Methylbutyric acid	Norway	F	Faeces	Male penile response	Nielsen et al. 2011
6-Methyl-5-hepten-2-one	Norway	F	Faeces	Male penile response	Nielsen et al. 2013
2-Methyl-N-phenyl-2-propenamide	Ship	М	Urine		Rajkumar et al. 2009, 2010a
4-Methylphenol	Norway	М	Urine	Sex attractant	Osada et al. 2009
4-Methylpentanal	Norway	М	Peri-anal	Stress induction	Inagaki et al. 2014; Kiyokawa 2015
2-Methylpropanoic acid	Norway	F	Faeces	Male penile response	Nielsen et al. 2011
1-Nitropentane	Ship	F	Urine	Sex/general attractant	Selvaraj & Archunan 2002a
2-Nonanone	Norway	М	Urine, faeces	Sex attractant	Takács et al. 2016
4-Nonanone	Norway	М	Urine, faeces	Sex attractant	Takács et al. 2016
2-octanone	Norway	М	Urine, faeces	Sex attractant	Takács et al. 2016
di-n-Octyl phthalate	Norway	М	Preputial, cheek	Sex attractant	Kannan & Archunan 2001b
Oxirane	Norway		Preputial	Sex attractant	Ponmanickam et al. 2010
1-Pentene	Ship	М	Preputial		Rajkumar et al. 2010a
Pentanoic acid	Norway	F	Faeces	Male penile response	Nielsen et al. 2011
Phenol	Norway	М	Urine	Sex attractant	Zhang et al. 2008b
Propanoic acid	Norway	F	Faeces	Male penile response	Nielsen et al. 2011
Pyrazine	Ship		Body		Byrom et al. 2003
Squalene	Norway	М	Preputial/ clitoral/urine	Sex attractant	Zhang et al. 2008b; Achiraman et al. 2011a
1,3,5-Triazone-2,4-diamine	Ship	М	Urine	Same sex attractant	Selvaraj & Archunan 2002a
2,6,11-Trimethyl decane	Ship	М	Urine		Rajkumar et al. 2009, 2010a

Appendix 2

Cat pheromones

Summary of the known or potential domestic cat pheromones with relevant post-2000 references

PHEROMONE	SEX	SOURCE	FUNCTION	REFERENCES
2-Amino-7-hydroxy-5,5-dimethyl-4-thiaheptanoic acid (felinine)	M/F	Urine	Territorial marking, sex attractant	Hendriks et al. 2001; Rutherfurd et al. 2002, 2004; Miyazaki et al. 2008
Cauxin	M/F	Urine	Sniffing, licking lips	Miyazaki et al. 2006a,b, 2008
3-Methyl-3-methylthio-1-butanol		Urine	Recognition	Miyazaki et al. 2008
3-Mercapto-3-methyl-1-butanol		Urine	Recognition	Miyazaki et al. 2008; Apps et al. 2014
3-Mercapto-3-methylbutyl formate		Urine	Recognition	Miyazaki et al. 2008
3-Methyl-3-(2-methyl-disulphanyl)- 1-butanol		Urine	Recognition	Miyazaki et al. 2008
Feline facial pheromone (FFP) F3	M/F	Facial glands	Familiarisation & calming, territorial marking,	Kronen et al. 2006
Fel d 1, 3, 4, 7 & 8		Submandibular	Unknown	Ichikawa et al. 2001a,b; Smith et al. 2004, 2011
Valeric acid	F	Vagina of oestrous females	Restlessness in males, induction/ facilitation of oestrous in females	Van der Hurk 2011

Appendix 3

Mustelid pheromones

Summary of the known or potential ferret, stoat and weasel pheromones with relevant post-2000 references

No specific functions of individual components of mustelid odours have been determined.

PHEROMONE	SPECIES	SEX*	SOURCE	REFERENCE
Acetic acid	Ferret	M/F	Urine	Zhang et al. 2005
Acetophenone	Ferret	M/F	Anal/urine	Zhang et al. 2005
Benzaldehyde	Ferret	M/F	Anal/urine	Zhang et al. 2005
Benzothiazole	Ferret	M/F	Anal/urine	Zhang et al. 2005
Decanal	Ferret	M/F	Urine	Zhang et al. 2005
2-Decanone	Ferret	M/F	Urine	Zhang et al. 2005
3,3-Dimethyl-1,2-dithiolane	Ferret, weasel	M/F	Anal	Zhang et al. 2005
2,2-Dimethylthietane (Mustelane)	Ferret, stoat	M/F	Anal	Zhang et al. 2005
2,3-Dimethylthietane	Ferret, stoat, weasel	F	Anal	Zhang et al. 2005
2,4-Dimethylthietane	Ferret	M/F	Anal	Zhang et al. 2005
3,3-Dimethyl-1,2-dithiolane	Ferret	M/F	Anal	Zhang et al. 2005
3,4-Dimethyl-1,2-dithiolane	Ferret	F	Anal	Zhang et al. 2005
2,5-Dimethylpyrazine	Ferret	M/F	Urine	Zhang et al. 2005
Dimethoxyacetophenone	Ferret	M/F	Urine	Zhang et al. 2005
2,2-Dimethoxy-1-phenylethanone	Ferret		Urine	
3-Ethylcyclopentanone	Ferret	M/F	Urine	Zhang et al. 2005
3-Ethyl-1,2-dimethyl-1,2-dithiolane	Ferret, stoat	F	Anal	Zhang et al. 2005; van der Hurk 2011
2-Ethyl-3-methylthietane	Ferret	M/F	Anal	Zhang et al. 2005

Continued on next page

PHEROMONE	SPECIES	SEX*	SOURCE	REFERENCE
2-Ethylthietane	Ferret, Stoat	M/F F	Anal	Zhang et al. 2005 van der Hurk 2011
Geranyl acetone [‡]	Ferret		Anal/urine	Zhang et al. 2005
Heptanal	Ferret	M/F	Urine	Zhang et al. 2005
2-Heptanone (Heptan-2-one)	Ferret	M /F	Urine	Zhang et al. 2005
4-Heptanone (Heptan-4-one)	Ferret	M /F	Urine	Zhang et al. 2005
Hexanal	Ferret	M/F	Urine	Zhang et al. 2005
Indole§	Ferret, Stoat, Weasel	M/F	Anal	Zhang et al. 2005
2-Isopropylthietane	Ferret	M/F	Anal	Zhang et al. 2005
6-Methyl-5-hepten-2-one	Ferret	M/F	Anal/urine	Zhang et al. 2005
6-Methyl-6-hepten-2-one	Ferret	M/F	Urine	No relevant references
2-Methylquinoline	Ferret	M/F	Anal/urine	Zhang et al. 2005
4-Methylquinazoline	Ferret	M /F	Anal/urine	Zhang et al. 2005
Nonanal	Ferret	M/F	Anal/urine	Zhang et al. 2005
Octanal	Ferret	M/F	Urine	Zhang et al. 2005
2-Octanone	Ferret	M/F	Anal	Zhang et al. 2005
Ortho-aminoacetophenone	Ferret Stoat Weasel	M /F M	Anal/urine	Zhang et al. 2005 van der Hurk 2011 Zhang et al. 2003
2-Pentylthietane	Ferret, stoat	M/F	Anal	Zhang et al. 2005
2-Propylthietane	Ferret Stoat	M/F M/F	Anal	Zhang et al. 2005
3-Propyl-1,2-dithiolane	Ferret Stoat	M/F	Anal	Zhang et al. 2005
Quinoline	Ferret	M/F	Anal/urine	Zhang et al. 2005
IS (7-tridecanone)	Ferret	M/F	Urine	Zhang et al. 2005
1-Undecanol	Ferret	M/F	Urine	Zhang et al. 2005

Bold indicates the compound is at a significantly higher concentration in that sex (following Zhang et al. 2005).

(E)-6,10-Dimethyl-5,9-undecadien-2-one.

2,3-Benzopyrrole.